Agenda
For enquiries on this agenda, please contact:
Jean Cousens tel 020 8547 5023 email:
jean.cousens@kingston.gov.uk
Published on 8 March 2016

Adults and Children's Committee
Date:

Wednesday 16 March 2016

Time:

7:30 pm

Place:

Guildhall, Kingston upon Thames KT1 1EU

Members of the Committee
Councillor Eric Humphrey (Chair), Councillor Cathy Roberts (Vice Chair), Councillor
Sushila Abraham, Councillor Geoff Austin, Councillor Patricia Bamford, Councillor
Linsey Cottington, Councillor David Fraser, Councillor Chris Hayes, Councillor
Rebekah Moll, Councillor Maria Netley, Councillor Julie Pickering, Councillor
Margaret Thompson and Councillor Diane White
Advisory members:
 for health - Dr Naz Jivani and Dr Pete Smith
 for housing – Mr Ray Austin and Mr Harry Hall

Everyone is welcome to attend the meeting
This agenda is available to view on: www.kingston.gov.uk
You can also access this agenda through the Modern.gov app or by scanning the QR
code with your smartphone.
Free Wifi is available in the Council Chamber (which can be accessed with
the user name: rbk public and the password: freewifi)

2

Agenda
1.
Public Questions
A period of up to 30 minutes for public questions on matters relevant to the Committee’s
remit which are not related to items featuring on the agenda. Advance notice of questions
is preferred but not essential.
2.

Apologies for absence

3.

Declarations of interest

4.

Petitions

5.

Minutes

To agree as a correct record the Minutes of the last meeting held on 10 February 2016.
6.

Modernisation of RBK Youth Facilities

Appendix A

To agree the proposed modernisation of the Youth Service provision which will increase
access to a broader range of high quality youth activities for local young people, engage
more young people in youth programmes and create a more effective and efficient
service.
7.

Special Educational Needs and Disability Home to School
Transport Policy

Appendix B

To set out the updates to the policy and eligibility criteria for home to school transport
assistance for pupils with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) in Kingston
upon Thames in response to new statutory guidance issued in July 2014 and the SEND
reforms introduced under the Children and Families Act 2014.
8.

Prevention of Suicide Strategy

Appendix C

To approve the Multi-Agency Prevention of Suicide Strategy 2016 - 2021 which has been
developed to minimise suicides in the borough.
9.

Strengthening the Council's Housing Governance
Arrangements

Appendix D

To consider and agree changes to the Council's decision making arrangements in relation
to housing matters

3
10.

Parking Enforcement on Housing Revenue Account Land

Appendix E

To agree a process for implementing appropriate enforcement of parking controls on HRA
land.
11.

Revised Air Quality Action Plan

Appendix F

To agree the revised Air Quality Action Plan
12.

Urgent Items authorised by the Chair

To consider any items which, in the view of the Chair, should be dealt with as a matter of
urgency because of special circumstances in accordance with S100B(4) of the Local
Government Act 1972.

13.

Exclusion of the Public and Press

The following resolution is included if any exempt matter is to be considered at the meeting
for which the Committee wish to resolve to exclude the press and public:
To exclude the public from the meeting under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government
Act 1972 on the grounds that it is likely that exempt information, as defined in paragraph
*….of Part I of Schedule 12A to the Act, would be disclosed and the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.
(*relevant regulatory paragraph to be indicated)

4

Welcome to this meeting.
The following information explains the way some things are done at the meeting and some of the
procedures.
Information about the Committee
The Committee is made up of your local elected Councillors. As one of five strategic committees
of the Council, it helps to set the overall direction of the Council. The Adults and Children’s
Committee makes decisions about: public health; environmental health; adult social care;
equalities; housing; and children’s social care and health (including children’s safeguarding,
looked after children, Achieving for Children commissioning; pupil referral units; youth service;
special educational needs; and children’s centre).
Public participation during the meeting
Do you want to ask a question?
There is a Question Time of up to 30 minutes from 7.30pm – 8pm. Questions may be
submitted in writing before the meeting or handed in at the start of the meeting on the green
forms provided. (There are some green slips on the chairs and there are more copies.)
Please fill in the relevant part and hand this in to the Committee Officer at the top table.
Where a full reply cannot be given at the meeting, a written reply will be sent to the
questioner, members of the Committee and the local press. The Chair may disallow any
question which, in his/her opinion, is scurrilous, capricious, irrelevant or otherwise
objectionable.
Running order
Are you here for a particular item? Items may be taken in a different order depending on the
interests of the members of the public present at the meeting. Please fill out a green form at
the start of the meeting and hand this to the Committee Officer if you would like to request
that a particular item is heard earlier in the meeting.
Taking part in the meeting
During the course of the meeting, the Chair, at his/her discretion, may allow contributions, on
items listed on the agenda. To attract the Chair’s attention, please raise your hand.
Speaking at meetings
Speaking at a meeting can be a daunting prospect and every effort is made to make this as
easy as possible. Speech friendly arrangements will take account of people who may have a
speech impairment, e.g. they may have a stammer. If you have any individual requirements
or feel that standing or addressing the meeting may present a difficulty, please let us know
beforehand. Arrangements will be made to help you as far as reasonably possible.

5

More meeting information
Accessibility






All meetings have access for people who may have mobility difficulties. If there are stairs, a
lift or stairlift is available. Disabled parking spaces are available on site.
Toilet facilities will be easily accessible from the meeting room.
For people who are deaf or have hearing impairments, there is an induction loop (depending
on the building, this may only be available in the first 2 or 3 rows).

A large print copy of the agenda can be requested in advance.

Emergency evacuation arrangements
If the fire alarm sounds, please leave the building by the nearest exit. If you require assistance,
please remain seated and an Officer will assist you from the building.
Recording of the meeting
This meeting will be audio recorded and the recording will be available on the web site
(www.kingston.gov.uk) with the agenda and minutes.
Filming
Residents and journalists/media wishing to film meetings are permitted to do so but are asked to
give advance notice of this and respect any concerns expressed by people on being filmed.
Interests
Councillors must say if they have an interest in any of the items on the agenda. Interests may be
personal or pecuniary. Depending on the interests declared, it might be necessary for the
Councillor to leave the meeting. The detail on interests is in Part 5A of the Constitution Members’ Code of Conduct.
Call In
Most of the decisions made at the Committee, except on decisions on planning applications/
planning enforcement/tree preservation orders and any licensing applications, can be called in for
review by 100 people who live, work or study in the Borough. The call in period is 5 days after the
minutes have been published (the deadline for the call in of any of these decisions will be set out
in the Minutes). Decisions are not, therefore, acted upon until it is clear that they are not going to
be called in.
The call in means the decision will be reviewed by a full meeting of the Council The Council at
this meeting cannot change the original decision, it may decide that no further action is necessary,
in which case the decision will be implemented or will refer the issue back to the Committee with
its views and a request that the decision is reconsidered taking account of these views.
Minutes
The minutes briefly summarise the item and record the decision. They do not record who said
what during the debate.

Adults and Children’s Committee

A1

Appendix A

16 March 2016
Modernisation of RBK Youth Facilities
Report by Lead Commissioner for Children’s Services
Purpose
To agree the proposed modernisation of the Youth Service provision which will increase
access to a broader range of high quality youth activities for local young people, engage
more young people in youth programmes and create a more effective and efficient service.
Recommendations of the Portfolio Holder for Children’s Social Care and Health
To Resolve that 1.

the capital assets dedicated to youth work activities are rationalised and the use of
outreach and mobile youth work is increased as set out in paragraph 18 of the
report;

2.

available youth work resources are re-focussed towards more targeted youth
provision, in order to increase the range of vulnerable young people accessing local
youth services and to increase the number of locations in which youth services can
be accessed; and.

3.

elements of youth service provision are re-commissioned from the local voluntary
and community sector in order to increase the range of activities available.

Key Points
A.

The Council has a statutory duty under section 507B of the Education Act 1996 (by
virtue of section 6 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006) to secure, as far as is
reasonably practicable, positive educational and recreational leisure time activities
for young people aged 13 to 19, and to those with learning difficulties up to the age
of 24, in its area that is sufficient to meet local needs and improve well-being and
personal and social development.

B.

The Youth Service is provided locally by Achieving for Children (AfC) on behalf of
the Council.

C.

National guidance of the provision of high quality youth work has been updated in
recent years and advocates a multi-dimensional approach to the delivery of
effective youth provision that offers a balance of universal and targeted activities
and promotes the use of different types of delivery models in order to meet the
needs of local communities.

D.

The current Youth Work offer is weighted heavily towards offering universal
activities that are predominantly offered from Youth Centres located across the
borough.

E.

The proposals set out within this report aim to modernise the current Youth Service
so that there is a more balanced offer of universal and targeted activities and a
greater range of mobile and neighbourhood based activities available to young
people locally.

A2
F.

The proposals include:
1.

G.

reducing the number of Youth Centres from eight to four and ceasing to offer
'centre based' activities from the Barnfield, Devon Way and Searchlight Youth
Centres.
2.
terminating the lease between the Council and AfC for the Doris Venner
Centre that has not been used for youth work activities since 2012.
3.
increasing the use of outreach and mobile youth services in schools and local
communities.
4.
offering more bespoke youth activities targeted at young people faced with
disadvantage, at risk of engaging in substance misuse, anti-social behaviour,
crime, challenging behaviour, and/ or who are at risk of sexual exploitation.
5.
increasing the range of youth activities available locally by commissioning
local voluntary and community organisations to deliver some aspects of the
local youth offer.
The proposals directly contribute to the delivery of the Council's Outcome Based
Budgeting priorities and in creating active and supportive communities in which all
children and young people can achieve their full potential.

Context
1.

The Council has a statutory duty under the Education Act 1996 to secure, as far as
is reasonably practicable, positive educational and recreational leisure time
activities for young people aged 13 to 19, and to those with learning difficulties up to
the age of 24, in its area that is sufficient to meet local needs and improve wellbeing and personal and social development.

2.

Positive leisure-time activities are defined as “sufficient educational leisure-time
activities” which are for the improvement of the well-being of qualifying young
persons in the authority's area must include sufficient educational leisure-time
activities which are for the improvement of their personal and social development
and “sufficient facilities for such activities” must include sufficient facilities for
educational leisure-time activities which are for the improvement of the personal
and social development of qualifying young persons in the authority's area

3.

National guidance of the provision of high quality youth work has been updated in
recent years. In 2010, the Government developed a ‘Positive for Youth’ policy giving
guidance to local authorities on securing high quality youth provision within the
available and reducing financial climate. This placed a greater emphasis on the
participation of young people and positive activities being made available to young
people through universal settings such as leisure centres and uniformed clubs for
example and the role of the Local Authority in promoting these opportunities. In
response to this, the National Youth Agency (NYA) developed a future vision for
youth work which advocated “best practice should be multi-dimensional with a
balance of universal and targeted youth work”. This was reiterated in a report by the
House of Commons Education Select Committee in 2011 which recognised “the
effectiveness of having a balance of youth centres, detached, outreach or mobile
youth work, all offering positive activities to enrich the lives of young people”.

4.

Nationally, Local Authorities have responded to the updated guidance and
demanding financial climate in varying ways. This has led to a range of different
Youth Service delivery models being introduced. For example,

5.

Some Local Authorities (Wandsworth, Kensington and Chelsea) have outsourced
their Youth Service provision from either a third sector or private organisation or by
creating a separate mutual or community interest company.

A3
6.

Other Councils (Hounslow, Reading) have chosen to retain their Youth Service
provision in house and integrate their universal offer within existing community
services and offering a restricted but targeted youth programme.

7.

At this point in time there is a limited evidence to suggest which model for Youth
Services achieves the optimal outcomes.

8.

In 2014, Kingston Council established a Community Interest Company, Achieving
Children and outsourced its full range of Children's Services traditionally delivered
in house.

9.

The current youth provision provided by Achieving for Children in Kingston offers a
range of activities is delivered in seven youth centre buildings that are leased by the
Council; outreach programmes from a mobile youth bus, the Duke of Edinburgh
Award Scheme and a dedicated team to support the engagement and participation
of young people in the local Youth Council, national Youth Parliament and Child In
Care Council.

10.

In 2015, the AFC management team undertook a review of its existing Youth
Service provision and facilities in order to identify how to optimise and modernise its
Youth Service offer within the established CIC delivery model.

11.

A review of the Youth Service activity identified:
● 78% of activity is centre-based youth work activities (youth clubs)
● 12% of activity is school-based youth work
● 10% of activity is delivered via mobile bus and other community setting

12.

A review of the Youth Centre facilities identified that:
● there was low usage and access in some youth centres;
● the conditions of the fabric in most youth centres is poor and will require
significant investment to modernise the facilities meet the growing maintenance
costs to ensure continued compliance with buildings regulations;
● the location of some youth centres mean that they are difficult to access by
public transport;
● the range of youth work activities is limited to centre-based activities that are not
responsive to emerging community or service needs;
● there were a number of under-represented groups in the profile of young people
accessing the current youth facilities
● the existing youth offer is static and is limited in responding to wider and
emerging needs. Youth work activities and resources need to be more aligned to
emerging and local priorities such as child sexual exploitation (CSE) and other
risky behaviours.
● over 70% of youth work activity is based on offering universal programmes as a
result of the current building-based model restricting staff to the youth centres .

13.

A summary of the Youth Centre activity is located in Annex 1.

14.

The Doris Venner Youth Centre has not been used for youth activities since 2012.

15.

In addition, AfC conducted a survey with 463 young people to seek their opinions
on the future provision of the youth service. This identified that:
● young people would like to have youth workers in other community settings,
such as schools or colleges;

A4
● young people want a safe place to go to participate in activities and have access
to the internet;
● young people attend youth clubs to see friends and meet youth workers;
● young people would like a high quality youth centre located centrally in Kingston.
16.

The review highlighted that maintaining the current delivery model would continue
to limit the services capacity to be flexible and responsive to emerging needs; offer
a balanced mix of youth centre based, outreach and mobile youth activities,
increase the range and diversity of local young people accessing positive activities.

17.

The review established a case for change and the need to:
● balance the range of youth centres, detached, outreach or mobile youth work
offered
● offer a more multi-dimensional balance of universal and targeted youth work
● align the work of the Youth Services with other universal and specialist services
to increase the engagement of under-represented groups and those most in
need of access to positive activities.

Proposals
18.

The Committee are requested to agree the following proposals:
● reduce the number of Youth Centres from eight to four and cease to offer 'centre
based' activities from the Barnfield, Devon Way and Searchlight Youth Centres.
● terminate the lease between the Council and AfC for the Doris Venner Centre
that has not been used for youth work activities since 2012.
● increase the use of outreach and mobile youth services in schools and local
communities.
● offer more bespoke youth activities targeted at young people faced with
disadvantage, at risk of engaging in substance misuse, anti-social behaviour,
crime, challenging behaviour, and/ or who are at risk of sexual exploitation.
● increase the range of youth activities available locally by commissioning local
voluntary and community organisations to deliver some aspects of the local
youth offer.

19.

The proposals will enable the Youth Service to provide activities from fit-for-purpose
facilities; shift the focus of the positive activities towards delivering a broader and
more responsive range of activities and programmes and deliver youth work to
young people where they are located – in schools, in local community venues and
on the streets.

20.

In addition by releasing the workforce capacity dedicated to managing the youth
centres buildings, the time can be redirected to introducing bespoke and targeted
activities for young people who are faced with disadvantage, including those who
are at risk of engaging in substance misuse, anti-social behaviour, crime,
challenging behaviour, and who are at risk of sexual exploitation.

Detailed Delivery
21.

The youth service will re-design its model of delivery into a mixed model that
enables:
-

22.

a flexible and responsive approach
This will be achieved by providing more outreach youth work in schools and local
community venues, street work and through mobile youth provision and targeted
project work.

A5
On average full time youth workers spend only 40% to 50% of their time delivering
face to face youth work as a result of also having building management
responsibilities. Removing building management duties will release upto15%
additional face to face time and reduce administrative tasks.

23.

24.

Where current facilities are no longer utilised, youth work will take place in the
community, on streets and in parks, and also in schools and existing community
buildings. This will improve the way services are delivered to target particular
groups, address local concerns and support those most in need of support.
-

engagement of harder to reach young people

25.

The new delivery model will allow the youth service to deliver intervention
programmes for first time offenders and young people at risk of offending, as well
as providing specialist roles to identify and support young people identified as at
risk of sexual exploitation. Information, advice and guidance will be provided
through a one stop shop at the Guildhall complex and within each youth centre.
This will be aimed at addressing domestic violence, sexual exploitation, risk-taking
behaviour, emotional and mental health issues, and contributing to the Troubled
Families programme.

26.

Targeted youth work will deliver personal and social development opportunities for
young people who are excluded from school or missing from education by providing
an alternative curriculum programme, as

27.

In response to the feedback from the consultation with local residents and users of
the Youth Centres undertaken in January 2016 and noted in section fivefold this
report , the targeted services shall be enhanced to better engage young parents,
asylum seekers and those with emotional and mental health needs.
-

a balanced mix of universal provision in a reduced number of youth centres

28.

The youth centres at Albany Park, Dickerage, Kingsnympton and School Lane will
be retained as these facilities are used well by young people, communities and
voluntary groups throughout the week.

29.

The youth centres at Barnfield, Doris Venner, Devon Way and Searchlight will be
decommissioned. Doris Venner has not been used for youth work for the last two
years. Barnfield, Devon Way and Searchlight are under-used and are in locations
that are difficult to travel to by public transport. Searchlight is also within walking
distance of Dickerage youth centre.

30.

Youth work would continue to be provided in those areas where youth centres
would be decommissioned to facilitate a greater balance of universal and targeted
provision. The existing universal provision would continue as shown in the table
below:

Setting
Barnfield

Current offer
Two sessions per
week currently
offering specific
borough-wide and
cross-borough
projects.

Proposed re-provision
Relocation of the cross- borough project to the
Heatham House Youth Centre (Twickenham)
Relocation of the borough-wide project to
Kingsnympton Youth Centre
Development of a new project with Kingston
University.
Outreach youth work to local schools.

A6
Setting
Devon Way

Current offer
Two sessions per
week, providing
universal drop in
youth club provision.

Proposed re-provision
Universal provision will be replaced by detached
youth work (street work, mobile youth provision
and use of other community settings where
appropriate) and outreach youth work in local
schools in the Chessington area. .

Borough-wide Duke of
Edinburgh Award
project once per
Relocation of the Duke of Edinburgh Award project
week,
to Kingsnympton.
Saturday universal
club
Searchlight

Three sessions per
week, providing
universal drop in
youth club provision.

Relocation of the universal drop youth club
provision to The Basement YMCA-Youth Café and
Dickerage.
Additionally, detached youth work to Cambridge
Estate once per week will be provided.

31.

Further detail on the delivery model is provided in Annex 1
-

32.

There is a commitment to maintaining sufficient resources to ensure young people
are involved in service delivery and design. This will include engagement with the
Children in Care Council, Youth Council and Members of the Youth Parliament, as
well as delivery of the Duke of Edinburgh Award programmes and associated
support to schools.
-

33.

continued investment into participation programmes:

the capacity of the third sector is maximised
It is intended that the youth provision at Dickerage, Kingsnympton and Norbiton will
be commissioned from the third sector by 2017/18. It is envisaged that this will
provide a wider choice of youth work activities and offer better value for money.

Consultation
34.

Local authorities must take steps to ascertain the views of young people and take
them into account in making decisions about youth services and activities in
accordance with Education Act 1996.

35.

A comprehensive consultation on the proposed modernisation of the youth service
was made available to the public for four weeks from 11 January to 11 February
2016 and has engaged 343 young people. This represents 18% of the overall youth
population currently engaged in youth provision.

A7
36.

Young people have been actively involved in the proposed changes to the service
and were engaged in consultation through the following methods:
● two public youth briefings were held within youth centres, providing young
people with the opportunity to hear the outlined proposals and provide their
comments.
● three youth briefings for democratically elected youth representatives within the
Youth Council, Children in Care Council and AfC Youth Board were undertaken.
● five outreach consultation sessions within secondary schools took place to
engage current users and non-users.
● information on the proposals was disseminated within all existing youth centres
and young people were invited to respond.
● an online consultation survey was made available on the Council website and
publicised via the Council’s Twitter feed. Publicity was also provided through the
local press, an e-mail to all members, via Facebook and on posters at local
youth centres.
● a visually-adapted survey made available to young people with special
education needs.
● Although the key consultation was focused on young people, the survey design
was adapted to enable other community members to engage with the
consultation, including parents, residents and other organisations.
● 13 community user groups with letting agreements to use youth centres were
informed of the proposals and consulates with on the changes. Seven groups
met to discuss the proposed changes.

37.

A petition 'Help stop the closure of the Searchlight Youth and Community Centre
Building' which had collected approximately 1694 signatories on the Change.org
website was presented at the meeting of Kingston Council on 1 March 2016 by Ella
Morrell, a user of the Searchlight Youth Centre. Council members thanked Ella and
other Youth Centre members for attending the Council meeting. After debate, the
Council asked that the petition be taken into account by this Committee as part of
its consideration of this report on Modernisation of RBK Youth Facilities.

Analysis of consultation findings
38.

480 respondents took part in this consultation with 343 (72%) of respondents being
children and young people. 28% of respondents were parents or other community
members and organisations. 293 children and young people stated they had used
the Youth Service previously, with 49 who had not.

39.

302 (62%) respondents said that they accessed other activities which are not
provided by AfC with 149 (31%) only using AfC services.

40.

The survey asked respondents to comment on the extent to which they agreed with
providing more flexible youth work settings to modernise the way services were
delivered.. 346 (78%) respondents selected a response where they agreed with the
model either to a little extent or large extent. Only 80 respondents (18%) did not
agree with the proposed approach.

41.

The survey asked respondents if there were any other ways they would like youth
work to be offered. Over half of respondents (56%) provided a response with
suggestions including use of schools and other community spaces (30 responses).
Only 16% suggested not closing youth centres should be an alternative way in
which youth work is offered(58 responses).

A8
42.

The survey asked if respondents to agree or not with the approach to prioritise the
focus towards young people who needed the most support. 402 (90%) respondents
supported the proposed approach to either a little extent or large extent. Only 23
respondents (5%) said they were not in support of this approach.

43.

232 (68%) respondents also indicated that youth service should be engaging young
parents, young people with emotional and mental health needs and asylum
seekers.

44.

The survey also asked respondents to place in order of importance the venues
where youth work should be delivered. Six venues were suggested with the option
for comments to state alternative venues. The top four preferred venues in order of
importance were:
(1) youth centre
(2) schools, colleges or sixth form centres
(3) community venues and,
(4) street work.

45.

Although some young people and community members would like to retain the
youth centre buildings, only 12% of respondents (58) took the opportunity to
express their concerns with the proposed closure of Searchlight and Devon Way.

46.

It is important to note that the weekly youth club sessions at Devon Way and
Searchlight will not cease but be relocated to alternative youth provisions close by.
In addition there will be a greater presence of outreach work in these local areas
and more opportunities for young people to access youth services in their local
school and community hubs.

47.

In summary, whilst there remain some concerns about the proposed closure of
some local youth centres, the findings of the consultation support the
recommendations of this report.

48.

A full summary of the responses to the consultation are located in Annex 2.

Timescale
49.

Subject to approval the planned transition period to relocate provision and vacate
the buildings is set out below:
Building

Timescale

Doris Venner

End of May 2016

Barnfield

End of July 2016

Searchlight & Devon Way

End of August 2016

Resource Implications
50.

The proposed reduction in the use of youth centre buildings will not achieve any
immediate financial savings for the Council but it is anticipated that efficiencies will
be achieved in 2017/18 by re-deploying and integrating the youth service within
preventative and early help services. It is estimated this will deliver an efficiency of
£120,000 and contribute to the Medium Term financial Plan ( MTFP).

A9
51.

There will be resource implications for AfC and the Council in the following areas:
● the cost of vacating the youth centres no longer utilised will be a one off cost met
from within existing budgets by AfC to remove the furniture, equipment and to
relocate the office functions to the remaining centres or central offices.
● the cost of maintaining the vacant youth centre buildings will be an ongoing cost
to the Council until such time an alternative use for the buildings can be secured.

52.

Thirteen community groups currently let space within the youth centres that are
proposed to be closed. AfC has written to these groups to explain that there is no
guarantee that the existing tenancy arrangements will be extended beyond their
current term. The relative costs of maintaining the premises, the income received
from the existing tenancies, and the potential for any other future uses will be
considered by the Corporate Landlord so that an appropriate recommendation can
be made to the Growth Committee about the medium to long term life of these
assets.

Legal Implications
53.

The proposals comply with the Education Act 1996 and the council's statutory duty
to secure, as far as is reasonably practicable, an offer [of positive activities] that is
sufficient to meet local needs and improve qualifying young people’s well-being and
personal and social development. The duty to secure the views of young people
has also been discharged by way of consultation.

54.

The local authority is not under a statutory duty to provide a youth service, but the
proposed youth service offer from AfC demonstrates how the Council is exercising
its duty to secure, as far as reasonably practicable, forms of activity to improve wellbeing and personal and social development for qualifying young people “educational leisure-time activities” and “recreational leisure-time activities”.

55.

In keeping with the legislation, the local authority should not assume the role of
default provider of positive activities and should instead use planning and
commissioning processes to identify the most appropriate provider; utilising the
strengths of organisations within the voluntary and private sectors alongside those
of the local authority itself.

56.

The proposals have also given due consideration to the requirements of the
Equality Act 2010.

Risk Assessment
57.

A risk assessment is available at Annex 3.

Equalities Impact Assessment
58.

AfC have undertaken an equalities impact assessment (EQIA) as set out in Annex
4. The findings did not identify concerns that any particular group or groups will be
adversely impacted as a result of this model.

A10
59.

The most vulnerable young people identified through the EQIA exercise are those
children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities who
currently use the youth service’s FAB group at Devon Way and the Lighthouse
group at Barnfield.

60.

These clubs shall be re located to the Kingsnympton Youth Centre which will
provide both clubs with access to better facilities. To ensure these young people
make a successful transition to the new venue AfC are providing support to assist
with travelling to the new venue and to build familiarity with the building to prevent
as little disruption as possible. The proposed timeframe for vacating Barnfield and
Devon Way can remain flexible and responsive.

Road Network Implications
61.

This report has no network implications

Environmental Implications
62. This report has no environmental implications
Author of the report: Elizabeth Brandill-Pepper, Lead Commissioner for Children’s
Services. Email: elizabeth.brandill@kingston.gov.uk. Tel No: 0208 547 5731.
Background papers - held by Peter Moorcock, Head of the Youth Service ,
email:Peter.moorcock@achievingforchildren.org.uk Tel no: 020 8547 5810

List of Annexes:
Annex 1 – Building Information: Footfall and Proposed model
Annex 2 - Consultation data
Annex 3 - Risk assessment
Annex 4 - Equalities assessment

Annex 1:
Building and delivery Information
Table 1
Centre & Ward

Attendances (Apr-Jan) 11-19yrs (up to 24 SEND)
No. of AfC
delivered
youth
sessions
per week
in
buildings

No. of
YP
Individu
al
contacts

Average
travelling
distance for
individuals
attending
(miles)

Distance to
nearest
youth
centre
(miles)

Albany Park (Tudor)

738

N/A

1.0
Barnfield

Barnfield (Tudor)

Albany Park is a borough wide provision, providing a range of water based and team
building activities for Kingston young people age 8-19 as well as adults and local
schools. Accreditation of learning for water based activities is offered. Albany Park is
well attended and used throughout the year. It is operating on a partially self-sustaining
model, raising already a significant income. It has a potential to increase further
revenue if a small investment is made to remodel part of the building to improve the
current facilities and customer experience.
To retain asset
Current users travel on average 4.8miles to attend the youth centre. This is due to the
nature of the youth provision on offer, which is two borough wide/cross borough wide
projects serving a small number of young people. Current youth provision can be relocated like for like to other settings and in fact will reduce the average travel time.

2

24

4.8

1.0
Albany
Park

Overall, Barnfield is underused and empty the majority of the time. It is used 3
evenings a week. It is not located in an accessible location to attract wider youth
audience and is not in an accessible location to be accessed by public transport. The
internal fabric of the building requires modernisation and maintenance to ongoing
leakage problems to the windows and roofing. The hall is not equipped for sports use
due to the large supporting structural beams that require heavy paddling to protect
participants from injury.
To return asset to the Council

A11

10

Rationale for reduction/retention of assets

Dickerage (Coombe Vale)

Dickerage is well used youth provision and attracts a wider community us for its
playground facility. It is located within a close proximity of Searchlight (0.5 miles) and
also attracts 18% of the Searchlight service user.

4

223

2.8

0.5
Searchlight

It opens 6 days a week (Tue to Sun). Dickerage also hosts specific borough wide
programmes/projects such as youth club for Children Looked After and personalised
support for young people on alternative learning curriculum. As a community
resource, it is very well used, attracting on average over 1,200 individual community
members over a year with repeat attendances to date exceeding 30,000
It has capacity to accommodate additional provision from Searchlight and provide a
base for outreach and detached youth work to the nearby estates such as Cambridge
Estate.
To retain asset

Devon Way (Chessington
North & Hook)

Devon Way youth provision serves a borough wide purpose for the two sessions out of
four per week. Proportion of the borough wide users out of the 264 users per year is
111. Current users of the borough wide provision travel on average 4.1miles.

3.0

2.3
School
Lane

The borough wide provision located at Devon Way can be re-provided more centrally to
Kingston, using Kingsnympton Youth Centre. This would reduce the travelling distance
for the majority of users that currently travel to Devon Way to attend the borough wide
clubs. Our assessment indicates that any special equipment currently used by the
service users can be also allocated to Kingsnympton.
Approximately 75% of local young people who access youth work at Devon Way could
be engaged more effectively through bringing youth work to school, streets (using
detached and mobile youth work approach) and local communities, i.e. using Hook
Centre. It is believed that through this approach a wider youth audience could access
youth work locally.
To return asset to the Council

A12

4

153
(264 –
includin
g
Borough
wide
activitie
s PAYP,
DofE,
Fab)

Facility is located furthest south of the borough and is most difficult to access by public
transport.
Devon Way requires capital investment to meet the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety)
Order 2005 to make the escape routes DDA compliant for wheelchair users in the event
of evacuation.

Kingsnympton (Coombe
Hill)

Kinsgnympton is very well used by the local community with 85% of current users living
in the Kingsnympton estate. Youth Centre offers a range of activities and has also some
specialist equipment to offer activities such as indoor climbing and archery that is also
accessed by wider borough youth groups.
3

84

1.2

1.3
Barnfield

Kingsnympton is in a good maintenance and decorative order and is DDA compliant. It
has a capacity to accommodate further borough wide provision if required.
It is very well used during by the local community and other youth groups.
To retain asset

School Lane (Surbiton
Hill)

School Lane is a small youth provision in its physical size and the scope of the youth
offer. It primarily serves the local estate youth population (80% of current users),
however, given its close proximity to Tolworth and Surbiton, a small proportion 20% of
young people from these areas also access School Lane.
3

139

2.0

2.3
Devon Way

It has capacity to accommodate borough wide youth work activities if required, i.e.
Duke of Edinburgh Award or youth participation
To retain asset
Searchlight (Norbiton)

Current service users travel on average 0.76 miles to attend Searchlight. Searchlight is
located 0.5 miles from Dickerage and 0.9 miles from the Basement Youth Club
(operated by the YMCA). Currently 18% of users access Dickerage

4

84

0.76

0.5
Dickerage

Seachlight is in a poor state of repair and its fabric is below expected standard.
Although, it attracts small number of young people, it is failing to reach out to a wider
youth audience which can be attributed to the fact that there is other youth provision
within a close proximity and/ or the fact the facility is a substandard building.
When comparing attendances, Dickerage attracts on average double the numbers per
week than Searchlight (Dickerage avg numbers per week 60, Searchlight avg numbers
23)

A13

School Lane has a reasonably high proportion of deprivation. School Lane is also used
by the Housing Association and community groups for their own service provision
during the day and the rent of the facilities is offset by the tenants.

The current provision at Searchlight can be re-provided like for like from both Dickerage
and The Basement.
To return asset to the Council
Doris Venner (Old
Malden)

Youth service ceased usage in 2012 as the majority of attendees were out of borough.
There are no plans to reuse the space for youth provision.
0

N/A

N/A

2.2
School
Lane

The facility is well used by the community and has an established provider delivering
child care.
To return asset to the Council

A14

Table 2 – Appraisal of buildings and maintenance implications
Centre

Reactive Maintenance
requests (April – Jan16)
IT repairs

Benefits

●
●
2

6

●
●
●
●
●

No ICT

10

●
●
●

Unique water based provision with large
catchment area
Income generation offsets budget by 76%
Expansion of service in general i.e. dragon boats,
paddle boarding, climbing and archery
Provision supports at risk and SEND groups
Planning consent received for future
development to site subject to funds
Site has perimeter fencing and CCTV
Open 5 to 7 days a week depending on the
season
Has music studios, social area, group work rooms,
computers, indoor hall, office space and car park
joined to stables
Site has CCTV
DDA compliance
Used twice a week in the evenings by AfC for
borough wide activities

●
●
●

●
●
●
●
●

●

●
Dickerage

-

6

Offers a youth and community service locally and
is well used by youth service age range with
greater use from community users
Available space include Indoor and outdoor space
i.e. outdoor sports pitch, tennis courts, cricket
nets, basketball, skate park, music studio,
internet access, cafe, social area, children’s
playground, driving simulator and small
training/teaching room

●
●
●
●
●

Remedial fire safety and H&S building works
required current status is ‘Action required’
Not fully DDA compliance
Wooden framed windows need replacing

Remedial fire safety building works required
current status is ‘Tolerable risk’
Remedial building works required including
electric, heating and roof/window leaks
Kitchen requires upgrading to be DDA
compliance
No secure access gate, leaving the car park
open when not in use
Parents primarily transport the young people
to the activities
Not used during the day and at weekends
Remedial H&S work required to maintain
park and skate area
Resource intensive to provide staff cover in
park over the week
Partial DDA compliance
Skate park ground needs re-surfacing

To retain the
building for
future use by
AfC

A15

Barnfield

Decision

Maintenance
Repairs

●

Albany Park

Challenges

To end
delivery and
return the
building back
to the Council

To retain the
building for
future use by
AfC

●
●
●
●
●
Centre

IT repairs Maintenance
Repairs

Benefits
●
●

●
Devon Way

-

17
●

●

●

●
1

16
●
●
●

Offers youth work locally and is used well by
youth service age range
Available space include indoor and outdoor space
i.e. outdoor hard-court cage sports pitch, social
area, IT suite, music studio, indoor hall, office
space.
Attendances locally are primarily from two main
schools Chessington Community College and St
Philips.
Borough wide activities also take place on site
and young people are transported by parents to
access the activity predominantly
Offers 3 evenings a week and 1 weekend
provision for AfC disabilities group
Used by 2 community groups serving young
people with disabilities across 5 afternoons and 1
evening
Offers youth work locally to Kingsnympton estate
young people and in partnership with a local
voluntary youth charity.
Available space include indoor sports hall with
indoor climbing and archery, social area, IT suite,
music studio, office space, small garden and play
area to rear.
Well used during the day through community
groups and housing/residents association
Is DDA compliant
Close to Kingston Town and accessible for future
youth service provision to be located here

Challenges
●

●

●
●

●
●

Immediate fire safety report issued 6 Feb
2016 informing that the rear fire exit for the
sports hall, and small group room is not
compliant for wheelchair users, nor is the
emergency escape route on the outside of
the building due to steps and narrow uneven
ground. Resulting in immediate restriction
on usage for clubs and lettings supporting
wheelchair users
Engie are aware and are exploring options
with the Council on viability of having this
work done and by when
Kitchen needs upgrading to be DDA
compliant
Underused during the day with occasional
use by AfC for tutoring support

Decision

To end
delivery and
return the
building back
to the Council

Is estate based and may limit usage from
young people outside of area
Requires internal cosmetic improvements
To retain the
building for
future use by
AfC

A16

●

Kingsnympton

Open 6 days a week Tues – Sun to the public and
young people
Evening activities just for young people
High usage throughout the year
Large space and adjacent to park
Has capacity to accommodate future youth work

●

●
School Lane

1

11

●

●
●

Centre
IT repairs

Maintena
nce
Repairs

Benefits

●

●

-

17

Available space includes social area, kitchen, IT
suite, indoor hall, group room, music studio and
outdoor grass area
Is used each evening by youth service and two
community groups
Small membership of regular users 11 to 19
years, with duplicate attendees accessing
sessions on other nights

●
●

Challenges

●
●

●
●
●

●
Doris Venner

-

9

Well used by letting groups everyday

Capacity is smaller than other centres
Requires internal cosmetic improvements

●

0.5 miles from nearest youth centre
Building is in need of substantial
improvements internally and externally.
Feasibility report conducted with cost
ranging from £86k to £107k which would not
be value for money vs current numbers
attending
No CCTV resulting in regular fly tipping on the
grounds
Is underused during the day will little to no
use except as a part time office
Resources need to be prioritised towards 11
to 19 age group as 8 to 10 year old receive
50% of resource allocation which Dickerage is
resourced to provide and is local
No youth work provision provided

Decision

To end
delivery and
return the
building back
to the Council

To return the
building back
to the Council

A17

●
Searchlight

Offers youth work locally to School Lane estate
young people and in partnership with a local
provider using the sports cage
Membership is approx 90% from School Lane
estate
Available space includes kitchen, social area, IT
access, garden patio, office space. Access to
sports cage
Used by community groups during the day
Can accommodate future provision and is DDA
accessible

Table 3: Current centre based delivery
Youth Service Use
Centre & Ward

Mon

Albany Park (Tudor)

Seasonal activities – Winter is 4/5 days a week (average 8hrs) and Summer is 6/7 days a week (average 10hrs) depending on course

Barnfield (Tudor)

Dickerage (Coombe Vale)

Tues

Wed

5-8pm (every
other week)
10-5pm

2.30 – 6.30pm

5.15 – 8.15pm

6-8.30pm

6-9pm

6-9pm

Kingsnympton (Coombe Hill) 4.30-6.30pm

5-8pm

6-9pm

School Lane (Surbition Hill)

5.30-8.30pm

6.30-9.30pm

4.45-6.45pm

Searchlight (Norbition)

6-9pm

3.15-6.15pm

6-9pm

Sat

Sun

10-7pm

10-5pm

10-7pm

10-5pm

11-3pm

5-8pm
10-3pm
4.30 – 7pm

4.30-7.30pm

A18

Doris Venner (Old Malden)

Fri

6-9pm

10-1pm

Devon Way (Chessington
North & Hook)

Thurs

Table 4: Proposed future delivery
Location of
delivery
Albany Park

Dickerage

Tues

Wed

Thurs

Fri

Sat

10-1pm School
bookings

10-1pm School
bookings

10-1pm School
bookings

10-1pm School
bookings

10-1pm School
bookings

1-4pm
School bookings

1-4pm
School bookings

1-4pm
School bookings

1-4pm
School
bookings

1-4pm
School bookings

10-2pm
Family days
(Social Care
referrals) or
adult courses

Youth Water
Club
5.30-7.30

Aiming High
(SEND)
5.30 – 7.30

10-5pm open
for community

10-6pm open for
community

10-5pm open
to community

10-5pm open to
community

2.30 – 6.30pm
(LAC)

5.15 – 8.15pm
(YES Drop In
year 9+)

5-8pm
(Single gender
group year 7+)

6-9pm
(YES Drop In
year 9+)

5-8pm
(YES Drop In
year 7&8)

6.15 – 8.45pm
(SEN year 7+)

10 – 1pm
(LAC/LC NEET
support)

Relocated from
Barnfield
School Lane

6-8pm
(YES Drop In
year 7&8)

6.30-9pm
(YES Drop In
year 9+)

4.45-6.15pm
(Duke of
Edinburgh/project
night)

10-5pm
open to
community

5.15 – 7.45
(Junior club 811yrs)
Relocated from
Searchlight
6-8.30pm
Oxygen Youth
Club
(provided by
Oxygen)
5-8pm
(Youth
Council)

4.30-7.30pm
Climbing (part
of Albany Park
offer)

Sun

Acronyms
SEND – special
educational
needs or
disability

11-3pm
open to
community

LAC – looked
after children
LC – Leaving care
YES – Youth
Enquiry Service

10-3pm
(FAB year 7+
Relocated from
Devon Way)

A19

Kingsnympton

Mon

Location of
delivery

Mon

Tues

Community
Venues

5-7pm
Youth Club
(partnered with
Oxygen at
Surbition Hill
Methodist
Church)

3.30 – 5pm
(11 to 14yrs)

4.30-6.30pm
Youth Enquiry
Service (YES)
drop in
Guildhall 1
6-8.30pm
(Year 7 +)
Chessington
detached
session
New provision
for Chessington
and Hook Ward
School based
youth work

Children Sexual
Exploitation Youth
Work Lead

New provision
for Chessington
and Hook Ward

Fri

Sat

5-7pm
D of E
(The
Basement,
YMCA)

5.30 7pm
(15 to 18yrs)
Youth Cafe at
The Basement
(Provided by
YMCA)
Re-provision for
Searchlight
users Inters and
Seniors club
6-8.30pm
(Year 7 +)
Chessington
detached
session

Thurs

New provision for
Norbition ward

3.30 – 6.30pm
Health Bus
Town Centre

Acronyms
NEET – Not in
education,
employment or
training
D of E – Duke of
Edinburgh Award

5-6.30pm
Crime
prevention
programme
Guildhall 1

TBC
Norbiton
detached NEET
session
(Cambridge Road
estate)

Sun

5-7.30pm
Deatched
session (subject
to need)

1-4pm
Health Bus
Town Centre

New provision
for either
Chessington
and Hook Ward
or Norbition
ward

Increased provision
Schools will receive an allocated amount of capacity from youth workers to provide bespoke targeted programmes focused on alternative
education, PSHE subjects delivered to classes, smaller groups or in some cases individuals i.e. Sexual health, CSE and healthy relationships, bullying,
substance misuse, online safety, crime and consequences, gang and knife crime
New provision
Youth work support 10 to 17yrs identified at risk of or have been sexually exploited, providing individual tailored support to strengthen resilience
and protective factors, making appropriate referrals for additional agencies to reduce and prevent further harm to the young people

A20

Detached, mobile
& Street work

Wed

Location of
delivery
Development of
Provision

Mon

Tues

Wed

Thurs

Fri

Sat

Sun

Acronyms

New provision
In response to the feedback from the consultation, Youth Service will working in partnership with Early years and local youth providers to enhance
engagement of young parents and understand what is already provided and who is best to provide that support.
Youth work support for Asylum seekers is currently being researched to understand the needs and gaps to explore future support opportunities.
The emotional and health needs of young people will be integrated within our offer, as it is now and enhanced through having drop in locations for
young people who want to talk or get support for emotional wellbeing.

A21

A22

Annex 2
Survey Monkey- Youth consultation data summary
Open: 11 January

Closed: 11 February

Question 1:
Answer Options

Response
Percent

Response
Count

A child / young person (up to 19
years old)

71.46%

343

A parent / carer

17.92

86

Organisation

2.5%

12

School

9.79%

47

Resident

5.21%

25

Other

4.17%

20

All 480 participants answered this question, including 27 comments to specify which Organisation, School or
other.
● Majority of responses were from a child/young person (up to 19): 343 (71.5%).
● 86 Parents/carers responded (17.8%).
● 12 Organisations (2.5%)
o Kingston Liberal Democrat group
o Surbiton Hill Methodist Church
o Church (undefined)
o Devon Way
o Oxygen
o Lighthouse at Barnfield
o FAB
o Kingston Carers’ Network, Young Carers’ Project.
o Searchlight x3 (incl. one stating they attended the YC)
o MetooandCo
●

47 School (9.9%)
o St Phillips x3
o Southborough High School

A23

●

25 Residents (5.3%)

●

20 Other (4.2%)
o User group
o Youth Worker
o Founder of Drop -in who use Searchlight
o Adult
o Councillor
o Chair of large estate
o Young person (23)

Question 2:
Have you used or benefited from any of our services provided by AfC Youth
Service?
Answer Options
Response
Response
Percent
Count
No
Yes
If yes, where?

32.3%
67.7%

If yes, where – 294 Participants completed this question.
Centres
Searchlight
Dickerage
Youth Bus
DofE
Barnfield
Moor Lane
TAG
CCC School
Devon Way
Albany Park
Learning difficulties
Southborough School
Kingston
Tolworth
Fab
Youth Council
Hook youth
Kingsnympton
Number of responses

How many Young
people

%
76
42
1
4
17
3
13
5
81
9
1
1
20
1
14
2
1
3
294

26
14
0.3
1.4
5.8
1
4.5
1.7
27.5
3
0.3
0.3
6.9
0.3
4.8
0.7
0.3
1.2
100

153
327
294

A24

Question 3:
480 participants completed this question.
Do you (or your child) attend activities or clubs outside school not provided by
AfC?
Answer Options
Response
Response
Percent
Count
Once or twice a week
Once or twice a month
Only for special events
Never
Not applicable

48.8%
9.5%
5.1%
30.4%
6.1%

231
45
24
144
29

Question 4:
446 participants completed this question. 34 participants ended completing the consultation.
To what extent do you agree with modernising our youth work to become more
flexible by extending the range of settings where we offer youth and community
work activities in the borough. To achieve this, we will be using a balance
between centre based youth clubs and other more flexible settings including: the
mobile youth bus street based and detached work group work and one to one
support secondary schools and colleges local neighbourhoods (high streets, parks
and housing estates)
Answer Options
Response
Response
Percent
Count
To a large extent
To a moderate extent
To some extent
To a little extent
Not at all
No opinion

28.0%
15.0%
19.4%
14.8%
18.2%
4.6%

123
66
85
65
80
20

Question 5:
This question was optional to complete. 195 participants completed this question, 285 skipped it.
Are there any other ways you would like the youth work to be offered that is not listed above?
Examples mentioned in the above question:
● the mobile youth bus, street based and,
● detached work group work,
● one to one support secondary schools and colleges local neighbourhoods (high streets, parks and
housing estates).

A25

Suggestions from participants (some participants made
multiple suggestions):
Schools (incl. primary, secondary & College):
Better advertising of available services and advice:
Allow other services to take over the running of youth work
(e.g. Mosaic and Oxygen):
Use other youth or community centres and buildings (incl.
OAP homes):
Café/ Coffee shops (one suggestion of a volunteer run coffee
shop (please see below.
Churches or Christian based support:
Online (incl. social media, young people and youth worker
run blogs, and live chat sessions):
Activities run around RBK town centre:
Do not close youth centres:
Do not know:
Door to door, estate based:
Youth run, youth bus advice service:
Leisure clubs/centres:
Working with other teams with AfC or organisations (e.g.
FST):
More services for young people with disabilities:
More visits to public places/trips:
More holiday activities:
Newsletters:
Workshops:
None/No/ n/a:
Parks:
Suggested youth paying for the service:
Under 18 nights at clubs:

Frequency
17
5
3
13
5
2
9
2
58
1
1
4
2
2
6
6
4
6
6
49
2
1
2

Notable comments:
● Every area needs a youth centre as they support community cohesion in many ways. If the
government/council wants to support young people and contribute to community cohesion of all kinds,
especially important in these times, youth centres should not be closed. Young people can’t travel easily
to a centre not in their area.
● Big named coffee shops lead on a sponsored volunteer scheme, young people gain skills working there
and they can reward us by letting us spend time there with treats
● Run our own youth bus where we can give advice to people our age or younger
● Going to primary schools and running anti bullying sessions or any advice where younger children can
speak to us about anything they aren’t comfortable with telling adults
● I would like youth work to continue to be done in a youth club because it’s easier for young people to
access youth workers at a youth club rather than in the middle of a town centre on the yes bus or in the
afc department in guildhall. Some young people feel more comfortable talking to a youth worker in a
welcoming environment. For some people who have big issues in their life, they don’t want to feel
pressured to say what they feel because they are in an overly professional environment, they want to feel
calm and relaxed and be able to say what they feel at their own pace. That is why youth clubs need to be
open and stay open.

A26

●

●

Not duplicating programs run by other organisations but instead partnering with them to improve
existing provision.
Consider how best to develop new programs with local partners that could utilize wider knowledge and
expertise.
Working with homeless young people particularly approaching or just reached 18 as there seems to be
very minimal support for these young people, many of whom have complex issues and are in need of
support.

Question 6:
446 participants completed this question. 34 participants ended completing the consultation
To what extent do you agree with providing more proactive support to young
people including: children in care (looked after and leaving care) young carers at
risk of sexual exploitation or domestic violence at risk of offending excluded or at
risk of being excluded from school at risk of substance misuse with special
educational needs (SEN)
Answer Options
Response
Response
Percent
Count
To a large extent
To a moderate extent
To some extent
To a little extent
Not at all
No opinion

42.4%
19.1%
21.4%
7.1%
5.2%
4.8%

186
84
94
31
23
21

Question 7:
This question was optional to complete. 232 participants completed this question, whilst 246 skipped it.
Are there other groups that you would like the youth service to offer activities to that are not listed above?
Suggestions:
Suggestion

Frequency

Young person with physical disabilities:
Community as a whole, not just young people:
Adopted children:
All young people with no specific needs (not to feel excluded):
Asylum seekers:
At risk of gangs:
Victims of bullying or crime:
Vulnerable young people:
YP with parents on low income or living in poverty:
Young offenders:
Cubs & Scouts:
Homeless:
LGBT Teens:
NO/ n/a:
Not sure:
People in France:
Children with low self esteem or difficulty socialising:
People with medical or mental health issues (incl. depression):
Inappropriate responses
At risk of extremism:

10
4
2
83
12
1
4
5
6
4
2
3
2
49
1
1
4
21
2
2

A27

Siblings of above mentioned categories in previous question:
YP with disabilities not focused on education:
Young parents:
NEET:
YP with parents in the forces:

1
1
2
1
1

Notable Comments
● It would be good for disabled 16-25 year old teenagers to have some type of club provision where they
could meet and spend time together in New Malden in a more central position. Facilities for them to
meet each and make friends are few and far between and normally in sites that are not easy to reach by
all forms of transport. Not everyone has access to a car, and in accessibility does not encourage
independence in the few disabled teenagers who can travel independently. Youth services should be
making it easier disabled teenagers (15-25 year olds) to meet up much more easily to enjoy group
activities.
● As mentioned a more central youth club would be great and more than once a week for young disabled
people at present Kingston and New Malden are poorly represented in this area.
Question 9:
Is there anywhere else that you would like to see youth work accessed from that are not listed above?
This question was optional to complete. 166 participants completed, 314 did not complete.
Where else the service could be accessed

Times
suggested

%

Parks

33

17.9

Buses

2

1

Religious Buildings

11

6

Sports and leisure centres

34

18.5

Universities

2

1

Shops

3

1.6

Houses

7

4

Town centres

2

1

Hairdressers

1

0.5

Fast Food Restaurants

1

0.5

Sixth Forms and Colleges

1

0.5

Libraries

2

1

Online

7

4

Music venues

3

1.6

Drop in centres

1

0.5

Schools

3

1.6

Swimming Pools

3

1.6

Cafes

2

1

Train stations

1

0.5

No

41

22.5

N/A

21

11.6

3

1.6

184

100

Not Legitimate
Total comments

A28

Question 10:
This question was optional to complete. 243 completed and 237 skipped the question
We have identified a number of possible effects/impacts the proposed changes might have on young people,
see below:
● the youth club you live nearby to will no longer be providing centre based activities,
● less places for young people to meet safely and spend time together/keep young people out or
trouble
● a sense of loss
● young people will not get the support or help they are used to
Suggestions (that did not relate to above mentioned ones):
Increase in youth offending and anti-social behaviour:
TAG being closed at Devon Way:
Service will become less visible
Less social integration in the community
Breakdown of relationships with trusted professionals:
No/ none:
Lost opportunity to learn new skills:
Meeting new friends
Family tensions if unable to have leave house and go to a safe place.
Loss of youth worker jobs.
Cost of journey and travel time is going up:
Concerns for additional user groups (voluntary groups)
Travel

Frequency
37
10
1
1
3
33
2
1
1
1
11
1
6

Notable Comments:
● My daughter does use Barnfield, but I can see why you want to close it. She used to use Searchlight
building and I can see why you want to close it too. We have never managed to get to Devon Way as it is
way too far from us (Kingston/Ham border) and I once tried to go there and got completely lost and
never bothered again. So I am not particularly bothered by the loss of these buildings, though I
understand that other people feel more strongly. I would prefer the services to use well-kept buildings
that will help these disadvantaged young people to increase their self-esteem. Kite use Geneva Road for
example - that is a nice environment. Some of the buildings e.g. Barnfield are just awful.”
● Many of our young people are unable to travel independently and they do not have access to transport.
By not providing services locally they will be excluded.

●
●

●
●

Going to a "club" is familiar and safe. This is important to many of our young people. They may find the
flexible system to difficult to access for a number of reasons.
Both targeted and universal provisions for youth services are necessary and both have benefits, as it can
be easy to miss some vulnerable children because they don't fit the stereotype.
I think it's really important that young people have their own space and somewhere they feel a sense of
ownership over and can take pride in. I think that the council should explore different ways that they can
work collaboratively with the community and with the voluntary sector to keep centres open and deliver
valuable work in a space that is fit for purpose and local to those young people most in need of
assistance/ youth work intervention. Closing centres could lead to youth work services on offer being less
visible and impeding young people's ability to access them. Young people having to travel farther afield
would also likely reduce uptake.
Young people may end up with no provision at all - particularly the more vulnerable who will be less
inclined and less proactive in finding a new youth centre/club to attend.
Opportunities to support vulnerable groups that need specific support

A29

Question 11:
411 participants completed, 69 did not complete the rest of the consultation
How would you describe your ethnic group?
Answer Options

Response
Percent

Response
Count

White British
White Other
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups
Asian / Asian British
Black African / Caribbean / Black British
Other Ethnic Group

61.7%
9.6%
11.1%
8.6%
4.9%
4.0%

250
39
45
35
20
16

Answer Options

Response
Percent

Response
Count

Yes
No
(If yes please specify)

21.0%
79.0%

85
320
58

Question 12:
Do you consider yourself to have a disability?

Disabilities
Learning Disability
Autism
Heart Condition
MS
Hearing (Deaf)
Visual (Blind)
ADHD
Diabetes
Scoliosis
MLD
Special needs
ASD
Camptodactyly
Aspergers
Anxiety
Asthma
Dyslexia
Downs Syndrome
Cerebral Palsy
Number of Young
People

Amoun
t
12
12
1
3
2
2
6
1
1
1
2
4
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
55

%
22
22
1.8
5.4
3.6
3.6
11
1.8
1.8
1.8
3.6
7.2
1.8
1.8
1.8
1.8
1.8
1.8
3.6
100

A30

Question 13:
I am within the following age bracket:
Answer Options

Response
Percent

Response
Count

Under 10
11-18 years
19-24 years
25 years and above

0.7%
75.3%
5.7%
18.3%

3
305
23
74

Question 14:
Please provide the first part of your post code, for example KT1
Post codes
AL1
KT
KT1
KT10
KT12
KT13
KT20
KT22
KT24
KT3
KT4
KT5
KT6
KT7
KT8
KT9
SW15, SW18, SW19, SW20
TW1, TW11, TW2, TW4, TW9, TW13
W14

Frequency
1
1
77
3
3
2
1
1
1
74
20
23
39
4
3
100
1
2
1

Question 15:
Please provide your gender.
Answer Options

Response
Percent

Response
Count

Female
Male
Prefer not to say
Other (please specify)

53.3%
43.0%
2.7%
1.0%

216
174
11
4

Number

Response Date

1
2

Feb 10, 2016 11:40 AM
Feb 9, 2016 8:39 PM

Other
Categories
(please
specify)
Husband and wife team
Inappropriat
e response

A31

3

Feb 9, 2016 8:31 PM

4

Feb 8, 2016 3:23 PM

Inappropriat
e response
organisation

Annex 3:
Risk Assessment
Area of risk

1

Severity

Likelihoo
d

Rating

Low

Low

Low

Mitigating solutions

Owner

Low number of users attend the youth club
The existing borough wide provision will be re-provided to other
youth centres
Publicity, Council webpage and promotionally material will
inform local community where to access youth work from
Decommissioning date to return asset set for end of July 2016
Equipment will be re-redistributed across remaining facilities

AfC
AfC

Returning assets back to the Council:
Barnfield

Devon Way

Low

Medium

Low

Doris Veneer

Low

Low

Low

Searchlight

Low

Medium

Low

Prioritising resources towards targeted youth

Medium

Low

Low

Existing service users will access youth work support locally
including detached work, using community spaces and local
schools
Existing borough wide provision will be re-provided to other
youth centres
Publicity, Council webpage and promotionally material will
inform local community where to access youth work from
Decommissioning date to return asset set for July 2016
Equipment will be re-redistributed across remaining facilities
Decommissioning date to return asset set for May 2016
Equipment will be re-redistributed across remaining facilities
Existing service users will be signposted to other local youth
work provision provided by third sector organisations and youth
service.
Access to youth work support locally including detached work,
using community spaces and local schools
Publicity, Council webpage and promotionally material will
inform local community where to access youth work from
Decommissioning date to return asset set for August 2016
Equipment will be re-redistributed across remaining facilities
Each youth centre will have a universal ‘drop in’ youth offer for
young people to access help and support alongside a range of

AfC/Council
AfC/Council
AfC
AfC
AfC
AfC/Council
AfC/Council
AfC
AfC/Council
AfC
AfC
AfC
AfC/Council
AfC/Council
AfC
AfC

A32

2

Risks matrix

targeted youth work for vulnerable groups
Detached, streetwork and mobile youth work will engage ‘hard to
reach groups’ in diverse locations to respond to risk factors
Creation of Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) support for
vulnerable, at risk or exposed to exploitation
Signposting young people to local voluntary and third sector
organisations providing universal youth work activities
Service offer reprioritised and no reduction in capacity to deliver

provision

Area of risk

Risks matrix
Severity

Likelihoo
d

Rating

Commissioning components of the youth
service

Low

Low

Low

4

Community lettings

Low

Low

Low

Owner

Competitive procurement process to get the best solutions to
delivery service specification
Increase capacity of local voluntary or third sector provider
through commissioning services
Voluntary sector has ability to access a range of funding and
grants that the Council or AfC cannot enabling increased value
for money
Universal youth and community provision provided from
Dickerage and Kingsnympton and in Norbition by local voluntary
or third sector provider
Youth service will concentrate remaining resources toward
targeted services
All lettings will continue to use the existing buildings on a AfC
rolling letting agreement, resulting in no immediate change to
their service
Lettings management will be handed over to the Council when
buildings are released.
Lettings will be supported during this transition and updated on
management handover

AfC/Council

A33

3

Mitigating solutions

AfC
AfC/Council
AfC/Council

A34

Annex 4:

Equality Impact Assessment
Service Area:
Youth Service
Name of service/ function/
Proposed modernisation of the Youth Service provision
policy/ project being assessed: which will increase access to a broader range of high
quality youth activities for local young people and;
engage more young people in youth programmes and
create a more effective and efficient service.
Officer leading on assessment: Peter Moorcock
Other staff involved:
Youth Service Operations Manager
Area Youth Work Leads
BACKGROUND
1. Briefly describe the service/ function/ policy/ project:
AfC Youth Service currently operates through an ‘open access’ delivery model provided from
seven youth centres (seven Council premises) based throughout Kingston. In addition the
Youth Service also provide a number of targeted support interventions including work with
young people not engaged in education, or SEND and mobile youth work in the town centre.
An outdoor education service is provided delivering unique water based and land activities
and AfC deliver the operational licence for the Duke of Edinburgh Award.
The Council has a statutory duty under the Education Act 1996 to secure, as far as is
reasonably practicable, positive educational and recreational leisure time activities for young
people aged 13 to 19, and to those with learning difficulties up to the age of 24, in its area
that is sufficient to meet local needs and improve well-being and personal and social
development.
Positive leisure-time activities are defined as “sufficient educational leisure-time activities”
which are for the improvement of the well-being of qualifying young persons in the authority's
area must include sufficient educational leisure-time activities which are for the improvement
of their personal and social development and “sufficient facilities for such activities” must
include sufficient facilities for educational leisure-time activities which are for the
improvement of the personal and social development of qualifying young persons in the
authority's area
In 2015, the AfC management team undertook a review of its existing Youth Service
provision and facilities in order to identify how to optimise and modernise its Youth Service
offer within the established CIC delivery model.
A review of the Youth Service activity identified:
● 78% of activity is centre-based youth work activities (youth clubs)
● 12% of activity is school-based youth work
● 10% of activity is delivered via mobile bus and other community setting

1

A35
Through this remodelling proposal, we aim to achieve the following:


young people will be able to access the services they need in the way they want to,
through joined up services and closer working between AfC and its partners.



targeting young people most in need of youth services - Involving and consulting service
users throughout



Working with new and existing partners to support the needs of all young people in
Kingston

2. Why is the equality assessment being undertaken?
The proposed changes to youth services are to refocus the ‘open access’ youth work
towards ‘targeting’ youth work with young people who are in most need i.e. looked after
children, young offenders, displaying risky behaviour etc.
The settings for youth work will broaden to include a balance of school work interventions,
detached and street work delivery, specialist 1-2-1 advice and support i.e. CSE, outdoor
education and Duke of Edinburgh, centre based youth work and partnering with local youth
organisations to provide the ‘open access’.
These changes mean the way we meet and engage young people will be different as less
youth centres will be used to enable a broader range of settings to be used to deliver youth
work.
3. What sources of information have been used in the preparation of this equality
assessment? (e.g national research, local needs assessment, user feedback) Please
provide the details in the table below:
Information
Description and outline of the information source
source
User Feedback
In April 2015, 463 young people took part in a survey providing feedback
on the current youth provisions and activities provided at the point of the
survey and for the future.

Table 1
Albany Park
Barnfield
Devon Way
Dickerage
Kingsnympton
School Lane
Seachlight
None of the above
TOTAL

Responses
54
33
129
88
27
52
44
36
463

2

A36

Table 2
Female
Male
Unknown/did not
answer
Total

Responses
189
225
49
463

This survey identified the following points:
 young people would like to have youth workers in other community
settings, such as schools or colleges;

 young people want a safe place to go to participate in activities and
have access to the internet;

 young people attend youth clubs to see friends and meet youth
workers;

 young people would like a high quality youth centre located centrally
in Kingston.
Community
Feedback

Preparatory meetings held with Councillors in advance of the public
consultation through
 Neighbourhood Board Chairs forum
 Ward meetings (where AfC proposed to terminate the lease of
youth centres)
Public consultation launched 11 February to 11 January with 480
responses received with 343 being children and young people

Management
review

In 2015, the AFC management team undertook a review of its existing
Youth Service provision and facilities in order to identify how to optimise
and modernise its Youth Service offer within the established CIC
delivery model.
A review of the Youth Service activity identified:


78% of activity is centre-based youth work activities (youth clubs)



12% of activity is school-based youth work



10% of activity is delivered via mobile bus and other community
setting

A review of the Youth Centre facilities identified that:


there was low usage and access in some youth centres;



the conditions of the fabric in most youth centres is poor and will
require significant investment to modernise the facilities meet the
growing maintenance costs to ensure continued compliance with
buildings regulations;

3

A37


the location of some youth centres mean that they are difficult to
access by public transport;



the range of youth work activities is limited to centre-based activities
that are not responsive to emerging community or service needs;



there were a number of under-represented groups in the profile of
young people accessing the current youth facilities



the existing youth offer is static and is limited in responding to wider
and emerging needs. Youth work activities and resources need to
be more aligned to emerging and local priorities such as child
sexual exploitation (CSE) and other risky behaviours.



over 70% of youth work activity is based on offering universal
programmes as a result of the current building-based model
restricting staff to the youth centres.

A summary of the Youth Centre activity is located in Annex 1.

ANALYSIS OF IMPACT
4. Assess the relevance of each protected characteristic group to the service/
function/ policy/ project and explain what the data, customer feedback, complaints or
discussions with stakeholder groups tells you about the impact.
Other questions to consider:
● How well are diverse needs met?
● Have any differences in access to services/functions been identified for any group?
● Has the area identified any disadvantages experienced by groups, which need to be
addressed?
● Have there been any complaints about a failure to receive an appropriate and fair
service?
● Is there any other evidence of differential impact or different outcomes which needs to be
addressed?
● Is there any evidence that participation in areas of public life is disproportionately low for
any particular relevant protected characteristic group?
● Have the needs of disabled people been identified and addressed where these are
different from the needs of non-disabled people?
● Have you identified any need to tackle prejudice or promote understanding between
different relevant protected characteristic groups?
Remember that equality assessment is not simply about identifying and removing negative
effects of discrimination but it is also an opportunity to identify ways to advance equality of
opportunity and to foster good relations.

4

A38
Protected Group

Findings
As a result of these changes and feedback from the consultation
we are not proposing any changes to the primary age groups we
work with (11 – 19 and up to 24 with disabilities and the Duke of
Edinburgh Award).
Dickerage Sports and Community Centre provide a youth and
community service for all ages. Junior provision (under 11 work)
will be relocated here from Searchlight (0.5 miles) for the activities
to continue.

Age

Where we are proposing to come out of youth centres, local
young people may need to travel to another youth centre to
access services or travel to another setting within the locality
where youth work will be provided.
To mitigate the risk of young people travelling alone and the
distance, where we are proposing to relocate youth centre
delivery this have been considered by understanding the distance
travelled from home to current youth club i.e. members attending
Searchlight travel an average of 0.76 miles, the proposed youth
work will be re-provided within 1 mile of Seachlight resulting in
youth work continuing to be accessible locally
Two youth provisions provided by AfC are for young people with
disabilities. Both these services will continue to be provided by
AfC however the venue will change if the proposed changes are
implemented.
It has been agreed to provide a reasonable period of time to
prepare and transition each group to familiarise themselves with
the new venues identified as part of the programme to reduce the
risk of anxiety and worry when it comes to change.

Disability

It is recognised that moving specific clubs to different locations
may prevent access for some users due to their own travel
arrangements; however it also enables opportunities for new
service users to attend for similar reasons to where the provision
is currently.
From April 2015 - January 2016, 43 young people who attend the
youth service provision have identified themselves to have special
educational needs or disability
User groups under a letting agreement or SLA have been advised
that they can remain in any youth centres AfC come out of until a
decision is made on the future use of those buildings by the
Council, therefore TAG and YODA can continue to use Devon
Way after AfC vacate.

5

A39

Gender (Sex)

As a result of these changes, there is no evidence from feedback
that will impact on gender. Single gender youth work projects will
be provided where there is a local need, currently in Kingston one
youth club provides a single gender evening for young women
who are underrepresented to increase sports and participation
and this will continue
From April 2015 - January 2016, the gender breakdown is as
follows
Female:
643
Male:
832
Unknown:
457

Gender reassignment

The Youth Service does not currently hold data on this area. As a
result of these changes and through the consultation, there is no
evidence from feedback that will impact on this area.

Marriage and civil
partnership

The Youth Service does not currently hold data on this area. As a
result of these changes and through the consultation, there is no
evidence from feedback that will impact on this area.

Pregnancy and
maternity

The Youth Service does not currently hold data on this area. As a
result of these changes and through the consultation, there is no
evidence from feedback that will impact on this area.

As a result of these changes and through the consultation, there
is no evidence from feedback that will impact on this area.

Race/ethnicity

Data regarding the ethnicity of current members is limited with a
high proportion of members not providing the information. From
April 2015 - January 2016, the ethnicity breakdown is as follows:
Asian or Asian British:
50
Black or Black British:
47
Mixed/Duel Background: 57
White or White British:
640
Other Ethnic Group:
8
Not known/refused
673
Youth work projects will be provided should it be needed to
support work with a particular ethnicity where there is a local need
to do so, and ensure that BAME groups are met within the
remodelling proposal, workers will continue to consult to ensure
appropriate provision is in place for their needs and work closely
with partner organisations

6

A40
The Youth Service does not currently hold data on this area and
will continue to work in partnership with specific faith based youth
groups and organisations to ensure the needs of young people
from all belief systems are met.
Religion and belief
including non-belief

To promote the welfare and safety of our youth service members
and future members we will promote a welcoming environment in
the places where we will engage young people i.e. youth clubs,
mobile youth bus or community settings to promote and foster
positive and constructive integration within our service and
challenge all forms of discrimination
As a result of these changes and through the consultation, there
is no evidence from feedback that will impact on this area.

The Youth Service provides a LGBTQ youth club providing a
friendly and safe environment. The club alternates from Barnfield
one week and Heatham House in Twickenham the next with
young people already using both sites.

Sexual orientation

Recent usage at Barnfield has decreased, with 3 members
attending on average over the last two months.
The proposed approach is to bring this provision together at
Heatham House as attendances are higher and review future
delivery support in partnership with local organisations i.e.
Kingston College or LBGT Forum
We will continue to monitor the changes resulting from this
change.

5. Summarise the key findings of the equality assessments of impact- have you
identified any data gaps in relation to the relevant protected characteristics and
relevant parts of the duty?
Other questions to consider:
●
●
●
●
●

Are there findings of unlawful discrimination?
Can you address any identified adverse impact?
Can you mitigate any negative impact?
Please provide rationale if you are unable to address any adverse impact.
Have you identified any ways of advancing equality in this area? For example, meeting
diverse needs?
● Is there a need for any actions to promote understanding between different protected
groups?

7

A41
The key findings based on this assessment on the protected characteristics suggest that
there is no unlawful discrimination to service users and where there are proposed changes,
the issues have been considered and mitigated to enable fair access to continued or
alternative services.
Where there are recognised impacts to service users who may perceive changes as negative
where they use youth centres that are proposed to close, the concerns linked to the
protected characteristics have been considered with solutions provided or implemented to
continue providing the service but either in a different ways or from a different location.
Where universal ‘open access’ services may end, young people will be redirected to other
youth provisions or services within the community to access.
To advance equality of opportunities, youth service will monitor the continued engagement of
three protected characteristics with the aim to increase access for: gender, orientation and
ethnicity through continued engagement and consultation with young people and
communities to ensure that the most appropriate provisions is in place.

CONSULTATION
6. What consultation have you undertaken with stakeholders or critical friends about
the key findings? What feedback did you receive as part of the consultation?
Local authorities must take steps to ascertain the views of young people and take them into
account in making decisions about youth services and activities in accordance with
Education Act 1996.
A comprehensive consultation on the proposed modernisation of the youth service was
made available to the public for four weeks from 11 January to 11 February 2016 and has
engaged 343 young people. This represents 18% of the overall youth population currently
engaged in youth provision.
Young people have been actively involved in the proposed changes to the service and were
engaged in consultation through the following methods:
● two public youth briefings were held within youth centres, providing young people
with the opportunity to hear the outlined proposals and provide their comments.
● three youth briefings for democratically elected youth representatives within the
Youth Council, Children in Care Council and AfC Youth Board were undertaken.
● five outreach consultation sessions within secondary schools took place to
engage current users and non-users.
● information on the proposals was disseminated within all existing youth centres
and young people were invited to respond.
● an online consultation survey was made available on the Council website and
publicised via the Council’s Twitter feed. Publicity was also provided through the
local press, an e-mail to all members, via Facebook and on posters at local youth
centres.
● a visually-adapted survey made available to young people with special education
needs.

8

A42

● Although the key consultation was focused on young people, the survey design
was adapted to enable other community members to engage with the
consultation, including parents, residents and other organisations.
● 13 community user groups with letting agreements to use youth centres were
informed of the proposals and consulted with on the changes. Seven groups met
to discuss the proposed changes.
480 people responded to the consultation 343 (71.46%) were young people and 137
(28.54%) were from the rest of the community. Note that not all respondents completed
these questions

Table 3
Age

Response
Percent

Response
Count

Under 10
11-18 years
19-24 years
25 years and
above

0.7%
75.3%
5.7%
18.3%

3
305
23
74

Table 4
Gender

Response
Percent

Response
Count

Female
Male
Prefer not to say
Other (please
specify)

53.3%
43.0%
2.7%
1.0%

216
174
11
4

Table 5
Ethnicity breakdown

Response
Percent

Response
Count

White British
White Other
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups
Asian / Asian British
Black African / Caribbean / Black
British
Other Ethnic Group

61.7%
9.6%
11.1%
8.6%
4.9%

250
39
45
35
20

4.0%

16

9

A43

Table 6
Do you consider yourself to have
a disability

Response
Percent

Response
Count

Yes
No

21.0%
79.0%

85
320

Participation in the consultation is fairly reflective of the demographics of the Youth Service
and borough.
The consultation data has identified that the following respondents (Table 7) stated they
attended a Youth Centres where AfC are proposing to terminate the lease and end centre
based youth work, again this is a fair and reflective number of young people engaged in the
consultation to express their views who attend youth services
Table 7
Youth Club
Barnfield
Devon Way
Searchlight

Response
No.
(members)
19 (24)
88 (153)
80 (84)

Feedback from respondents where, protected characteristics were identified the following:
Age:
Respondents raised concern about the distances to travel to alterative venues, the
proposed model mitigates this through continuing to offer local youth work through street
and detached youth work or using other community settings. Where services are relocated
these are been considered and retained as local as possible by AfC or local youth
organisations will be signposted to.
Disabilities:
Based on the feedback referring to TAG, comments were related to having to travel greater
distances to access the provision, however the same issue can be applied for non service
users who are eligible to attend but chose not to for similar reasons now.
It’s important to note that TAG has a service level agreement with the Youth Service but are
managed by their own management committee therefore for the purpose of this
assessment the comments will be considered but TAG will continue to stay in Devon Way
should the YS vacate.
The YS provision FAB, it is noted that the users already travel and were supportive toward
moving venues through this consultation.
At this point it has been agreed for partners and lettings to remain in the existing facilities
post AfC vacating the spaces until the Council consider the future use of the buildings
As part of the review promotion of the service will continue and forms part of the ongoing
future work to informing young people of what is offered and where they can access it.

10

A44
ACTION PLANNING
7. What issues have you identified that require action?
Issue identified
Planned action
Success factors
Support transition for
young people where
clubs activities move
to another youth club

Support transition for
young people where
activities will be
provided locally not in
youth clubs

Support transition for
young people where
activities will no longer
be provided by youth
service

Reduction of service
users as a result of:
Delivering more
targeted youth work
Current young people
stop attending

Lead
officer
Area
Youth
Work
Leads

Completio
n Date
July to Aug
16

Area
Youth
Work
Leads

July to Aug
16

Area
Youth
Work
Leads/You
th Support
Workers

July to Aug
16

Build into youth
club programme
advice and support
for coping with
change
Prepare group and
individuals by
visiting new venue
within club
programmes and
travel training

The service will not
have a detriment to
the ongoing
numbers accessing
the service

Identify a range of
alternative options
that young people
will be able to
access
 Street and
detached youth
work
 School based
interventions
 Using
community
settings
Identify a range of
alternative options
that young people
will be able to
access
 Using local
youth
organisations

The service will
continue to meet
young people who
are current
members.

Increase in usage
for youth
organisations where
young people are
signposted to

Partner
Organisati
ons/Servic
e Manager

July to Aug
16

Monitoring the data
of contacts and
targeted youth work

Improved outcomes
for young people
attending targeted
youth work
Decrease in youth
service ‘open
access’ reflects
Increase in usage of
local youth

YS Ops
Manager

Sept – Dec
16
Jan – Apr
17

The service will
engage new
members

11

A45
organisations
MONITORING AND REVIEW
8. How will the actions identified above be monitored and reviewed and where
will the actions be captured i.e. Business Plan, project plan, service and
improvement plan, service plan poster or Personal Development Plan?
Monitoring
 where delivery is changing this will be captured within regular sessional plans
and reviews and monitored through termly plans evidencing the support provided
for young people
 monitoring of youth service data quarterly to establish changes in membership
and increased engagement of vulnerable groups i.e. looked after children or
young offenders
 monitoring the impact on protected groups through the youth service data
particularly on age, gender, ethnicity and disability
 KPI’s are submitted quarterly to the performance board
Review
 The actions will be reviewed at six months after change in delivery and again at
12 months
BENEFITS OF CHANGES
9. Provide bullet points of the improvements this will bring?







Reduced facilities will result in improved maintenance and investment in
remaining centres
Centres will be more effectively and efficiency used by the youth service and
community groups
Broadening the reach through detached and streetwork, school work, using other
community settings by going out to where young people are will enable a diverse
approach to engaging groups currently under represented i.e. Korean community
Engaging more vulnerable and at risk groups earlier will provide better early help
services
Targeted groups will receive more/new opportunities to increase their personal,
social and emotional development towards their transition to adulthood
Local voluntary youth organisation will have a greater share of the youth work
offer locally in Kingston
PUBLISHING THE COMPLETED ANALYSIS

When completed, the equality assessment should be approved by a member
of AfC Management Team and published on the Achieving for Children
website. Please provide details below:
Approved by
Date of approval:
Date of
publication:

12

A46

13

Adults and Children’s Committee

B1

Appendix B

16 March 2015
Special Educational Needs and Disability Home to School Transport Policy
Joint Director of Children's Services (Kingston and Richmond)
Purpose
To set out the updates to the policy and eligibility criteria for home to school transport
assistance for pupils with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) in Kingston
upon Thames in response to new statutory guidance issued in July 2014 and the SEND
reforms introduced under the Children and Families Act 2014.
Recommendations of the Portfolio Holder for Children’s Social Care and Health
To Resolve that
1.

the updated policy and eligibility criteria for home to school transport assistance for
pupils with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) in Kingston upon
Thames attached at Annex 1 to the report is approved to take effect from 1
September 2016; and

2.

the joint policy approach with the Richmond upon Thames that enables Achieving
for Children (AfC) to implement a cross borough delivery model is approved.

Key Points
A.

The Council has a statutory duty under sections 508B, 508C, of the Education Act
1996 (by virtue of section 6 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006) to ensure
that suitable travel arrangements are made, where necessary, to facilitate a child’s
attendance at school and to promote the sustainable use of travel and transport.

B.

In 2014 the Department for Education issued new statutory guidance on Home to
School transport in the light of the SEND (special educational needs and
disabilities) reforms introduced under the Children and Families Act 2014. There
has been no change to the statutory duties placed on Local Authorities but there
have been amendments made to the guidance on appeals and it should be noted
there is a difference between the guidance on post 16 transport and that for
compulsory school aged children (5-16).

C.

The Kingston SEN Transport policy issued in 2007 has been updated to reflect the
new guidance. The updated policy has been produced by Achieving for Children
and developed on behalf of both Kingston upon Thames and Richmond upon
Thames Council’s. The revised policy is attached in Annex 1 to this report.

D.

The SEN transport budget is one of the one of the Council’s high risk budgets due
to the statutory and demand led nature of the provision. The budget on SEND
transport in 2015/15 is forecasted to be £2,495,500 and is projecting a small
overspend of £198,278. The demand for transport assistance is anticipated to grow
in line with the growth in children and young people with SEND.

E.

The main benefit of developing a joint policy with Richmond upon Thames is that
Achieving for Children will be able achieve financial efficiencies through a joint
service and shared delivery model that will offset any further overspends in the
future due to increased demand.

Context

B2

1.

The Council has a statutory duty under sections 508B, 508C, of the Education Act
1996 (by virtue of section 6 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006) to ensure
that suitable travel arrangements are made, where necessary, to facilitate a child’s
attendance at school and to promote the sustainable use of travel and transport.

2.

In 2014 the Department for Education issued new statutory guidance on Home to
School transport in light of the SEND reforms introduced under the Children and
Families Act 2014.

3.

The Kingston SEN Transport policy issued in 2007 has been updated to reflect the
new guidance. There has been no change to the statutory duties placed on Local
Authorities but there have been amendments made to the guidance on appeals and
it should be noted there is a difference between the guidance on post 16 transport
and that for compulsory school aged children (5-16).

4.

The policy includes travel assistance for children and young people who cannot
walk to school because of mobility problems or issues related to SEND.

5.

The updated policy also sets out the eligibility criteria for travel assistance. This
includes how parents and carers can apply for travel assistance, how decisions are
made, and how parents and carers may appeal against decisions they do not
believe comply with the policy. The intention of the policy is to ensure that pupils
with SEND are supported to access high-quality education appropriate to their
needs.

6.

The 2014 statutory guidance on the eligibility criteria for home to school transport in
relation to residency, distance and journey times remains unchanged.:
Residency

The policy applies only to children and young people who
are ordinarily resident in Kingston upon Thames or who
are in the care of the local authority. The policy continues
to define home to school transport as between a pupil’s
home address (where he or she is normally and habitually
resident) and his or her school.

Distance

The distance criteria in the statutory guidance require local
authorities to provide home to school transport to all pupils
aged 7 and under who live over two miles from school;
and to pupils aged 8 to 16 years who live over three miles
from school. The distance criteria will not be applied when
assessing the transport needs of eligible pupils with
SEND.

Journey times

The policy maintains the current commitment to a
maximum journey time of 75 minutes for pupils with SEND
when travelling to in-borough schools. The policy
recognises that occasionally journey times may be
affected by traffic conditions and other environmental
factors.

B3
7.

The eligibility criteria relating to age, non-school travel and transport options
have changed from the 2010 policy:

Age

In line with the statutory guidance, the policy applies only to
pupils of statutory school age (aged 5 to 16 years).
The policy does include discretion to provide travel assistance
for pre-school children with an Education, Health and Care
Plan (EHCP) in some exceptional circumstances. It also gives
discretion to provide travel assistance to young people aged up
to 19 where their school is named in their EHCP or Statement
of Special Educational Needs. However, these are not
statutory obligations.

Non-school
travel

Transport
options

The policy restricts travel assistance to transport between
home and school only and does not relate to transport to sports
facilities; work experience, work placements, apprenticeships,
traineeships; medical appointments; collection from school due
to illness; parental attendance at meetings; extended hours
school clubs and activities.
In response to the 2014 SEND reforms, the policy promotes
independence for children and young people with SEND by
implementing a broader range of transport options, including:
allocation of travel ‘buddies’; independent travel training; cycle
training; and reimbursement of parental mileage expenses.
These options will be provided as an alternative to bus and taxi
travel.

8.

The 2014 guidance also recommends that local authorities regularly their local
arrangements, arrangements and contracts to ensure best value for money is
achieved.

9.

The commissioning responsibility for the home school transport has been delegated
to Achieving for Children. They are also responsible for commissioning these
services on behalf of Richmond Council.

10.

This has enabled Achieving for children to develop a more cost effective model by
developing cross borough route management systems, implementing a wider range
of transport options and jointly re-procuring transport contracts.

11.

Achieving for Children are currently re- procuring the taxi and private bus services
on behalf both Council’s.

Consultation
12.

Local authorities must take steps to ascertain the views of young people and take
them into account in making decisions about services in accordance with Education
Act 1996.

13.

There has been extensive consultation with parents and professionals on the
updated policy through the SEND Transport Steering Group.

B4
14.

Consultation events for parents and carers took place in November and December
2015 in partnership with SEND Family Voices, a local community organisation
funded by the Department for Education to represent the views of parents of
children and young people with SEND in Kingston upon Thames and Richmond
upon Thames.

15.

There was also consultation during the development of the policy with the headteachers of local primary, secondary and special schools.

16.

Responses to the consultation and medical advice led to a revision to the policy to
enable passenger assistants to administer the medication Buccal Midazolam
(seizure management medication).

17.

A family-friendly version of the approved policy will be produced in partnership with
SEND Family Voices in April 2016.

Timescale
18.

The updated policy will be introduced in September 2016 once the new contracts
for the taxi and private bus services are in place.

Resource Implications
19.

The SEN transport budget is one of the one of the Council’s high risk budgets due
to the statutory and demand led nature of the provision. The budget on SEND
transport in 2015/15 is forecasted to be £2,495,500 and is projecting a small
overspend of £198,278.

20.

The budget has been consistently managed and stable over recent years but is now
increasing due to the increasing numbers of SEND pupils eligible and accessing the
service and further growth has been forecast to recognise the growth in pupil
numbers.

21.

Through the delivery of a joint policy and joint delivery model across Kingston and
Richmond it is anticipated that Achieving for Children will deliver mitigate against
any further overspends resulting from the forecasted growth in numbers.

Legal Implications
22.

The updated policy complies with the statutory duties placed on local authorities
under sections 444, 508A, 508B, 508C, 508D, 509AD and Schedule 35B of the
Education Act 1996. The duty to secure the views of young people has also been
discharged by way of consultation.

23.

The policy also reflects the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 and Children and
Families Act 2014.

Risk Assessment
24.

There is a risk that the budget for SEND transport is not sufficient to meet growing
demand for the service. Implementation of this revised policy will help to manage
this demand and control expenditure.

25.

Expenditure will be monitored monthly within AfC and through regular financial
reporting to the Council as commissioner of the service.

B5
Equalities Impact Assessment
26.

An Equalities Assessment has been completed (attached at Annex 2). The
assessment identifies that the new policy marks a change from the current policy in
relation to age on the basis that pre-school children and young people beyond
statutory school age will no longer be eligible for home to school transport unless
there are exceptional circumstances.

27.

Appropriate actions are being put in place by Achieving for Children to ensure that
this policy change is communicated to young people, their parents and carers in
partnership with SEND Family Voices.

Road Network Implications- None
Environmental Implications
28.

This policy supports the Council’s duty to promote the use of sustainable travel and
transport.

29.

The policy sets out arrangements to support sustainable school transport, including
the promotion of walking routes and the provision of independent travel training.

Author of the report: Elizabeth Brandill-Pepper, Lead Commissioner for Children’s
Services. Email: elizabeth.brandill@kingston.gov.uk. Tel No: 0208 547 5731.
Background papers held by: Eamonn Gilbert, Partnership and Lead Commissioner AfC
eamonn.gilbert@achievingforchildren.co.uk Tel No: 0208-547-5283
List of Annexes:
Annex 1 – Special Educational Needs and Disability Home to School
Transport Policy
Annex 2 – Equalities Impact Assessment

B6

Achieving for Children on behalf of the
London Borough of Richmond upon Thames and the
Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames

SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS & DISABILITIES
HOME TO SCHOOL TRANSPORT POLICY

Date to be revised: January 2021
1

B7

Contents
Introduction .........................................................................................................................4
Policy statement...................................................................................................................4
Eligibility ..............................................................................................................................6
All pupils ...................................................................................................................................6
School-age pupils with SEND....................................................................................................7
Pre-school children with SEND.................................................................................................7
Post-16 students with SEND.....................................................................................................8
Transition to adulthood............................................................................................................9
Short-term difficulties ............................................................................................................10
Respite and foster care ..........................................................................................................11
Re-housed children ................................................................................................................11
Dual & link placements, inclusion and pupil referral units.....................................................11
Residential schools .................................................................................................................12
Application Process ............................................................................................................12
Assessing transport assistance entitlement for pupils with SEND .........................................12
SEN Statements and Education, Health and Care Plans.........................................................14
Nearest suitable school and parental preference ..................................................................14
Appeals...................................................................................................................................14
Transport assistance options ..............................................................................................16
Independent travel.................................................................................................................17
Passenger assistants...............................................................................................................17
Implementing the policy.....................................................................................................18
Transport management .........................................................................................................18
Pick-up and drop-off arrangements .......................................................................................18
Timing.....................................................................................................................................19
Absences ................................................................................................................................19
Alternative arrangements ......................................................................................................20
Parents with other commitments ..........................................................................................20
Severe weather ......................................................................................................................21
Risk assessments ....................................................................................................................21
Medication .............................................................................................................................21
Journey times .........................................................................................................................22
Behaviour standards ..............................................................................................................22
Providing a quality service ..................................................................................................24
Transport standards ...............................................................................................................24
2

B8
Continuity...............................................................................................................................25
Safeguarding ..........................................................................................................................25
Local Authority Designated Officer ........................................................................................26
Comments, compliments and complaints..............................................................................26
Equalities Statement ..........................................................................................................27

3

B9

Introduction
1.

Home to school transport in the London Borough of Richmond and Royal Borough of
Kingston upon Thames (the Councils) is delivered by Achieving for Children (AfC). AfC
is a social enterprise company created by the two Councils to provide their children's
services.

2.

The Councils and AfC are committed to meeting the educational needs of as many
children and young people as possible within local schools. In most cases, this will
mean that children and young people can walk or cycle to school with their parents or
carers. This policy sets out how we will help the small number of children and young
people who find it difficult to travel to school without some assistance.

Policy statement
3.

The Councils are committed to ensuring that all children and young people lead safe
and healthy lives and have access to high quality education so that they are able to
achieve their full potential. The Children and Young People’s Plans commit partners to
work together to develop services that strengthen the abilities and resilience of
children and their families to be independent. This includes encouraging partners to
work together to increase the independence of children and young people with special
educational needs and disabilities (SEND).

4.

This policy sets out the criteria for eligibility for travel assistance, how parents and
carers should apply for travel assistance, how decisions are made and how parents and
carers may appeal against decisions that they believe do not comply with this policy.
The intention of this policy is to ensure that children and young people with SEND are
appropriately supported to access suitable education.

5.

The policy has been developed in consultation with parents and carers and is based on
the statutory requirements placed on local authorities in Home to School Travel and
Transport: Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities (Department for Education, 2014),
as well as the Special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 years
Statutory guidance for organisations which work with and support children
(Department for Education, 2015) and the Local Offer (www.afclocaloffer.org.uk).

6.

This policy applies only to children and young people with SEND. It requires that
eligibility for such children should be assessed on an individual basis to identify the
child’s individual transport requirements. There is a separate home to school
transport policy for all other pupils.

4

B10
7.

Local Authorities duties to provide SEND transport applies only to children and young
people of statutory school age (ages five to 16). All other SEND transport provision set
out in this policy is provided on a discretionary basis.

8.

This policy applies to all children and young people who are resident in Richmond upon
Thames or Kingston upon Thames (or who are children in the care of either Council).
The policy defines home to school transport as between a pupil’s main home address
and his or her school. A pupil’s main home address is the place where he or she is
habitually and normally resident.

9.

This policy applies only to home-to-school travel arrangements. It does not, for
example, relate to: transport to sports facilities; work experience or work placements,
apprenticeships or traineeships; medical appointments; visits to other schools or
locations (including school trips); collection from school due to illness; parental
attendance at meetings; travel to or from extended hours school clubs or exams.
Where pupils have more than one address, home to school transport will be based on
the residence where the pupil habitually resides.

10.

If schools would like a pupil to attend a part-time timetable (either to transition on a
shorter day basis to a new school placement, or where a child has been placed on a
reduced timetable) the school must communicate with the SEND Transport Service
and seek approval before putting this in place.

11.

Transport assistance can only be provided on the basis of assessed need, rather than
parental preference. All parents and carers requiring transport assistance for their
child should submit an application for transport assistance. Only on receipt of an
application will be transport assistance be considered.

12.

Only where a child or young person is assessed as meeting the eligibility criteria set out
in this policy, will he or she be entitled to assistance with transport between home and
school.

13.

AfC will assess and consider home to school transport on the basis of the most
efficient and cost-effective use of the Councils’ resources.

5

B11

Eligibility
All pupils
14.

The legal responsibility for ensuring children and young people receive education rests
with their parents or carers. Generally, parents and carers are expected to make their
own arrangements for ensuring children and young people travel to and from school
to guarantee that they attend school regularly.

15.

Under-18s are eligible for free and/or discounted rates of travel within London. There
are different schemes for different age ranges and you may need to apply for an
Oyster photocard. For further information, please go to the Transport for London (TfL)
website, https://tfl.gov.uk/. AfC expects pupils to make use of the free/discounted
travel available and applications for this should be made directly to TfL.

16.

Local authorities have a statutory duty to provide free transport to all pupils who meet
the statutory walking distances eligibility criteria set out in the Home to School Travel
and Transport guidance:



If a child is under 8 years of age and lives over two miles from school; or
If a child is aged between 8 and 16 years and lives over three miles from school.

In both cases, the pupil must be attending the nearest suitable school. This is defined
as a school which has places available and that the local authority deems to provide
education appropriate to the age, aptitude and ability of the pupil and any SEND he or
she may have.
17.

In addition, for pupils who are entitled to free school meals or their parents or carers
are in receipt of maximum Working Tax Credit, free travel assistance will be provided,
if:




The nearest suitable school is beyond two miles (for children over the age of 8 and
under 11);
The school is between two and six miles (for children aged 11-16 where there are
not three or more suitable nearer schools);
The school is between two and 15 miles and is the nearest school preferred on the
grounds of religion or belief (for children aged 11-16).

18.

Local authorities are also required to make transport arrangements for all pupils who
cannot reasonably be expected to walk to their nearest suitable school because the
nature of the route is deemed inappropriate.

19.

In the case of an eligible child, there is no duty to provide free school transport unless
either:
6

B12




No arrangements relating to travel in either direction between the pupil’s home
and school are provided free of charge by any other person or organisation; or
Such travel arrangements are provided, but (even if taken together with any other
such arrangements) they are not suitable for the purpose of facilitating the pupil’s
attendance at school.

School-age pupils with SEND
20.

Local authorities must make transport arrangements for all children who cannot
reasonably be expected to walk to school because of their mobility problems or
because of associated health and safety issues related to their SEND. Eligibility for
such children should be assessed on an individual basis to identify the pupil’s particular
transport requirements. Usual transport requirements (for example, the statutory
walking distances) will not be considered when assessing the transport needs of
children and young people who are eligible due to their SEND.

Pre-school children with SEND
21.

Local authorities do not have a duty to provide or arrange free transport for children
who have not yet reached statutory school age. However, transport assistance
applications will be considered for children below statutory school age in some
exceptional circumstances and it is expected that such children will already have an
Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP). In applying this exemption, AfC must be
satisfied that, without such assistance, the child would be prevented from attending
an appropriate nursery or early years’ education placement.

22.

The general expectation is that a pre-school child will be accompanied on transport by
a parent or carer, unless there is a good reason why it would not reasonable to expect
parents or carers to do so.

23.

In assessing eligibility for pre-school children, particular attention will be paid to the
following criteria:






The age of the child;
The distance between home and nursery;
The SEND of the child;
The reasons for the pre-school education placement; and
Whether the child has other siblings (of an age where it is not reasonable to expect
them to travel alone) attending school(s) a significant distance away from the
provision proposed for the child.

Post-16 students with SEND
7

B13

24.

Where it is decided that a statutory school age pupil is eligible for transport, the
entitlement to this provision may continue up to, and including, the academic year in
which they turn 16 years old (although current eligibility is no indication of future
eligibility).

25.

Local authorities do not currently have a statutory duty to provide or arrange free
transport to or from post-16 education placements (including sixth form provision or
colleges) for students aged 16 years and over since these young people are above
statutory school age.

26.

Local authorities do have a duty to specify the arrangements for the provision of
transport or otherwise that it considers is necessary to facilitate the attendance of all
young persons aged 16 and over receiving education or training. The duty applies in
respect of arrangements for young people (over statutory school age) aged 16 to 18
and those continuing learners who started their programme of learning before their
19th birthday.

27.

Where a pupil with SEND remains based at the school named in their Statement of
Special Educational Needs (Statement) or EHCP beyond their 16th birthday, AfC will
ordinarily continue to arrange their transport until the end of the academic year in
which they turn 19 years of age. Where a young person’s school or college changes
post-16, his or her eligibility for travel assistance will be re-assessed - see paragraph 28
for further information.

28.

A student aged 16 to 19 studying at a school or college or on a training course
(including an unpaid apprenticeship or traineeship) is entitled to apply for a bursary,
which can be used for transport. The application is made directly to the education
provider (for example, school or college). Information about applying for a bursary is
available at www.gov.uk/1619-bursary-fund/overview. Prior to requesting post-16
travel assistance, a student would be expected to have applied for a bursary and, if in
receipt of one, to be spending at least one-third of it on travel.

29.

In assessing eligibility for students in post-16 education and training, particular
attention will be paid to the following criteria:






Whether this student is in current receipt of a bursary fund and to what value;
The location of the sixth form unit or college the student would like to attend
(if this is not local provision, the Councils and AfC would need to know that the
course being taken is not available locally);
Whether the sixth form unit is an extension to the school previously attended
by the student and named in their Statement or EHCP; and
The SEND of the student.
8

B14

30.

Where it is agreed to provide travel assistance to young people post-16 education and
training, the assistance will take one of three forms:





Reimbursement of train/tube travel, where students have received
independent travel training and are able to use public transport to make solo
journeys (parents or carers would need to confirm that this person is able to
travel independently);
Mileage reimbursement, where students are not able to travel independently,
but where parents or carers are able to provide transport; or
A standard travel allowance, equivalent in value to a mileage reimbursement,
which can be put towards the cost of alternative transport (for example, a
private taxi) where students are not able to travel independently and parents
or carers are not able to provide transport.

Reimbursements and standard travel allowances are calculated in accordance with net
household income. These figures are reviewed on a regular basis.
For the academic year 2016/17:
If your net household income is:
Up to £20,817 per year
£20,818 – £25,521 per year
£25,522 - £30,810 per year
£30,811 or more per year

Reimbursement percentage
100% of transport costs
65% of transport costs
35% of transport costs
Discretionary, dependent on total
value of household income and
total cost of transport

Transition to adulthood
31.

Transport may continue to be provided up to the end of the academic year in which a
young person turns 19 years of age (for example, if his or her birthday is in December,
he or she may continue to receive transport until July in the following year);
consideration of any future transport needs will form part of the young persons
transition into adulthood plan. Adult Services within the local authority work closely
with children’s services and take a lead in this for adult services. Information is
available from:
Kingston Adult Social Care

adults@kingston.gov.uk
020 8547 5005
adultsocialservices@richmond.gov.uk

Richmond Adult Social Care
9

B15
020 8891 7971
Short-term difficulties
32.

Pupils who do not receive transport assistance: pupils who have short-term
difficulties (for example, a short-term illness or health difficulty) may be eligible for
transport assistance to and from school.

33.

Pupils receiving bus transport provision: where a child receives home to school
transport from a private bus company and cannot get to and from a collection point
(for example, due to a broken leg or other short-term illness) temporary assistance
may be offered as replacement for this service. Although the child’s SEND has not
changed, temporary physical or medical constraints make it difficult for the child to
access the service.

34.

Pupils who have temporarily changed address: transport assistance may not be
provided where a child who usually receives assistance moves to a different address in
the short-term if the changed address results in additional transport costs. The parent
or carer will be expected to pay any additional costs associated with the short-term
move, or make their own transport arrangements.

35.

Parents with a disability or illness: where a parent with a disability or illness has
difficulty in getting their child to and from school, additional support may be provided
by adult social care services within the local authorities.

36.

Parents with authorised mileage allowances: temporary assistance may be provided
in those instances where parents or carers in receipt of authorised mileage allowances
cannot transport their child to and from school due to a short-term illness.

37.

Parents who are unable to take their child to a collection point: no temporary
assistance will be provided in those circumstances where a parent or carer is unable to
take their child to and from a collection point for onward transport to school by a
private bus company. This is because the child’s special educational need or disability
has not changed and the transport service from the collection point is still available.

10

B16
Respite and foster care
38.

While providing transport to and from respite and foster care is not a statutory duty,
the Councils and AfC recognise that respite care provides valuable and necessary
support to parents and carers. Applications for transport from a respite care
placement to the pupil’s school will therefore be considered. It is the responsibility of
the parents or carers to notify the SEN Transport Service of the dates of respite at least
ten days in advance to allow sufficient time to plan the transport.

Re-housed children
39.

If a family has moved to an address within a different local authority area, the
responsibility for the child’s Statement or EHCP and their home to school transport
transfers to the local authority area in which they are residing. This is because the
family have become ordinarily resident in the new area. This is the case regardless of
which local authority is paying the family’s housing costs.

40.

Ordinary residence is established if there is a regular habitual mode of life in a
particular place "for the time being", whether this is of short or long duration, the
continuity of which has persisted apart from temporary or occasional absences.

Dual & link placements, inclusion and pupil referral units
41.

Dual placements are where a pupil attends more than one school, or where a school
arranges a college link placement for a pupil. Dual placements may require additional
transport assistance, such as transport at earlier or later times, or during the school
day. Schools are responsible for arranging and paying for the cost of such transport.
Where a pupil is on roll at one school but visits another school or college for inclusion
or link purposes, the school where the pupil is usually based will be responsible for
arranging and paying for transport. These arrangements also apply to pupil referral
units.

42.

AfC has the discretion to arrange transport for integration purposes.

43.

The Councils and AfC expect all pupils attending pupil referral units to travel between
home and the unit by bus if they have not made alternative arrangements. All bus
transport for children aged 18 and under is provided by Transport for London free of
charge with the use of the correct Oyster photo-card – www.tfl.gov.uk.

11

B17
Residential schools
44.

Pupils attending termly boarding school placements funded by the local authority for a
standard 38 to 40-week academic year (and who are eligible for transport assistance)
will be provided with transport assistance between home and school for the start and
end of each term period (generally half-termly). This equates to 12 one-way journeys
(four journeys per term). Pupils attending weekly boarding school placements funded
by the local authority will be provided with weekly transport. Transport for pupils in
52-week residential school placements funded by the local authority will be agreed on
an individual basis.

45.

Transport assistance for any pupils attending termly boarding school placements will
not exceed the 12 one-way journeys. If the school is closed on a weekly or fortnightly
basis, this must be reflected in the fees being paid by the local authority for the school
placement and, accordingly, transport will be provided to coincide with school closure.

46.

Transport assistance will not be provided to parents, carers or family members who
wish to visit residential schools for any reason. Any arrangements of this nature will
need to be agreed directly with the school. In exceptional cases, parents or carers may
be provided with transport assistance to school a maximum of once per year to attend
their child’s annual review.

47.

Parents or carers who wish to accompany their child on the first day at school will be
expected to make their own transport arrangements. Where a school stipulates that a
parent or carer should attend on the first day, private transport must be arranged.

Application Process
Assessing transport assistance entitlement for pupils with SEND
48.

In order for a child to be assessed for transport assistance entitlement, parents or
carers must complete an online application form accessed via the Local Offer website –
www.afclocaloffer.org.uk. All parents of children or young people who are awarded an
EHCP will be advised about this process clearly within a letter from the SEND Service
within AfC. The SEND transport assessment is also a standard section in the current
EHCP documentation in Kingston and Richmond. The SEND Service is required to
provide a separate referral to the SEND Transport Service to confirm the basis of a
child’s school placement.

49.

When assessing entitlement for transport assistance for pupils with SEND, the SEND
Transport Service will consider the individual needs of each child. This may include
taking professional advice from Educational Psychologists, medical officers and
12

B18
teachers and consulting with parents and carers before arriving at a final decision.
Consideration will also be given to the pupil’s physical and medical requirements
including any disabilities they may have. Assessment may include face-to-face contact
with the pupil. The findings and decision will be recorded on a Transport Assessment
Form.
50.

In determining whether a pupil cannot reasonably be expected to walk between home
and school, the service will consider whether the pupil could reasonably be expected
to walk if accompanied and, if so, whether the pupil’s parent or carer can reasonably
be expected to accompany their child. The general expectation is that a child will be
accompanied by a parent or carer, unless there is good reason why it is not reasonable
to expect the parent to do so.

51.

Consideration will be given to the following factors when assessing transport
entitlement:











The age of the pupil;
The distance of the pupil from school to home;
Whether the walking route is appropriate for the pupil;
The SEND of the pupil;
Whether the pupil has physical, medical or a social communication difficulty that
would prevent them from using public transport;
Whether suitable and accessible public transport is available;
Whether the pupil may be vulnerable and at risk of danger if he or she uses public
or other transport;
Whether the pupil would be a danger to drivers, other passengers and/or the
vehicle if using public or other transport;
The efficient utilisation of resources;
Any other individual circumstance.

This is not an exhaustive list. It is not presented in any particular order and is for
guidance only. Satisfaction of one or more of the criteria does not automatically
entitle a pupil with SEND to transport assistance.
52.

The fact that a pupil has a Statement, an EHCP or attends a special school does not
automatically entitle him or her to transport assistance.

53.

Eligibility for transport assistance is related to the pupil’s needs. Assessment may take
into account the need for transport assistance due to some family circumstances. This
will primarily be if a pupil has other siblings attending schools not local to the SEN
provision offered to them, or is offered SEN provision at a school which is not their
local provision. These factors will be considered when determining eligibility for home
to school travel assistance and deciding on the type of transport to be provided. Other
13

B19
family circumstances, such as parents and carers attending work or looking after other
children, cannot be considered when determining eligibility.
SEN Statements and Education, Health and Care Plans
54.

The Special Educational Needs and Disability Code of Practice states that transport
should be recorded in a Statement or EHCP only in exceptional cases, where the child
or young person has particular transport needs.

55.

AfC’s guidance to schools states that they should carefully review each pupil’s
individual transport needs at least once per year and advises that this could be
completed as part of the annual review for pupils with Statements or EHCPs. This is of
particular importance for pupils who are in Year 7 and above, who will be beginning
their final phase of compulsory education and who may not receive any further
transport assistance after they leave school to attend their choice of further education
placement or employment.

56.

Based on the outcome of reviews, AfC will make any changes necessary to transport
arrangements which are the result of a pupil’s changing needs. For example, a pupil
may no longer require a passenger assistant or, by agreement, may be ready to start
independent travel training. Any interim changes in circumstances may also result in a
change in eligibility for transport assistance. For example, the family may have moved
home to be closer to the school. Once a pupil is eligible for transport assistance, it
does not guarantee they will continue to be eligible in the future.

57.

The provision of transport assistance will also be reviewed to reflect any changes in
government policy or legislation.

Nearest suitable school and parental preference
58.

The nearest suitable school is one that the local authority deems to be suitable for the
age, ability, aptitude and specific needs of the pupil.

59.

Parents and carers may express a preference for any maintained school or any form of
academy or free school they wish their child to attend. If a parent or carer does
express a preference for their child to attend a school further away than the nearest
suitable school, then the local authorities and AfC reserve the right to refuse transport
assistance to that school.

Appeals
60.

If AfC, on behalf of the Councils, declines a request for transport assistance, the pupil’s
parents or carers will be advised in writing of the decision and given details of how and
14

B20
when to appeal.
During an appeal about an initial application for travel assistance, transport will not be
provided to the pupil. Where the appeal concerns a change to transport arrangements
for a child who has previously been assessed as eligible, then the previously agreed
transport arrangements will continue.
The appeal process is outlined below:

15

B21
Transport assistance options
61.

Transport assistance may take one of the following forms:










Use of the free travel provided by TfL using an Oyster photo-card;
Provision of a TfL travel-card;
The allocation of a travel buddy;
Training to travel independently (walking and using public transport);
Training to cycle independently (reimbursement of bicycle and safety equipment);
The offer of funded driving lessons (where pupils are of the correct age, and this is
the most cost-efficient option);
Reimbursing mileage costs for parents or carers;
Provision of a private bus service; or
Provision of individual taxis or licensed private car hire (in exceptional
circumstances).

62.

Parents and carers are required to complete an application for home to school
transport assistance. Once eligibility has been assessed and agreed, transport will
ordinarily take between 6 and 12 working days to arrange. In some cases this may
take longer; for example, where there is a need for a specialist vehicle. This time
period allows the SEND Transport Service sufficient time to assess each child’s needs,
obtain quotes for the transport provider, and ensure that appropriate safeguarding
procedures are in place.

63.

Parents and carers will be informed of the transport arrangements in writing in
advance of travel. They will be provided with a Getting to School booklet which sets
out the arrangements and duties of AfC and the transport provider, alongside the
responsibilities of parents and carers. Parents and carers will be asked to confirm
agreement to the arrangements by signing and returning a letter of agreement.
Transport will not commence until the signed letter of agreement is received.

64.

Availability of transport is not guaranteed. For example: a case may arise where a
young person is non-ambulant, but has not been allocated a crash-tested buggy or
wheelchair for use on transport. Transport crews are not permitted to lift pupils onto
or off transport. Parents, carers and schools are also not permitted to lift pupils onto
or off transport as a situation may arise (such as a mechanical fault to the vehicle)
which may require the transport crews to lift the pupil during a journey. In these
circumstances, parental mileage reimbursement may be given as an alternative.

65.

Personalised transport will not be provided. Pupils must expect to travel to and from
school with other pupils unless there are exceptional circumstances where it would
not be reasonable to expect a pupil to do so.
16

B22

66.

Closed-circuit television (CCTV) with audio recording or global positioning systems
(GPS) may be used on vehicles. The CCTV footage will not be shared or circulated with
anyone outside the Councils or AfC, but, along with GPS, can help to improve the
speed and accuracy of incident resolution, and also supports transport crew training.

Independent travel
67.

Local authorities have a duty to encourage, enable and assist the participation of
young people with learning difficulties and/or disabilities up to the age of 25 in
education and training. Independent travel training aims to achieve this. Schools are
responsible for providing independent travel training to children and young people
with SEND where this is appropriate.

68.

Independent travel is a valuable life skill, an essential employability skill, and provides
greater opportunities for young people, not least increasing confidence in their abilities
and reducing their sense of reliance on family members.

69.

The Councils and AfC will consider the following criteria when considering which pupils
should be offered independent travel training opportunities:








Existing level of independent travel skills;
The age of pupil;
The distance between home and school;
The SEND of the pupil;
The route which would need to be followed ;
Journey times using public transport; and
The frequency of the journeys required.

Passenger assistants
70.

Passenger assistants will be provided on some transport routes. The provision or nonprovision of a passenger assistant on a route is based on several factors, including:






71.

The age of the pupil;
The distance between home and school;
Information provided on the Transport Assessment Form;
The SEND of the pupil; and
The number of other pupils travelling on this route.

There is no minimum or maximum age that determines whether a passenger assistant
will be automatically provided and AfC will consider age in conjunction with all the
17

B23
factors listed above in paragraph 68 to make its decision.
72.

Where a pupil travels on his or her own, the Councils and AfC encourage parents and
carers (or a person known to the pupil and aged 18 or over) to act as his or her
passenger assistant. Payment is not made in such cases. Provision of a passenger
assistant at any one time does not guarantee that this will be an ongoing arrangement;
the requirement will be re-assessed in the pupil’s annual review, periodically during the
year, and in the event of any change in circumstances.

Implementing the policy
Transport management
73.

Transport is co-ordinated and managed by the SEND Transport Service in AfC on behalf
of the local authorities. Each transport provider (whether taxi or private bus) will also
have a nominated controller who is the first point of contact for schools, parents and
carers, and who is responsible for the day-to-day operation of the service.

Pick-up and drop-off arrangements
74.

Transport providers are authorised to make pick-ups and drop-offs at authorised pickup points only. The authorised points will usually be those specified on the Statement
or EHCP (normally the home and school address), or, in the case of bus journeys, an
allocated bus stop or collection point. Parents and carers should provide one
alternative address, wherever possible, which must be within one mile of the usual
home address, to be used in the event that the parent or carer is unable to meet the
child. Any changes to these addresses, whether permanent or temporary, must be
communicated in writing to the SEND Transport Service. Until written confirmation is
received, the only other authorised place for drop-off will be the nearest Children and
Family Services Centre. The location of this centre will be communicated to parents
and carers at the start of each transport arrangement. A change of address will be
regarded as a change in circumstances, which may affect a pupil’s eligibility for
transport assistance.

75.

Collection points may be introduced on some routes, where the pupils are ambulant,
to improve the efficiency of the route and reduce journey times for pupils. Where the
introduction of collection points is being considered, the Councils and AfC will consult
with the parents and carers affected by this change in service.

76.

Where a collection point is allocated, it is the parent’s or carer’s responsibility to make
sure that their child travels to and from the collection point safely.

18

B24
Timing
77.

The timings for pick-up and drop-off will be specified by the appropriate transport
provider’s controller and parents and carers must ensure they are aware of the correct
times. Times may change if new pupils join a route, or if pupils leave a route.

78.

Where pupils are picked up or dropped-off at home, the parent or carer is responsible
for accompanying the pupil to and from their door to the vehicle. The parent or carer
should keep a lookout for the vehicle’s arrival since the vehicle will not sound its horn.
It is against the law to sound a horn from a stationary vehicle. In exceptional
circumstances (for example: where the child travels alone in a taxi with a passenger
assistant) the driver or passenger assistant may call at the door or telephone ahead,
although this is at the discretion of the transport crew. Any variation to the usual
procedure must be agreed with the controller. Parents and carers must ensure that
there are no delays in making pupils available for the journey (or collecting them in the
evenings) as this is one of the main factors affecting total journey times and can have a
detrimental effect on how other passengers manage the remainder of their journey.

79.

In order to minimise journey times for every pupil on the transport, pupils are required
to be available within three minutes of the specified time of pick-up, and parents or
carers are required to be available within three minutes of the specified time of dropoff. If the pupil, parent or carer is not available within that time, the transport
provider’s will attempt to make telephone contact with the parent or carer to find out
if there is a particular difficulty on that morning. If the controller is unable to make
direct contact with the parent or carer, the driver is instructed to leave that pickup/drop-off point and move onto the next point. Should the transport move on
without the pupil, transport to school will then become the responsibility of the parent
or carer for that individual journey. If the parent or carer is unavailable for pick-up on
school-home journeys, the child will be transported to the nearest place of safety.
Transport assistance will be reviewed and may be removed if there are ongoing delays.

80.

In some exceptional cases, to recognise the needs of an individual pupil, the threeminute waiting time may be adjusted and the transported provider informed.

81.

In some cases, it may not be legal or safe for the transport to stop directly outside a
pupil’s home. In these cases, parents and carers are required to walk with their child
to the safest nominated collection point, as specified by the transport provider.

19

B25
Absences
82.

Where a pupil cannot attend school on any particular day (for example, due to illness),
it is the parent’s or carer’s responsibility to contact the transport company
immediately. For long-term absences, parents or carers should contact the SEND
Transport Service.

83.

Parents and carers should contact their respective transport company the night before
travel if they know then that their child will be unwell on the following day.
Alternatively, they should contact the transport provider as early as possible on the
morning of travel if their child only shows signs of being unwell on the day he or she is
due to travel.

84.

All transport which is not cancelled in advance of the vehicle arriving at the home
address must be paid for by the Councils whether or not the pupil boards the vehicle.
Where parents or carers repeatedly fail to cancel transport provision for their child
before it arrives at the home address, or where a pupil suddenly refuses to travel in
transport which has arrived on any given day (without any prior notice having been
given to the transport company), the pupil’s transport provision will be reviewed.

85.

Where it can be established that public funds are being used inappropriately, as a
result of vehicles not being cancelled with sufficient prior warning, pupils may be
excluded from transport for a period of time. Parents and carers will be responsible
for transporting their own children during any period of exclusion from transport.

Alternative arrangements
86.

Transport providers are instructed to take children and young people to the nearest
place of safety in the event that a parent or carer is unable to meet the pupil at the
specified drop-off point at the specified time. Children’s social care services may be
notified and/or transport assistance withdrawn if this happens frequently. Parents,
carers or schools should contact the controller or SEND Transport Service if there are
any emergency changes. The controller will have a duty to advise parents, carers and
schools if there are going to be any foreseen delays to the delivery of the service.

Parents with other commitments
87.

It is not possible to take into account family circumstances when allocating pick-up and
drop-off times for pupils. Timings will be based on the most efficient route available.
The efficient planning of routes is a priority, especially as it is important to minimise
the time that pupils need to speed on transport on every route. If AfC were to
consider requests for pick-ups times from parentds or carers, then this could lead to
inequality, since a vehicle cannot collect two children from different addresses at the
same time. In addition, requests for pick-up times would also compromise route
20

B26
efficiencies – making them longer for all the other children and less economical.
88.

Transport assistance is awarded to pupils with SEND because of their needs and should
not be considered as an extension to childcare or a service which facilitates parents or
carers working or looking after other children who are not yet of school age.

Severe weather
89.

In cases of severe weather, where parents and carers are advised that transport has
been cancelled for their child’s morning, they should assume that transport will also be
cancelled for their child’s afternoon journey, unless they are advised otherwise. If
parents or carers decide to take their child to school despite the severe weather, they
will also need to arrange to collect their child after school.
Risk assessments
90.

Where the Councils and AfC agree to provide either private bus transport or taxi
transport for a pupil, it may be necessary to complete a risk assessment of their
physical and medical needs. Until this risk assessment is completed, transport
between home and school will be the responsibility of the parents or carers.

91.

Some pupils with SEND have physical and medical conditions which deteriorate over
time. If, at any point, it is felt by the SEND Transport Service that a further risk
assessment may be necessary to ensure that a child’s physical and medical needs are
being met on board transport, this risk assessment will be planned and completed.
Until the recommendations from this updated risk assessment are complete, it will be
the responsibility of the parents and carers to transport their child between home and
school.

Medication
92.

All members of transport staff have received accredited emergency first-aid training.

93.

Although there is no statutory duty for transport staff to administer medication, they
are expected to ensure the health and safety of all pupils in their care. First-aid
training includes: managing the symptoms of shock; dealing with an unconscious
casualty; cardiac arrest and cardiopulmonary resuscitation; choking; and seizures.

94.

The emergency services can advise members of transport staff about the closest
automated external defibrillator for use in treating a patient in cardiac arrest.

95.

AfC will ensure that every driver and passenger assistant is able to respond to an
emergency situation; however, they will not normally be expected to administer
medical assistance. Every parent, as part of their application, is required to provide
21

B27
detailed information directly to the SEND Transport Service about their child’s SEND
and medical needs. This information forms the basis of the pupil’s transport plan. In
some cases, where a child has very specific and complex needs, an additional care plan
from medical professionals may be required.
96.

Members of transport staff are not permitted to carry or administer medication or to
replace medical accessories (for example, gastrostomy or tracheotomy tubes) on
board a vehicle. The exception to this are pre-loaded EpiPens® or pre-loaded buccal
midazolam devices as these devices are loaded with the correct dosage of medication
and do not require members of transport staff to accurately measure medication
within a confined and possibly moving space.

97.

In the event of an emergency on board a vehicle, the procedure is for the passenger
assistant or driver to seek guidance from medical professionals by calling 999 and
asking for a paramedic crew to attend the scene. It is for parents or carers to decide
whether they wish for their child to travel on regular transport in these circumstances.

98.

Where it is assessed to be unsafe for a pupil with complex or acute medical needs to
travel with only a passenger assistant, AfC will seek to secure a medically-trained
professional, such as a nurse, to accompany the pupil on the vehicle. A risk
assessment will be undertaken to ensure the correct level of medical support can be
arranged.

Journey times
99.

The nature of transport congestion in London means that travelling times can vary
greatly. It is expected that children should arrive at school safely and fit to learn.
Journey times should reflect this. The maximum journey time for a pupil travelling to a
school in the borough in which they are resident is 75 minutes; however, this may be
affected from time-to-time by traffic pressures, road works and other environmental
and operational conditions. These journey times do not apply to pupils travelling to
out-borough schools, where distances and the frequency of journeys will vary.

Behaviour standards
100.

Any pupil may experience behavioural difficulties. AfC will work with schools, parents,
carers and transport providers to manage instances where a pupil exhibits extreme
behaviour characteristics. Poor behaviour may affect the concentration of the driver,
and the overall safety of the other pupils or passenger assistants, and in some cases
alternative arrangements will need to be made.

101.

In consultation with the pupil’s school, it may be necessary to issue periods of fixed or
permanent exclusion from transport. Parents and carers will be responsible for
transporting their own children during any period of exclusion from transport. Non22

B28
provision of transport during these periods does not mean that the Councils are not
fulfilling their statutory duties, merely that transport arrangements were made but, as
a result of behavioural issues, had to be suspended or removed.
102.

103.

Where an allegation of unacceptable behaviour is received (either from a parent,
carer, school or transport provider), the pupil against whom the allegation has been
made may be temporarily excluded from transport services, whilst an investigation is
completed. Written statements will be requested from the driver and any passenger
assistant; the school, SEND Panel and other parents or carers may also be consulted.
Depending on the SEND of the pupil, the circumstances of the behavioural problem
and consultation with the school and other parties, the procedure will be:
Level
1
2
3

Incident
First incident
Second incident
Third incident

*

Physical abuse (at any stage)

Outcome
First written warning.
Final written warning.
Permanent exclusion from
transport services.
Instant exclusion from
transport services pending
investigation, including
written statements.

When using home to school transport, pupils must:




Remain in their seats at all times;
Wear their seat belts at all times; and
Follow and abide by the passenger assistant’s and/or driver’s instructions.

Pupils must not:





104.

Abscond from the vehicle;
Speak in an offensive/abusive manner to the crew, other passengers or any other
member of the public whilst in or around the vehicle;
Behave in a way which may create a danger to themselves or other passengers, or
in a way which could cause damage to (or shows disrespect to) the vehicle itself; or
Exhibit behaviour of a sexual nature.
spit or fight.

Additionally, no eating, drinking or smoking will be allowed on any vehicle at any time.
This includes at times when pupils are not on the transport. In some circumstances, a
pupil may be allowed water on board the vehicle.

23

B29

Providing a quality service
Transport standards
105.

Transport provision will be in accordance with contractual standards and legislation.

106.

It is recognised that the quality of transportation to and from school can often affect
the emotional welfare and behavioural pattern of a child. All drivers, passenger
assistants and other crew members are expected to show understanding of, and
empathy with, pupils, their parents, carers and school staff. They are expected to treat
all children with respect and in a dignified manner appropriate to their age.

107.

All drivers and passenger assistants will greet passengers, parents and carers politely
and ensure that all passengers travel in comfort and safety.

108.

All drivers and passenger assistants will have undergone a training programme and will
be in receipt of an Enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service check, in line with the
Councils’ and AfC’s commitment to safeguarding children and young people. Husband
and wife (or civil partners) transport crew teams are permitted; however, families will
be informed prior to the allocation of the route.

109.

The competency of the driver and crew, the conduct of the vehicle during the journey
and at the pick-up points will all be of a contractually prescribed standard.

110.

The vehicles will be properly licensed and roadworthy.




All vehicles with 9 passenger seats or more will be inspected every 6 to 13
weeks. The frequency of inspection is set independently by the Driver and
Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) and is not set by the transport companies
themselves; and
All taxi vehicles with 8 passenger seats or less are licensed by the Public
Carriage Office (PCO) and are subject to two MOT inspections per year.

111.

All vehicles will offer standards of comfort and safety as prescribed by relevant
legislation. Regular audit checks will be carried out on all vehicles. Vehicles will have
modifications to allow for wheelchair access where appropriate.

112.

The vehicle must be at its prescribed point of pick-up within five minutes of its allotted
time (although traffic conditions and delays at the pick-up points for other passengers
may affect these timings). Any major delays will be communicated, either via the
relevant controller or the SEND Transport Service, to the school, parents or carers.

24

B30
Continuity
113.

Every effort will be made to ensure that the same passenger assistant and driver
continue to transport a pupil; however this will not always possible and changes may
need to be made to ensure the most efficient use of available resources.

114.

Parents, carers and schools will be informed by the transport company about any
changes to the crew member(s) in advance. Parents and carers are advised to take the
name of the new driver and/or passenger assistant, and ask to see their identification,
or contact the transport provider to verify identity if they are in any doubt.

115.

Local authorities have a duty to spend public funds in the most appropriate and costeffective manner. Routes will be reviewed regularly. Separate routes, taking pupils to
several different schools, may be brought together into a single route where this is
appropriate. Longer routes will be reviewed periodically with the respective schools to
ensure that concentration and attentiveness are not compromised by any change to
pupils’ journeys.

Safeguarding
116.

The Councils and AfC are committed to ensuring that children and young people on
transport travel safely to school and arrive ready to learn. The following safeguarding
systems are in place to protect children’s safety and promote their wellbeing:















There are fixed and pre-vetted crews on all routes;
Crew members have valid DBS certificates and appropriate licences;
Crew members have completed safeguarding training;
Crew members are provided with certified first-aid training;
Child-seating is provided for young people below 135 cm in height;
Non-ambulant buggy or wheelchair users undergo a wheelchair risk assessment to
verify that their buggy or wheelchair has been crash-tested for use on transport
and to ensure that the correct safety equipment is used to secure the buggy or
wheelchair in place;
All confidential information is sent by secure email;
All incidents on board transport are logged and investigated;
Safeguarding concerns or allegations about a transport crew member are referred
to the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) – see paragraph 115 for further
information.
Crew members are provided with a procedure in circumstances where parents or
carers are not available at their home address at the end of the school day, or
have requested an agreed alternative destination;
Taxi routes are audited on a regular basis and checked for compliance against the
service specification, including compliance with safeguarding procedures; and
25

B31


Taxi providers are audited once per academic year and further strategic level
checks are completed within these audits.

Local Authority Designated Officer
117.

Every local authority has a statutory responsibility to have a Designated Officer (LADO)
who is responsible for co-ordinating the response to concerns that an adult who works
with children may have caused them harm. The role of the LADO is to manage and
oversee any concerns or allegations about an individual who works with children and
young people either in a paid or voluntary capacity. Concerns should be referred to
the LADO by contacting 020 8547 5008 or email: lado@achievingforchildren.org.uk

Comments, compliments and complaints
118.

The Councils and AfC are constantly looking at ways to improve the SEND Transport
Service and welcomes comments from parents, carers, pupils and school staff on any
issue relating to the service. Comments or concerns about operational issues should
be addressed to the relevant bus or taxi provider in the first instance. In the event
that the provider cannot resolve the concern, the issue should be escalated to the
SEND Transport Service for resolution.

119.

Formal complaints will be managed in line with the Councils’ complaints procedures
which are available online at www.kingston.gov.uk/complaintsandfeedback (for
Kingston residents) and www.richmond.gov.uk/complaints (for Richmond residents).

26

B32
Equalities statement
The London Borough of Richmond upon Thames, the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames
and Achieving for Children are committed to delivering a high-quality service to everyone
regardless of their age, disability, gender, race, religion or beliefs, sexual orientation and
economic status. We are committed to delivering a service that meets individuals’ needs and
choices in a sensitive, meaningful and practical way. Where necessary the service user’s
cultural, religious or any other specific needs that is brought to our attention will be
considered and appropriate action undertaken in the delivery of the service. We are
committed to ensuring that our services are delivered in a fair, equitable and transparent
manner. We will collect data from our service users and analyse these in order to identify any
negative impact on specific groups or communities, including families entitled to the service
due to their economic status. Nothing within this policy, or any omission from it, should be
interpreted as relieving the local authorities or AfC from their legal duties under the Equality
Act 2010 or any other statutory requirements.

27

B33

Annex 2
Equality Assessment (EA)
Service Area:
Name of service/ function/ policy/
project being assessed:
Officer leading on assessment:
Other staff involved:

Education Services
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND)
Transport Service
Eamonn Gilbert, Achieving for Children Associate
Directorate for Commissioning
 Mandy Skinner, Richmond Council Assistant
Director for Commissioning, Corporate Policy and
Strategy
 Trudy Jones, Richmond Council SEND Transport
Programme Manager
 Henry Kilpin, Achieving for Children Senior Policy
Analyst and Equalities Lead
 Elizabeth Brandill Pepper, Kingston Council Lead
Commissioner for Children's Services
 Francis Arokiasamy, Kingston Council Equalities
Manager

BACKGROUND
1. Briefly describe the service/ function/ policy/ project:
The Education Act 1996 requires that local authorities ensure that suitable travel
arrangements are made, where necessary, to facilitate a child’s attendance at school. These
provisions relate solely to home to school travel arrangements. The Act requires local
authorities to make arrangements for all children who cannot reasonably be expected to
walk to school because of their mobility problems or health and safety issues related to
their SEND. It requires that eligibility for such children should be assessed on an individual
basis to identify the child’s individual transport requirements.
While home to school transport for pupils with SEND in Kingston is delivered by Achieving
for Children, up until recently, in Richmond, it was delivered by the Council. However, at its
meeting on 2 July 2015, Richmond Cabinet agreed to commission Achieving for Children to
take on delivery of this service. It was also agreed to update the current policy for home to
school transport to reflect new statutory guidance and to enable Achieving for Children to
deliver a more cost-effective and aligned model across Kingston and Richmond, including
the re-procurement of transport contracts for September 2016. The new policy revises the
eligibility criteria to reflect statutory guidance that home to school transport provision need
only be provided to pupils of statutory school age (aged 5 to 16); it also seeks to facilitate
young people with SEND to travel independently through the implementation of a broader
range of transport options.
The eligibility criteria in the policy relating to residency, distance and journey times remain
unchanged from the 2010 policy.

1

B34

Residency

The policy applies only to children and young
people who are ordinarily resident in Kingston or
Richmond or who are in the care of the local
authority. The policy continues to define home to
school transport as between a pupil’s home address
(where he or she is normally and habitually
resident) and his or her school.

Distance

The distance criteria in the statutory guidance
require local authorities to provide home to school
transport to all pupils aged 7 and under who live
over two miles from school; and to pupils aged 8 to
16 years who live over three miles from school. The
distance criteria will not be applied when assessing
the transport needs of eligible pupils with SEND.

Journey times

The policy maintains the current commitment to a
maximum journey time of 75 minutes for pupils
with SEND when travelling to in-borough schools.
The policy recognises that occasionally journey
times may be affected by traffic conditions and
other environmental factors.

The eligibility criteria relating to age, non-school travel and transport options have changed
from the 2010 policy:
Age

In line with the statutory guidance, the policy
applies only to pupils of statutory school age (aged
5 to 16 years). The policy does include discretion to
provide travel assistance for pre-school children
with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) in
some exceptional circumstances. It also gives
discretion to provide travel assistance to young
people aged up to 19 where their school is named
in their EHCP or Statement of Special Educational
Needs.

Non-school travel

The policy restricts travel assistance to transport
between home and school only and does not relate

2

B35
to transport to sports facilities; work experience,
work placements, apprenticeships, traineeships;
medical appointments; collection from school due
to illness; parental attendance at meetings;
extended hours school clubs and activities.
Transport options

In response to the 2014 SEND reforms, the policy
promotes independence for children and young
people with SEND by implementing a broader
range of transport options, including: allocation of
travel ‘buddies’; independent travel training; cycle
training; and reimbursement of parental mileage
expenses. These options will be provided as an
alternative to bus and taxi travel.

On occasion, Achieving for Children may offer SEND transport services on a discretionary
basis but this will only be in exceptional circumstances. For example, although not statutory,
a service may be provided to pre-school children with an Education, Health and Care Plan
(EHCP) or for young people aged up to 19 where their school is named in their EHCP or
Statement of SEN. All SEND transport plans for pupils, including those where discretionary
decisions have been made, will be reviewed at least once a year potentially as part of the
Annual Review of Statements of SEN/ EHCP. Should any parent or carer be unhappy with a
decision made relating to SEND Transport, the policy sets out a clear appeals process,
including timescales, with an escalation pathway to the Local Government
Ombudsman if required.

2. Why is the equality assessment being undertaken?
The Richmond SEND Transport Service transferred to Achieving for Children by the end of
September 2015 (staff TUPE’d by 31st August). A separate Staffing Equality Assessment has
been completed for this.
Between October 2015 and January 2016 Achieving for Children will conduct a full service
review and new ‘home to school’ transportation opportunities will be offered to parents,
carers and service users as part of the enhanced service for the academic year in 2016/17.
As such, it is necessary for an Equality Assessment to be completed to assess the impact of
the new SEND Home to School Transport Policy for use across both boroughs.

3. What sources of information have been used in the preparation of this equality
assessment? (e.g national research, local needs assessment, user feedback) Please provide
the details in the table below:
Information source

SEND Home to School

Description and outline of the information source

Draft policy prepared by Achieving for Children on behalf of the

3

B36
3. What sources of information have been used in the preparation of this equality
assessment? (e.g national research, local needs assessment, user feedback) Please provide
the details in the table below:
Transport Policy
Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames and the London Borough
of Richmond upon Thames
SEND Transport Service Data setting out the gender, age and in some cases, the type of
User Data- January
disability of the pupils using the SEND Transport Service.
2016
Department for
Guidance documents published by the DfE relating to home to
Education (DfE) ‘Home school transport and post-16 transport to education and training.
to School Travel and
Transport Guidance’
and ‘Post-16 transport
to education and
training’
Achieving for Children
An Equality Assessment to assess to the impact of the SEND
SEND Reforms Equality Reforms on children and young people in Kingston and Richmond:
Assessment 2014-15
https://fluencycontent-schoolwebsite.netdnassl.com/FileCluster/AchievingForChildren/Mainfolder/documents/
equalities/EA_SEND_Reforms_Mar2015.pdf
ANALYSIS OF IMPACT
4. Assess the relevance of each protected characteristic group to the service/ function/
policy/ project and explain what the data, customer feedback, complaints or discussions
with stakeholder groups tells you about the impact.
Other questions to consider:









How well are diverse needs met?
Have any differences in access to services/functions been identified for any group?
Has the area identified any disadvantages experienced by groups, which need to be
addressed?
Have there been any complaints about a failure to receive an appropriate and fair service?
Is there any other evidence of differential impact or different outcomes which needs to be
addressed?
Is there any evidence that participation in areas of public life is disproportionately low for any
particular relevant protected characteristic group?
Have the needs of disabled people been identified and addressed where these are different
from the needs of non-disabled people?
Have you identified any need to tackle prejudice or promote understanding between different
relevant protected characteristic groups?

Remember that equality assessment is not simply about identifying and removing negative effects
of discrimination but it is also an opportunity to identify ways to advance equality of opportunity
and to foster good relations.

Protected
Group

Findings

4

B37
This protected characteristic has been flagged as having a potential
medium impact.
The new policy revises the eligibility criteria from the previous policy to
reflect statutory guidance that home to school transport provision need
only be provided to pupils of statutory school age (aged 5-16). The policy
does include discretion to provide travel assistance for pre-school children
with an EHCP in some exceptional circumstances. It also gives discretion to
provide travel assistance to young people aged up to 19 where their school
is named in their EHCP or Statement of SEN.
Appropriate actions are in place to ensure that this policy change is
communicated to young people, their parents and carers in partnership
with SEND Family Voices (a local community organisation funded by the
Department for Education to represent the views of parents of child and
young people with SEND in Kingston and Richmond).

Age

The distance criteria in the statutory guidance require local authorities to
provide home to school transport to all pupils aged 7 and under who live
over two miles from school; and to pupils aged 8 to 16 years who live over
three miles from school remains the same. The distance criteria will not be
applied when assessing the transport needs of eligible pupils with SEND.
Data
The data available shows that on 11 January 2016, of the 342 children and
young people who are supported by the SEND Transport Service the ages
are as follows:






18 children aged three to five;
94 children aged six to ten;
142 children and young people aged 11 to 15;
75 young people aged 16 to 20; and
The age of 13 children and young people is not known.

The majority of children and young people supported are therefore aged
11 to 15 (41.5%), followed by those aged six to ten (27.5%), followed by
those aged 16 to 20 (21.9%), and finally those aged three to five (5.3%).
Further detailed analysis shows that the majority of eligible pupils receiving
support are aged between 13 and 16. This roughly aligns with national data
that shows that those aged 15 most likely to have a Statement of SEND or
an EHCP and with both local and national data that shows that the majority
of children and young people with SEND are aged between ten and 17.
Disability

This protected characteristic has been flagged as having a potential high
impact.

5

B38
Local authorities must make transport arrangements for all children who
cannot reasonably be expected to walk to school because of their mobility
problems or because of associated health and safety issues related to their
SEND. Eligibility for such children should be assessed on an individual basis
to identify the pupil’s particular transport requirements. Usual transport
requirements (for example, the statutory walking distances) will not be
considered when assessing the transport needs of children and young
people who are eligible due to their SEND.
When being assessed for eligibility, the individual needs of pupils will be
considered; Achieving for Children may take professional advice (for
example, from the Educational Psychologist or Medical Officers) and may
consult with parents/ carers and teachers in arriving at a final decision.
Consideration will also be given to the pupil’s physical and medical
requirements (including any disability they may have).
The following factors will be considered when assessing transport
entitlement for pupils with SEND:










The age of the pupil;
The distance of the pupil from school to home;
Whether the walking route is appropriate for the pupil;
The level of need and SEND of the pupil;
Whether the pupil has physical, medical or a social communication
difficulty that would prevent them from using public transport;
Whether suitable public transport is available (for example, for
wheelchairs or specialist seating);
Whether the pupil would be a danger to drivers, other passengers and
the vehicle using public or other transport;
The efficient utilisation of resources;
Any other individual circumstances.

The above list is not exhaustive but is for guidance. Satisfaction of one or
more of the criteria does not automatically entitle a pupil to transport
assistance.
As part of the policy, Achieving for Children advises schools to review each
pupil’s individual transport needs at least once a year and this review could
be completed as part of the Annual Review for pupils with Statements of
SEN/ EHCP. Based upon the outcomes of reviews, Achieving for Children
will make any changes necessary to transport which may be as a result of
changes in need (for example, a travel buddy may no longer be required,
or by agreement, a pupil may be ready to start independent travel
training). The service will liaise with parent and carers in relation to any
changes to ensure they are fully informed.
Should a pupil with SEND be assessed as not eligible for free transport due

6

B39
to their level of SEND, they may still be eligible if they meet statutory
criteria relating to the distance they live from their school and if they are
eligible for free school meals or their parents/ carers are in receipt of
maximum Working Tax Credit. The details of this are set out in the policy.
Once a pupil has been assessed as eligible for free transport, the SEND
Transport Team will work with the pupil and their parents/ carers to
identify the most appropriate transport method. In response to the 2014
SEND reforms, the policy promotes independence for children and young
people with SEND by implementing a broader range of transport options,
including: allocation of travel ‘buddies’; independent travel training; cycle
training; and reimbursement of parental mileage expenses. These options
will be provided as an alternative to bus and taxi travel.
Achieving for Children will ensure that the correct transport assistance will
be chosen that best meets the needs of the pupil and will put in place
measures to support this. For example, all non-ambulant buggy or
wheelchair users will undergo a wheelchair risk assessment to verify their
buggy or wheelchair has been crash-tested for use on transport and to
ensure that the correct safety equipment is used to secure the buddy or
wheelchair in place.
In addition, the policy also sets out a number of circumstances where
additional travel assistance will be provided on a temporary basis for
example, for pupils who have short-term difficulties (for example, a shortterm illness or health difficulty) or for pupils whose parent with a disability
or illness has difficulty in getting their child to and from school.
Data
The SEND Transport Service is reliant on the SEND Team in Achieving for
Children to provide information relating to type of need. As of 11 January
2016, data relating to type of need was only held for 124 pupils. Data
relating to 218 pupils was blank. This has been highlighted as an area for
improvement and is included in the action plan in this assessment.
Of the available data, it shows that the pupils who are supported by the
SEND Transport Service have a range of needs including Aspergers
Syndrome, Autism, Epilepsy, and speech and language difficulties.
This protected characteristic has been flagged as having a potential low
impact. This is because the service is accessible regardless of gender and
the policy contains no eligibility criteria relating to gender.
Gender (Sex)

Data
The data available from the SEND Transport Service shows that on 11
January 2016, of the 342 children and young people who are supported by

7

B40
the SEND Transport Service, 243 are male and 99 are female.
This aligns with both local data and national data which shows that the
majority of children and young people with SEND are male.
Gender
reassignment
Marriage and
civil
partnership

This is considered to be of low impact.

This is considered to be of low impact.

This is considered to be of low impact.

Pregnancy
and maternity
This is considered to be of low impact.
However, it should be noted that the new policy includes a commitment to
Race/ethnicity any eligible pupils that any cultural needs that are brought to the attention
of the service will be considered and appropriate action will be undertaken
in the delivery of the service. This will be done on a case by case basis.
This is considered to be of low impact.

Religion and
belief
including nonbelief

Sexual
orientation

However, it should be noted that the new policy includes a commitment to
any eligible pupils that any religious needs that are brought to the
attention of the service will be considered and appropriate action will be
undertaken in the delivery of the service. This will be done on a case by
case basis.
The policy also aligns with the national guidance and sets out that religion
and belief will be taken into account in relation to distance from home to
school and eligibility. The extended statutory eligibility criteria notes that
for pupils who are entitled to free school meals or whose parents/ carers
are in receipt of the maximum Working Tax Credit, free transport will be
provided if the school they attend is between two and 15 miles and is the
nearest school preferred on the grounds of religion or belief (aged 11 to
16).
This is considered to be of low impact.

8

B41

5. Summarise the key findings of the equality assessments of impact- have you identified
any data gaps in relation to the relevant protected characteristics and relevant parts of
the duty?
Other questions to consider:






Are there findings of unlawful discrimination?
Can you address any identified adverse impact?
Can you mitigate any negative impact?
Please provide rationale if you are unable to address any adverse impact.
Have you identified any ways of advancing equality in this area? For example, meeting diverse
needs?
Is there a need for any actions to promote understanding between different protected groups?


The new SEND Home to Transport Policy will have a positive impact on protected
characteristic groups, particularly in relation to age and disability, as it aims to promote
inclusive opportunities to enable pupils with additional needs to fulfil their educational and
social potential. The new policy is intended to facilitate joint working between pupils,
parents/ carers, schools and the local authority to encourage independence wherever
possible and to provide transport support to pupils which is appropriate to their assessed
needs.

However, the Equality Assessment has identified a need to improve data collection relating
to the protected characteristics of the pupils using the service, and the policy includes a
commitment to collect data from service users and analyse it to identify any negative impact
on protected characteristics. It will also be important to ensure that when reviews identify a
need to change a pupil’s transport assistance arrangements, the parents/ carers of the pupil
are fully informed and involved in the decision-making. Furthermore, the SEND Transport
Service should maintain strong relationships with disability groups in the borough who have
been included in the consultation so far so that any future changes to the service or to the
policy can be effectively reviewed and challenged.

CONSULTATION
6. What consultation have you undertaken with stakeholders or critical friends about the
key findings? What feedback did you receive as part of the consultation?
There has been extensive consultation with parents and professionals on the revised policy
through the SEND Transport Steering Group. All parents and carers who access SEND
transport services have been contacted. Consultation events for parents and carers took
place in November and December 2015 in partnership with SEND Family Voices across both
Kingston and Richmond. There was also consultation during the development of the policy
with the head-teachers of local primary, secondary and special schools. Responses to the
consultation and medical advice led to a revision to the policy to enable passenger
assistants to administer the medication Buccal Midazolam. A family-friendly version of the
approved policy will be produced in partnership with SEND Family Voices in April 2016 and
will be provided to all parents who access, or apply for, SEND Transport.

9

B42

ACTION PLANNING
7. What issues have you identified that require action?
Issue identified
Planned action

Lead officer

Completion
Date
From April
2016

Incomplete data relating
to type of need of the
children and young
people using the SEND
Transport Service.

The SEND Transport
Team will work with
colleagues in the SEND
team in Achieving for
Children to ensure that
the information relating
to those who use the
SEND Transport Service
is up to date. This will
include level of need but
also ethnicity data and if
required, data relating to
religion and belief

Eamonn Gilbert

Lack of feedback on the
service

Parent surveys will be
developed and carried
out to assess the quality
of the service

Eamonn Gilbert

From April
2016

Ensuring disability
groups in both boroughs
are able to provide
feedback on changes or
amendments to the
SEND Transport Service
or Home to School Policy
going forward.

Continue to consult with
disability groups in both
boroughs to ensure that
any future changes are
given full consideration
and challenged where
necessary.

Eamonn Gilbert

Ongoing

MONITORING AND REVIEW
8. How will the actions identified above be monitored and reviewed and where will the
actions be captured i.e. Business Plan, project plan, service and improvement plan, service
plan poster or Personal Development Plan?
The actions from this assessment will be monitored in a number of ways:



By the Achieving for Children SEND Transport service; and
Via the Operational Commissioning Group and contract management reporting that is
undertaken to assess Achieving for Children’s progress delivering the contracted
services. In addition, a range of Key Performance Indicators have been agreed as part of
the contract.

10

B43

On an ongoing basis, parent surveys will be carried out to assess the quality of the service.

PUBLISHING THE COMPLETED ANALYSIS
When completed, the equality assessment should be approved by a member of AfC
Management Team and published on the Achieving for Children website. Please provide
details below:
Approved by
Date of approval:
Date of publication:

11

APPENDIX A
SCREENING FOR RELEVANCE
Name of
ACS – SEN Transport Commissioning Programme
Directorate
Trudy Jones

Contact

Service/ Function

Telephone

020 8891 7498

Email

Trudy.jones@richmond.gov.uk

Are the areas listed below relevant to your service/ function?
Please answer H, M or L for ‘High’ Medium or Low’

S
e
x

Ra
ce

Disab.

Re&B

M

L

L

H

L

Legend
Age
Race
Re & B
GeR
M&CP

Sex
Disab.
SO
P&M

Age
Race
Religion and Belief
Gender reassignment
Marriage and civil partnership

Sex
Disability
Sexual orientation
Pregnancy and maternity

G
S
e
O
R

L

L

P&M

M&
CP

L

L

L

Advancin
g equality
of
opportunit
y between
different
groups

Fostering
good
relations

H

H

B44

Children’s SEN
Transport Services

Age

Eliminat
ing
discrimi
nation,
harass
ment or
victimis
ation

B45

Adults and Children’s Committee

C1

Appendix C

16 March 2016
Prevention of Suicide Strategy
Director of Public Health
Purpose
To approve the Multi-Agency Prevention of Suicide Strategy 2016- - 2021 which has been
developed to minimise suicides in the borough.
Recommendations of the Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care and Health
To Resolve that 1.

the Prevention of Suicide Strategy 2016 - -2021 attached at Annex 1 is approved;

2.

it is noted that this Strategy contributes to the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

Key Points
A.

Suicide is a major issue for society and a leading cause of years of life lost. In
England, one person dies every two hours as a result of suicide. When someone
takes their own life, the effect on their family and friends is devastating. However,
suicides are not inevitable; there are many ways in which services, communities,
individuals and society as a whole can help to prevent suicides.

B.

On 12 September 2012, the Coalition Government published ‘Preventing Suicide in
England’. There are two main objectives:
● a reduction in the suicide rate in the general population in England
● better support for those bereaved or affected by suicide.

C.

This strategy for suicide prevention in Kingston is adapted from the National Strategy
combined with Kingston mortality files, an audit of the Coroner’s files relating to
suicides in Kingston, a consultation on depression, self harm and suicide, and
discussions with a wide range of organisations and individuals working to prevent
suicide locally.

D.

The strategy covers the following key areas based on the findings from the audit,
needs assessment and mapping:

E.

1.

reduce risk of suicide in key high risk groups

2.

tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups

3.

support frontline staff

4.

promote suicide awareness and help seeking in the community

5.

have an effective local response to the aftermath of suicide

6.

reduce access to the means of suicide

7.

support research, data collection and monitoring

The Kingston Suicide Prevention Partnership was established in 2015. This group is
led and coordinated by the Council’s Public Health directorate but with essential
involvement and contribution from a range of key stakeholder across health and
social care, education, employment, the community and voluntary sector, emergency
services and people affected or bereaved by suicide and self-harm.

F.
G.

C2
This local prevention of suicide strategy also links directly to the Kingston Joint Health
and Wellbeing Strategy and the forthcoming mental health strategy.
An action plan will be developed and monitored by the Kingston Suicide Prevention
Partnership.

Context
1.

The suicide rate for Kingston residents in 2011-13 was 7.0 per 100,000 people
which is lower than the London and England averages (7.2 and 8.8 per 100,000
people respectively), although the differences are not statistically significant.

2.

An audit was undertaken in 2015 using information gathered from Coroner’s
records to better understand patterns in suicides locally and to learn from past
events to help deliver future interventions to prevent suicides. There is a separate
full report of this audit.

3.

Public Health England guidance on developing a local suicide prevention action
plan recommends mapping current practice and service provision in order to identify
any gaps which should form the basis of a suicide prevention action plan. A
mapping of current practice and services in Kingston has informed this strategy.

Proposal and Options
4.

The strategy covers seven areas which are described below. In the strategy itself
more details are provided about the findings of the local research identifying any
gaps and making recommendations for future work

5.

Key area 1:- Reduce risk of suicide in key high risk groups. This section focuses on
key high risk groups identified by the National Strategy, namely men, individuals
with mental health and / or substance misuse problems, those who self harm or
make suicide attempts and people in contact with the criminal justice system.
Kingston’s strategy also includes three groups identified through our local research,
namely older people, people with long term conditions and people in difficult
economic circumstances. Some of the objectives in this area are to:
● improve engagement with men in Kingston to help them access mental
health services and other forms of support in line with best practice.
● raise awareness of professionals working with older people regarding suicide
risk and the risk of depression and of best practice to address these issues
● improve awareness of financial advice and support services

6.

Key area 2:- Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups. This
section covers the following groups who do not have a higher risk of suicide per se
but may have particular vulnerabilities which may predispose a small number of
them to an increased suicide risk. These include children and young people, black
and minority ethnic groups (BAME), people who are especially vulnerable due to
social circumstances, survivors of abuse or violence and lesbian, gay, bisexual and
transgender people. Some of the objectives in this area are to:
● develop suicide prevention plan guidance for schools, and ensure this
addresses barriers to seeking help.
● commissioners to ensure that discussions take place with providers of adult
and child and adolescent mental health services regarding their accessibility
to BAME residents

C3
7.

Key area 3:- Support frontline staff to identify and support people at risk of suicide.
A range of front-line agencies, including primary and secondary health and social
care services, local authorities, the police and Jobcentre Plus can identify and
support (or signpost to available support) vulnerable people who may be at risk of
suicide. This section covers plans to provide suicide prevention training to frontline
staff and bespoke training to particular professionals including GPs. One of the
objectives in this area is to:
● increase the knowledge and confidence of staff to support individuals at risk
of suicide, in particular those working with locally and nationally identified
priority groups. Training will be an important part of this.

8.

Key area 4:- Promote suicide awareness and help-seeking within the community.
The needs assessment into depression, self harm and suicide identified many
significant barriers to help seeking including previous negative experiences, a
perceived lack of information about the services, a lack of awareness of how GPs
could help, and internal feelings and beliefs. This section covers proposals to
address these. One of the objectives in this area is to:
● work with the media to improve understanding and communications
regarding suicide

9.

Key area 5:- Effective local response to the aftermath of suicide. This section
includes proposals to support family and friends bereaved by a suicide who are at
increased risk of mental health and emotional problems and may be at higher risk of
suicide themselves. It also covers proposals to work with the media as there is
compelling evidence that media reporting and portrayals of suicide can lead to
copycat behaviour, especially among young people and those already at risk. One
of the objectives in this area is to:
● further investigate the extent of delay in families accessing bereavement
counselling

10.

Key area 6:- Reduce access to the means of suicide. This section covers work on
managing the risk of people on prescription medication and prevention measures at
locations that are potential sites for suicide. Some of the objectives in this area are
to:
● increase awareness by GPs of safe prescribing guidelines
● improve the provision of appropriate messaging, security and prevention
measures at locations that are potential sites for suicide.

11.

Key area 7:- Support research, data collection and monitoring. Whilst there is data
collected on suicides in Kingston, there are some gaps in the collection of
contemporaneous data, data on attempted suicides, data on self harm and primary
care data. Also there is insufficient co-ordination between agencies of the data that
is collected.

12.

Key area 8:- Communication. The national strategy identifies a number of areas
where good communication will support the strategy. To this end a final objective is
to develop a coherent communication plan to support the implementation of this
strategy.

C4
Consultations
13.

In 2015 Kingston residents who have been affected by suicide, depression or self
harm were consulted to help us understand how Kingston can be better at
preventing suicide. 139 people took part in the needs assessment. These included
individuals with personal experience, professionals and affected family members.
There is a separate full report of this needs assessment.

Timescale
14.

The Prevention of Suicide Strategy will run from 2016-2021.

Resource Implications
15.

The actions to deliver the recommendations in the suicide prevention strategy are,
in many cases, already part of work currently being carried out. Whilst some actions
may require dedicated resources, these can be met through existing budgets,
sharing resources or through grant funding in some areas.

Legal Implications
16.

There are no specific legal issues arising from this report.

Risk Assessment - none arising from the recommendations of this report
Equalities Impact Assessment
17.

Form A has been undertaken on the strategy, see Annex 2, and Form B will be
undertaken on the action plan.

Road Network Implications - none arising from the recommendations of this report.
Environmental Implications - none arising from the recommendations of this report.

Author of the report Dr Jonathan Hildebrand, Director of Public Health, Royal Borough of
Kingston, jonathan.hildebrand@kingston.gov.uk
Background papers - held by Liz Trayhorn, Public Health Programme lead for Mental
health, liz.trayhorn@kingston.gov.uk tel 020 8547 6120
● Audit of coroner’s records 2010-2014, public health 2015, Cross A.
● Consulting with professionals and the public about depression, self harm and
suicide
● Final Report Dr Carlie Goldsmith and Elizabeth Scowcroft November 2015

[i] Department of Health (2012) Preventing Suicide in England. A cross-government outcomes
strategy to save lives. HM Government
[ii] Guidance for developing a local suicide prevention action plan Information for public health staff
in local authorities, public health England September 2014

C5

Draft Preventing Suicide in Kingston: A
multi agency strategy 2016-2021
22 February 2016

Our aim is to minimise the number of
suicides in Kingston and to better support
those bereaved or affected by suicide

1

C6

Contents
1.

Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 3

2.

Background ..................................................................................................................................... 3

3.

Local Picture .................................................................................................................................... 3

4.

The strategy .................................................................................................................................... 4
4.1 KEY AREA 1: REDUCE RISK OF SUICIDE IN KEY HIGH RISK GROUPS .............................................. 5
4.1.1

Men ..................................................................................................................................... 5

4.1.2

Individuals with mental health and / or substance misuse problems ................................ 5

4.1.3

Self harm and suicide attempts .......................................................................................... 7

4.1.4

People in contact with the criminal justice system ............................................................ 7

4.1.5

Older people ....................................................................................................................... 8

4.1.6

People living with long-term physical health conditions .................................................... 8

4.1.7
work

People in difficult economic circumstances or experiencing mental health problems at
............................................................................................................................................. 9

4.2

KEY AREA 2: -TAILOR APPROACHES TO IMPROVE MENTAL HEALTH IN SPECIFIC GROUPS .... 9

4.2.1

Children and young people ............................................................................................... 10

4.2.2

People affected by family breakdown, bereavement or isolation ................................... 10

4.2.3

Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups ........................................................................... 11

4.2.4

Other groups ..................................................................................................................... 12

4.3
KEY AREA 3: SUPPORT FRONTLINE STAFF TO IDENTIFY AND SUPPORT PEOPLE AT RISK OF
SUICIDE.............................................................................................................................................. 12
4.4
KEY AREA 4: PROMOTE SUICIDE AWARENESS AND HELP-SEEKING WITHIN THE
COMMUNITY ..................................................................................................................................... 13

5.

4.5

KEY AREA 5: - EFFECTIVE LOCAL RESPONSE TO THE AFTERMATH OF SUICIDE ..................... 13

4.6

KEY AREA 6: - REDUCE ACCESS TO THE MEANS OF SUICIDE ................................................. 14

4.7

KEY AREA 7: -SUPPORT RESEARCH, DATA COLLECTION AND MONITORING ........................ 14

4.8

KEY AREA 8: -COMMUNICATION .......................................................................................... 14

Local Delivery ................................................................................................................................ 15

References ............................................................................................................................................ 16

2

C7

1. Introduction
Suicide is a major issue for society and a leading cause of years of life lost. In England, one
person dies every two hours as a result of suicide. When someone takes their own life, the
effect on their family and friends is devastating. Many others involved in providing support
and care, as well as any witnesses, will feel the impact. However, suicides are not inevitable;
there are many ways in which services, communities, individuals and society as a whole can
help to prevent suicides.
This strategy for suicide prevention in Kingston is adapted from the National Strategy for
Preventing Suicide in England1 combined with Kingston mortality files, an audit of the
Coroner’s files relating to suicides in Kingston, a consultation on depression, self harm and
suicide, and discussions with various organisations and individuals working to prevent
suicide locally.

2. Background
On 12th September 2012, the Coalition Government published a new national strategy
‘Preventing Suicide in England’. This has two main objectives:
A reduction in the suicide rate in the general population in England
Better support for those bereaved or affected by suicide
There are also six key areas for action to achieve the objectives:
1. Reduce risk of suicide in key high risk groups
2. Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups
3. Reduce access to the means of suicide (such as high buildings and train stations)
4. Provide better information and support to those bereaved and affected by suicide
5. Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal
behaviour
6. Support research, data collection and monitoring
We have adapted these six key areas to address the needs of Kingston (see section 4)

3. Local Picture
The suicide rate for Kingston residents in 2011-13 was 7.0 per 100,000 people which is lower
than the London and England averages (7.2 and 8.8 per 100,000 people respectively),
although these differences are not statistically significant2.
Figure 1 below shows standardised rates of suicide in Kingston compared to London and
England, as published by the Health and Social Care Information Centre. The actual number
of suicides in Kingston per year is very low which accounts for the variation in the Kingston
trend line.

3

C8

Figure 1 - Trends in suicide (males and females) 3
14
12

Rate per
100,000 (DSR)

10
8
England
6

London

4
Kingston
2
0
2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

Source: Health and Social Care Information Centre. Dataset: Mortality from suicide: directly standardised rate, 15+ years,
annual trend, MFP. January 2015.

An audit was undertaken in 2015 using information gathered from Coroner’s records to
better understand patterns in suicides locally and to learn from past events to help deliver
future interventions to prevent suicides. There is a separate full report of this audit4.
In 2015 we also consulted Kingston residents who have been affected by suicide, depression
or self harm to help us understand how Kingston can be better at preventing suicide. 139
people took part in the needs assessment. These included individuals with personal
experience, professionals and affected family members. There is a separate full report of
this needs assessment5.
Public Health England guidance on developing a local suicide prevention action plan
recommends mapping current practice and service provision in order to identify any gaps
which should form the basis of a suicide prevention action plan6. A mapping of current
practice and services in Kingston has informed this strategy.

4. The strategy
We have developed the following key areas in light of the findings from the audit, needs
assessment and mapping. An action plan based on this strategy will be developed.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Reduce risk of suicide in key high risk groups
Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups
Support frontline staff
Promote suicide awareness and help seeking in the community
Have an effective local response to the aftermath of suicide
Reduce access to the means of suicide
Support research, data collection and monitoring

4

C9

4.1 KEY AREA 1: REDUCE RISK OF SUICIDE IN KEY HIGH RISK GROUPS
This section focuses on key high risk groups identified by the National Strategy, plus three
groups identified though our local research, namely older people, people with long term
conditions and people in difficult economic circumstances. The national strategy also
identified those bereaved by suicide as at high risk of suicide; these are covered in key area
5 (see section 4.5).

4.1.1

Men

What we know
66% of those who took their own lives in Kingston (including both Kingston residents and
non-residents) between 2010 and 2014 were men, compared to 34% who were women. The
highest rate of suicides in men was in the 45-54 age band (24% of all the men who took
their own lives in Kingston were in this age band)4. Best practice guidance7 recommends
that engagement with men should be in settings that are considered familiar and ‘male
friendly.’ Some examples of these which appeal to certain groups of men are:
Schools and colleges for adolescent males
Physical activity settings for young and middle-aged men
Workplaces for men who are in work
Interventions in which the therapeutic support or social engagement is built around
shared activity (rather than face-to-face discussion)
‘Virtual’ settings for young men
Gap
To date there have been no local campaigns targeted at young or middle aged men
or work to identify and support young and middle aged men at risk.
The needs assessment identified the lack of services that appealed specifically to
men as a gap and recommended developing a more proactive approach to men’s
mental health in general and suicide prevention in particular
Our objectives
1. Improve engagement with men in Kingston to help them access mental health
services and other forms of support in line with best practice.
2. Ensure suicide prevention training includes the needs of men

4.1.2

Individuals with mental health and / or substance misuse problems

What we know
Nationally it is recognised that people with serious mental illnesses, such as bipolar
disorder, schizophrenia and severe depression, are at high risk of suicide. Our local research
found that common mental health issues, such as depression, and substance misuse were
also a common feature within the group of people who took their own lives or experienced
suicidal ideation4,5. The audit of coroner’s files also found that:

5

C10

31 of the 38 people who took their own lives (82%) had at least one diagnosed
mental health problem. The most common of these was depression (68%).
16% had a serious mental illness.
32% had a substance misuse problem.
14 people (37%) had both a mental health and a substance misuse problem
42% of those who took their own lives were not known to specialist mental health
services and might be assumed to be under the care of their GP alone. Some of these
people did have a mental health problem.
A&E was the most commonly used service by respondents to the needs assessment into
depression, self harm and suicide. The most known about service was the Samaritans5.
Mapping revealed that work has begun on a joined up crisis pathway but there were a
number of areas still to be developed.
Gaps
There is no fully established care pathway between the range of organisations providing
counselling (including long term counselling), and the Kingston Wellbeing Service and the
therapeutic services of the Community Mental Health Teams (CMHT). The needs
assessment into depression, self harm and suicide5 identified a number of gaps including:
Concerns that some of the people at risk of self harm and suicide could not access
the appropriate level of services and that eligibility thresholds were a barrier
37% of respondents reported being unable to access crisis support when they
needed it. The majority of people who had used the crisis line over the past few
years were critical of the service.
Kingston Mind is underused. 37.2% of respondents to the adult survey knew about
Kingston Mind but only 4.6% had used it.
Some parts of the system were under such pressure that even extremely vulnerable
and risky individuals were apparently not being provided with the support required.
A perceived lack of support was felt by families coping with a relative who was
depressed, self harming and/or suicidal.
Our objectives
1. Improve pathways for local counselling and support services and appropriate access
to CMHT and crisis support through the Crisis Concordat
2. Reduce suicide and self harm risk for service users with co-occurring mental health
and substance misuse problems.
3. Ensure that people, of all ages, in crisis because of a mental health condition, are
kept safe and helped to find the support through the implementation of the Crisis
Concordat.
4. Ensure the forthcoming mental health strategy addresses the perceived lack of
support for families identified in the needs assessment

6

C11

4.1.3

Self harm and suicide attempts

What we know
Previous non-fatal self harm is the strongest predictor of suicide; although it must be
emphasised that most people who self harm do not go on to take their own lives1.
13 people (34%) who took their own lives between 2010 and 2014 were known to
have had a history of self harm or previous suicide attempt 4.
Whilst the rate of hospital admissions and stays for self harm in Kingston are
generally lower than the averages for England and London the rate of hospital stays
is increasing locally5.
People who attend A&E for self harm are at high risk of suicide in the following year
(this risk is 50 times greater than the general population). There are national
guidelines for risk assessment but no widely accepted standard of care8.
Gaps
Although we still have limited knowledge of self harm in the local population, the needs
assessment into depression, self harm and suicide5 found that:
Reports about accessing support in a crisis via A&E highlighted the importance of
being referred via the mental health, not general A&E, pathway. Not doing this left
some people having negative and extremely distressing experiences. Young people
who have self harmed without suicidal intent do not have any alternative crisis
support and can only go to A&E.
Our objectives
1. Explore how else we can understand more the needs of those who self harm
2. Review the pathway for people who self harm but do not require A&E, particularly
for young people
3. A&E and hospital staff, working with psychiatric liaison, to improve skills in the
management of people who self harm or attempt suicide including provision of
support following discharge. Appropriate training on self-harm should be available
for staff working in schools and colleges, emergency departments, other emergency
services, primary care, care environments and the criminal and youth justice
systems.

4.1.4

People in contact with the criminal justice system

What we know
Eight people (21%) who took their own lives locally between 2010 and 2014 had a recorded
history of contact with the police or courts4. People at all stages within the criminal justice
system, including people on remand and recently discharged from custody, are at high risk
of suicide1.
Gap
Whilst there is dedicated mental health support for young offenders there is less
understanding about the mental health needs of, and access to mental health support by,
young people at risk of offending and of adults in the criminal justice system.
7

C12

Our objectives
1. Promote awareness in the criminal justice system, including the young offenders
service, of the higher suicide risk of their clients
2. As part of the Crisis Concordat, ensure people in contact with the criminal justice
system, including those on remand or recently discharged from custody, have
support provided that reduces their risk of suicide
3. Review the support provided by the Probation Service to their clients and explore
how partners can assist in this

4.1.5

Older people

What we know
Although the numbers are small, a number of people who took their lives between 2010
and 2014 were of retirement age4. Some issues that may increase the risk of suicide in older
people are covered in other sections; these are depression (4.1.2), chronic physical illnesses,
pain and disability (4.1.6), bereavement and social isolation (4.2.3). The impact of
retirement was raised by those who participated in the needs assessment into depression,
self harm and suicide5. There is evidence that younger adults are more likely to seek help
than older adults after an attempted suicide9 .
Gap
To date there have not been campaigns targeted at older people or work to identify and
support older people at risk.
Our objectives
1. Ensure the forthcoming mental health strategy increases the identification of
depression in, and the uptake of psychological support by older people.
2. Ensure commissioners and providers of services for older people are aware of factors
that increase the risk of suicide in older people
3. Raise awareness of professionals working with older people regarding suicide risk
and the risk of depression and of best practice to address these issues

4.1.6

People living with long-term physical health conditions

What we know
63% of the people who took their own life between 2010 and 2014 were found to have
been diagnosed with a long term condition, which is double the percentage in the general
population. 11 (29%) people were judged to have suffered from chronic pain 4. Physical
illness was a trigger for depression in 33% of the respondents to the survey for the needs
assessment into depression, self harm and suicide5. Support for self-management and selfcare in managing chronic pain as well as routine assessment for depression are
recommended1.
Gaps
Data is not collected on the numbers of people referred to Kingston Wellbeing
Service with long term conditions
The uptake at the pain clinic in the Kingston Wellbeing Service is low

8

C13

Our objective
1. Increase the routine assessment of depression in people with long-term conditions
as well as ensuring appropriate treatment
2. Ensure people in chronic pain are assisted in dealing with the psychological aspects
of pain

4.1.7

People in difficult economic circumstances or experiencing mental
health problems at work

What we know
Around a third (30%) of people who took their own life between 2010 and 2014
were found to have financial difficulties which may have contributed to their suicide.
Nearly 20% were unemployed4.
Problems including workplace bullying (39.5%), debt (32.5%), housing problems
(30.2%), unemployment (25.5%) and worries about benefits (25.5%) were triggers
for depression, according to the needs assessment5.
Interventions that improve financial capability reduce both the likelihood of people
getting into debt and the impact of debt on mental health. Businesses can assist by
supporting their staff during times of anxiety1.
A small number of the people who took their own life between 2010 and 2014 were
from some of the occupational groups identified nationally as being at a higher risk
of suicide4. These national groups are nurses, doctors, farmers and other agricultural
workers who have higher rates of suicide and construction workers and plant /
machine operators where the highest numbers of suicides occur. There were no
additional occupational groups identified in the local research as having high
numbers or rates4.
Gaps
There is limited awareness of local finance and welfare support services amongst
professionals
The adult survey found limited awareness and use of Balance, a local organisation
that provides employment and support to vulnerable groups.
Our objective
1. Improve awareness of financial advice and support services
2. Improve identification of, and support for those who have are experiencing mental
distress due to their economic circumstances
3. Improve awareness of employment support services and best practice to support the
mental health of staff particularly in workplaces with large numbers of male
employees and in occupational groups identified nationally as having high numbers
and rates of suicide

4.2

KEY AREA 2: -TAILOR APPROACHES TO IMPROVE MENTAL HEALTH IN
SPECIFIC GROUPS

The following groups do not have a higher risk of suicide per se but they have particular
vulnerabilities which may predispose a small number of them to an increased suicide risk.
9

C14

These include children and young people, some black and minority ethnic groups (BAME),
people who are especially vulnerable due to social circumstances, survivors of abuse or
violence and lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender people. War veterans were also
identified in the national strategy but have not featured in any of the local findings1.
4.2.1 Children and young people
What we know
The needs assessment into depression, self harm and suicide5 found that:
Many of the adult responders to the survey reported depressive episodes, self harm
and suicidal ideation stretching back into childhood, adolescence or young
adulthood.
Young people say upsetting family members and concerns about confidentiality are
the two main things that prevent them seeking help.
Boys in particular were likely to think that they would be in trouble or bullied if they
sought help for low mood/anxiety, self harm and suicidal thoughts.
Gaps
Very few schools have their own suicide prevention strategies, as recommended in
the national suicide prevention strategy1.
There is variable provision of counselling support in schools5.
There is a perceived difficulty accessing confidential mental health services or
counselling for young people at risk of self harm or suicide5.
Our objectives
1. Develop suicide prevention plan guidance for schools, and ensure this addresses
barriers to seeking help.
2. Improve access to confidential mental health services and counselling for young
people
3. Increase awareness by schools and other agencies of the support that Child and
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) can provide
4.2.2 People affected by family breakdown, bereavement or isolation
What we know
76% of the individuals identified in the local audit who had taken their own lives
between 2010 and 2014 were either single, separated, divorced or widowed4.
Relationship worries were a trigger to depression for 39.5% of respondents to the
adult needs assessment survey with men significantly more likely to report this than
women5.
Loneliness was a trigger to depression for 58% of respondents to the adult survey.
Experiences of conflict in relationships such as problems at home and falling out with
friends were considered key triggers to depression, as was loneliness in young
people.
Gaps
Individuals participating in the survey accessed a limited range of services5 that could
reduce their isolation, such as local clubs or leisure facilities.
10

C15

41.8% of respondents had never heard of Kingston Relate5.
Our objectives
1. Ensure programmes and policies to reduce social isolation and loneliness address the
needs identified in the suicide audit and needs assessment
2. Increase awareness of, and access to, relationship support providers, especially for
those on low incomes
4.2.3 Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups
What we know
The numbers of black and minority ethnic groups who took their own lives between
2010 and 20144 were too small to draw any definitive conclusions.
South Korea has a very high suicide rate10. This is significant as New Malden is
estimated to have the highest population of Koreans in Europe11 although we do not
know if the risk of suicide amongst those living locally is as high as that of those living
in South Korea.
The Child B serious case review identified insufficient understanding of the culture,
attitudes and beliefs of the service user12.
Concerns about mental health were raised by 70% of participants in the refugees,
asylum seekers and migrants’ needs assessment. According to frontline workers, the
levels of stress, depression or anxiety, amongst refugees, asylum seekers and
migrants were high and, amongst some vulnerable EU migrants, alcohol misuse was
also high13.
Gaps
The mental health needs of Koreans who live in Kingston are not well known and this
may also be true of other BAME groups.
There is a lack of specialist help for refugees, asylum seekers and migrants and
professionals reported that they were not seeing proportionate number of BAME
residents accessing either adult or child and adolescent mental health services
Our objectives
1. Make sure that policies and services for BAME groups reflect the findings of the
audit and needs assessment.
2. Commissioners to ensure that discussions take place with providers of adult and
child and adolescent mental health services regarding their accessibility to BAME
residents
3. Make sure that the forthcoming refugees, asylum seekers and migrants strategy
addresses the need for specialist mental health support for these population groups
4. Commissioners to ensure that discussions take place with providers of adult mental
health and child and adolescent mental health services regarding the need for
specialist services for refugees, asylum seekers and migrants
5. Increase awareness of, and access to, services to support the mental health and
wellbeing of Kingston’s Korean community

11

C16

4.2.4 Other groups
What we know
7 people (18%) who took their own life between 2010 and 2014 were recorded to be
victims of bullying, crime and abuse. These were often events that had taken place
sometime ago4.
37.5% of participants in the needs assessment into depression, self harm and
suicide5 disclosed being the victim of abuse, either childhood sexual abuse, sexual
abuse at another time in their life or domestic violence in adulthood.
2.3% of the respondents to the adult survey for the needs assessment into
depression, self harm and suicide5 identified concerns about sexuality as a trigger for
their depression.
War veterans are at increased risk of suicide (identified by the national strategy)
Our objective
1. Make sure that policies and services for survivors of crime, abuse or violence and for
LGBT groups reflect the findings of the audit and needs assessment.

4.3

KEY AREA 3: SUPPORT FRONTLINE STAFF TO IDENTIFY AND SUPPORT
PEOPLE AT RISK OF SUICIDE

What we know
18 of the 38 people (47%) who took their own life between 2010 and 2014 had been in
contact with either their GP or a mental health professional within a week of their death.
58% had previous contact with specialist mental health or substance misuse services 4. A
range of front-line agencies, including primary and secondary health and social care
services, local authorities, the police and Jobcentre Plus can identify and support (or
signpost to available support) vulnerable people who may be at risk of suicide1.
Gaps
Recently some suicide prevention training has been provided to frontline staff but
there are still a large number of frontline staff who have yet to attend this training.
Whilst the needs assessment into depression, self harm and suicide5 found that
many GPs provide excellent care for people who are depressed, self harming or who
are suicidal, 65% of respondents did not feel that their GP can help them with
emotional issues. Men, single people, those aged 18-24 or 44-55 and those not born
in the UK were more likely to hold this view.
Our objectives
1. Increase the knowledge and confidence of staff to support individuals at risk of
suicide, in particular those working with locally and nationally identified priority
groups. Training will be an important part of this.
2. Review the current provision of training for GPs given their key role as health
professionals who often see people in the weeks prior to them planning to take their
own lives.

12

C17

4.4

KEY AREA 4: PROMOTE SUICIDE AWARENESS AND HELP-SEEKING
WITHIN THE COMMUNITY

Gaps
The needs assessment into depression, self harm and suicide5 identified many significant
barriers to help seeking including previous negative experiences, a perceived lack of
information about the services, a lack of awareness of how GPs could help, and internal
feelings and beliefs.
Our objectives
1. Ensure the forthcoming mental health strategy addresses the barriers to help
seeking identified in the needs assessment
2. Work with the media to improve understanding and communications regarding
suicide and how to seek help

4.5

KEY AREA 5: - EFFECTIVE LOCAL RESPONSE TO THE AFTERMATH OF
SUICIDE

What we know
Family and friends bereaved by a suicide are at increased risk of mental health and
emotional problems and may be at higher risk of suicide themselves1. Witnesses to suicides
may also suffer emotional distress. National guidance suggests that the following should be
considered in the aftermath to a suicide:
identifying individuals, groups and geographical areas at greater risk
facilitating access to support for those who need it, including, where necessary
psychiatric or psychological treatment
ensuring that front-line responders have access where necessary to psychological
support and supervision
There is compelling evidence that media reporting and portrayals of suicide can lead to
copycat behaviour, especially among young people and those already at risk1.
Gaps
The Child B Serious Case Review identified the need for Critical Incident Stress
Management across member agencies12.
There is no jointly agreed local suicide aftermath response in line with national
guidance 14 although there is some local work that could be built on.
The needs assessment into depression, self harm and suicide5 identified some delay
in families receiving bereavement counselling.
Our objectives
1. Develop a joint response to the aftermath of a suicide in line with national guidance
2. Ensure sensitive media reporting following a suicide
3. Further investigate the extent of delay in families accessing bereavement counselling

13

C18

4.6

KEY AREA 6: - REDUCE ACCESS TO THE MEANS OF SUICIDE

What we know
Of those who took their own lives locally between 2010 and 2014, hanging was the most
common method (11 of 38 or 29%), followed by self poisoning (10 of 38 or 26%) and then
jumping from a height (8 of 38 or 21%)4. These figures broadly reflect the national picture.
Of the nine people who took drug overdoses, eight took at least one medication that was
prescribed for them.
Most suicides took place in people’s homes, although a small number were in public places,
such as train stations, town centres, rivers or parks. One particular issue in Kingston is
access to the Thames and there is a River Safety Strategy in place to address this.
Gaps
Managing the risk of people on prescription medication
Prevention measures at some locations that are potential sites for suicide
Security at some locations that are potential sites for suicide
Our objectives
1. Increase awareness by GPs of safe prescribing guidelines
2. Review the role of community pharmacists in ensuring safe prescribing
3. Improve the provision of appropriate messaging, security and prevention measures
at locations that are potential sites for suicide.
4. Increase the knowledge and confidence of staff to support individuals at risk of
suicide at locations that are potential sites for suicide

4.7

KEY AREA 7: -SUPPORT RESEARCH, DATA COLLECTION AND MONITORING

What we know
National best practice recommends setting up a suicide surveillance group which will be
responsible for reviewing real-time data regarding local suicides and self-harm6.
Gap
Whilst there is data collected on suicides in Kingston, there are some gaps in the collection
of contemporaneous data, data on attempted suicides, data on self harm and primary care
data. Also there is insufficient co-ordination between agencies of the data that is collected.
Our objective
1. Improve the collection and co-ordination of contemporaneous data, data on
attempted suicides, data on self harm, data from the single point of access to
children’s services, primary care data and the monitoring of trends and patterns.

4.8

KEY AREA 8: -COMMUNICATION

What we know
Good communication is vital to the success of the suicide prevention strategy. The national
strategy identifies a number of areas where good communication will support the strategy
14

C19

including improving communication between different organisations about suicide risk,
communication with the public and frontline staff about suicide and local support of
individuals. We know appropriate media messages about suicides may prevent further
suicide and undue distress. To this end a final objective is to develop a coherent
communication plan to support the implementation of this strategy.
Our objective
1. Develop a communication plan to support the strategy which will include:
Supporting frontline staff to identify and support people at risk of suicide and
confidentially communicate risk onward to appropriate agencies
Ensuring sensitive reporting in the media in the aftermath of suicide
Promoting suicide awareness and help-seeking within the community in
particular by the priority groups identified in the strategy
Improving awareness by relevant stakeholders about the strategy and progress
on the action plans

5. Local Delivery
There are many sectors, systems, groups, organisations and individuals whose input are
essential to suicide prevention, and will have active roles across the seven key areas of this
strategy. This strategy will be adopted by multi-agency partners.
Kingston Suicide Prevention Partnership was established in 2015. This group is led and
coordinated by the Council’s Public Health directorate but with essential involvement and
contribution from a range of key stakeholder across health and social care, education,
employment, the community and voluntary sector, emergency services an d people affected
or bereaved by suicide and self-harm.
This local suicide strategy also links directly to the Kingston Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy and the forthcoming mental health strategy.
An action plan will be developed and monitored by the Kingston Suicide Prevention
Partnership.

15

C20

References
1

Department of Health (2012) Preventing Suicide in England. A cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives. HM
Government
2
Annual public health report 2014 on mental health.
3
Health and Social Care Information Centre. Dataset: Mortality from suicide: directly standardised rate, 15+ years, annual trend,
MFP. January 2015. https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Data/31C_113DRT15++_D.xls
4
Audit of coroner’s records 2010-2014, public health 2015, Cross A.
5
Consulting with professionals and the public about depression, self harm and suicide Final Report Dr Carlie Goldsmith and
Elizabeth Scowcroft November 2015
6
Guidance for developing a local suicide prevention action plan Information for public health staff in local authorities, public
health England September 2014
7
How to make mental health services work for men report, Public Health England 2015
8

Bolton, Gunnell, Turecki (21 Nov 2015) Suicide risk assessment and intervention in people with mental illness, BMJ

9

ONS (2007) Adult Psychiatric Morbidity in England: results of a household survey , [online] Available at
http://www.esds.ac.uk/doc/6379/mrdoc/pdf/6379research_report.pdf. Accessed 15.06.2015
10
http://www.oecd.org/els/healthsystems/healthdata.htm
11
RBK (2013) Borough Profile
12
Serious review into child b, http://kingstonandrichmondlscb.org.uk/about-kingston-lscb/serious-case-reviews-168.php
13
Living Lives, Building Futures: the Royal Borough of Kingston Refugee, Asylum Seeker and Migrant Needs Assessment January
2015, Goldsmith C.
14
Public health England resource ‘Identifying and responding to suicide clusters and contagion’

16

C21

Annex 2

Form A – Relevance Test (screening)
Function/Service Being Assessed: Kingston’s Suicide Prevention strategy
2016-2021
1.

Populations served/ affected:

The strategy has some aspects which are Universal e.g.
Promoting suicide awareness and help-seeking within the community
The majority of the strategy, however, is targeted. Groups include:
Children and young people
Men
Individuals with mental health and / or substance misuse problems
Self harm and suicide attempts
People in contact with the criminal justice system
Older people
People living with long-term physical health conditions
People in difficult economic circumstances
People affected by family breakdown, bereavement or isolation
Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups
2. Is it relevant to the general duties as specified by the Equality Act? (see
Guidance notes)
The strategy is relevant mainly to:
1. Eliminating Discrimination
2. Promoting Equality of Opportunity
Research into the users of mental health services informed the strategy and there will be
monitoring of users as part of the action plan.
Is there any evidence or reason to believe that some groups could be differently affected?
Yes
Which equality groups are affected?
Age
Disability
Gender
Gender Reassignment
Marriage or Civil Partnership
Race
Sexual orientation

3. What is the degree of relevance?

C22

In your view, is the information you have on each category adequate to make a decision
about relevance?
Yes (specify which groups)
Children and young people
Men
Individuals with mental health and / or substance misuse problems
Self harm and suicide attempts
People in contact with the criminal justice system
Older people
People living with long-term physical health conditions
People in difficult economic circumstances
People affected by family breakdown, bereavement or isolation
No (specify which categories)
Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups
Gender Reassignment
Marriage or Civil Partnership
Sexual orientation
Are there any triggers for this review (for example is there any public concern that
functions/services are being operated in a discriminatory manner?) If yes please indicate
which:
No
4. Conclusion
On the basis of the relevance test would you say that there is evidence that a medium or
high detrimental impact is likely?
It is expected that the suicide prevention strategy will have an overall positive impact. A full
equality impact will be carried out on the forthcoming action plan for the strategy to ensure
that the planned actions will be fair and equitable.
Note: if a medium or high detrimental impact has been identified then a full equality impact
assessment must be undertaken using Form B.

Adults and Children’s Committee

D1

Appendix D

16 March 2016
Strengthening the Council's Housing Governance Arrangements
Director of Place
Purpose
To consider and agree changes to the Council's decision making arrangements in relation
to housing matters
Recommendations of the Portfolio Holder for Adults Social Care and Health
To Resolve that 1.

a Housing Sub-Committee reporting to the Adults and Children's Committee be
established with effect from the commencement of the 2016/17 Municipal Year;

2.

the terms of reference of the Housing Sub-Committee as set out in Annex 2 be
agreed;

3.

the membership of the Housing Sub-Committee comprises five councillors in the ratio
of three Conservative members, one Liberal Democrat member and one Labour
Member, subject to proportionality considerations and agreement, and five non voting
advisory members representing respectively sheltered housing residents,
leaseholders, private sector landlords, residents associations and registered
providers

To Recommend to Council that 4.

the Constitutional modifications necessary to give effect to (1) to (3) above be
approved;

5.

the Housing Consultative Committee, Private Sector Housing Consultative Committee
and Resident Scrutiny Arbitration Panel be disestablished at the conclusion of the
2015/16 Municipal Year;

6.

the revised responsibilities of this Committee as set out in paragraph 37 be agreed
and the Terms of Reference amended accordingly;

7.

the tenant/leaseholder advisory members be correspondingly removed from
membership of the Adults and Children's Committee with effect from the end of the
2015/16 Municipal Year;

8.

the Scheme of Members Allowances be amended to include the Advisory Members of
the Housing Sub-Committee;

9.

the Head of Corporate Governance be authorised to make any necessary
consequential modifications to the Constitution; and

10. the dates for meetings for the Housing Sub-Committee as set out in paragraph 47 be
agreed.
Key Points
A.

The Council is committed to ensuring effective resident engagement in its formal
decision making processes, as well as regular dialogue with the wide range of
residents groups and partners that have a stake in the development and delivery of
social housing and housing services in the borough.

D2
B.

In the current committee arrangements housing is part of the remit of Adults and
Children’s Committee. This provides limited time and opportunity for Member
oversight and consideration of housing policy and service matters. At the same time
the Government is implementing far reaching housing policy changes that have a
significant impact on social housing in Kingston.

C.

Given this combination of factors, it is an opportune time to assess and change the
housing committee arrangements, both to ensure effective Member oversight of
housing and strengthen resident input into council decision making.
The proposals in this report include replacing the three formal consultative housing
bodies – Housing Consultative Committee, the Private Sector Housing Consultative
Committee and the Resident Scrutiny Arbitration Panel – with a Housing SubCommittee with delegated decision making powers. It will include non voting
resident and partner co-optees from the key interest groups to ensure more direct,
representative and effective input into decision making for residents and partners.

D.

Context
1.

The Adults and Children’s Committee meeting on the 11 November 2015
considered a report on the development of a community housing trust. It agreed to
halt this work and that the Director of Place should develop a Housing
Commissioning Programme. The Programme has a number of workstreams,
including a review of housing governance and resident engagement. This report
sets out proposals and recommendations in relation to the review of housing
governance.

2.

In overall terms, the review has two main aims:
● to strengthen the council’s focus on the significant policy and financial
challenges facing social housing;
● to ensure greater resident and partner input in the council’s formal decision
making processes.
Current Arrangements

3.

Housing governance relates to: the formal council bodies that oversee the council’s
housing functions and are set out in the council’s constitution; and the informal
housing groups and forums that provide a range of consultation and engagement
mechanisms for residents and the partners.

4.

The governance map (Annex 3) shows the current arrangements, including the
formal council bodies - Adults & Children's Committee, Housing Consultative
Committee, Private Sector Housing Consultative Committee and the Resident
Scrutiny Arbitration Panel - and the informal groups, as well as the links between
the different parts of this consultation and engagement ‘system’.

5.

The main focus for the changes proposed in this report is the formal council bodies
related to housing - Adults & Children's Committee, Housing Consultative
Committee and Private Sector Housing Consultative Committee - and the links
between the formal bodies and the key stakeholder groups.

D3
6.

The Adults and Children's Committee is one of four council ‘strategic
committees’. In general terms the strategic committees are responsible for setting
borough-wide policy and making decisions on services that go beyond a single
neighbourhood. By their nature these committees encompass a substantial set of
functions, as well as a range of important strategic and cross-cutting responsibilities
both between different council functions and with statutory and other partners.

7.

The Committee has specific responsibility for amongst other areas adults social
care, public health, children’s services and housing. Membership includes four cooptees, including two nominated by the Housing Consultative Committee that are
council residents.

8.

The Housing Consultative Committee (HCC) While the Committee is a
consultative body, its terms of reference (Annex 1) indicate it is responsible for
considering and approving policies in relation to strategic housing management,
referring matters to the parent committee where formal approval is required.

9.

Membership includes five councillors, three representatives from each registered
Residents Association (currently there are eight of these), any tenants or
leaseholders that have joined the Kingston Federation of Residents under its
individual membership category and two elected officers from the Federation.

10.

The HCC terms of reference include the Resident Participation Review Group. It
is an informal consultation group run by the Kingston Federation of Residents
(KFR), with resident and KFR members. It also has a role in considering reports
from the Kingston Residents Scrutiny Panel. It is attended by Housing officers and
councillors.

11.

The Private Sector Housing Consultative Committee is a consultative forum to
discuss matters related to the provision of private sector housing accommodation
and policy initiatives affecting the private sector, as well as implementation of the
private sector components of the Affordable Housing Action Plan.

12.

Its membership includes five Councillors and seven representatives from the Small
Landlords’ Association, other landlords, accommodation agencies, estate agents,
private sector tenants, owners, leaseholders and lenders.

13.

The final Housing formal body relates to housing scrutiny.The Resident Scrutiny
Arbitration Panel considers any disputes that may arise from the Kingston
Residents Housing Scrutiny Panel’s report and recommendations. Membership
includes one councillor, one member of a resident scrutiny panel from a
neighbouring housing provider or local authority, and one representative from a
local community group.
Considerations and Issues

14.

There are a number of important general considerations in assessing the current
housing governance and decision making system. The map of current
arrangements (Annex 3) shows an extensive network that provides a range of
mechanisms and opportunities for residents and partners to engage with the
Housing Service and the council. By and large these are active, with regular wellattended meetings.

15.

It is also important to see it as a whole. The range of different groups and forums
reflects both the complexity of housing within the borough and the fact that there

D4
are a number of important and distinct groups of stakeholders within the wider
groups of residents and housing providers. There are of course shared interests,
but there are also important differences, whether of perspective, approach, priorities
or issues. This network reflects the plurality of interests and views and at the same
time provides the mechanisms for their expression.
16.

Given this, it is proposed to leave the structures and groups that make up the this
network largely unchanged - with the exceptions described below - so that the
Housing Service, Councillors and the council can continue to hear and engage with
this plurality of voices and interests.

17.

In relation to the formal committee arrangements, there are a number of issues
arising from the current arrangements that have an impact on how well they work,
particularly when assessed against the objective of more effective resident
engagement in decision making. These are described below.

18.

Adults and Children's Committee (A&CC) The relatively recent reduction in
Strategic Committee cycles, from six to five, has created practical and
organisational issues for housing governance. Agenda management for the A&CC
is inevitably difficult given its wide remit and the volume of business, which as a
result leaves limited space and time for consideration of important housing matters.

19.

At the same time, the raft of recent and very significant Government housing
proposals has emphasised the importance of regular, detailed and robust councillor
consideration of housing issues.

20.

This unintended adverse impact of the committee changes is generally recognised
and there is widespread support for the proposal to create a standalone housing
decision making body within the council’s decision making structures. This would
provide the mechanism to ensure the necessary councillor oversight of housing
policy and service matters and at the same time reflect the Administration’s
commitment to social housing in the borough, as well as its significant role as a
social landlord.

21.

Housing Consultative Committee The Housing Consultative Committee has
played an important role in giving residents input to the consideration of housing
policy, service development and service delivery. It also provides a focus for
housing in the context of council decision making frameworks that encompass
housing as part of wider strategic portfolios.

22.

The creation of a housing decision making body can now provide this focus. As
such it will be the natural place for residents, residents groups and partners to
engage with the council, giving them the opportunity to have a direct dialogue with
the decision makers.

23.

One way to support this dialogue will be through the co-optees on the subcommittee, with the opportunity to reflect the wider range of housing interest groups
than are currently represented on the Housing Consultative Committee, where the
membership is limited to Resident Association members, Kingston Federation
individual members and Kingston Federation officers.

24.

The aim will be to have a co-optee place for each of the main resident and partner
interest groups - sheltered housing, leaseholders, private sector landlords, residents
associations and registered providers.This will provide a vital, significant and
strengthened connection between the formal and informal parts of the housing
consultation and engagement system.

D5

25.

With these changes, the requirement for the Housing Consultative Committee no
longer exists. In terms of the Resident Participation Review Group (RPRG), its role
in relation to consideration of scrutiny reports will be replaced by a direct link and
reporting from the Kingston Resident Scrutiny Panel to the housing decision making
body (see paragraphs 29 - 32 below). Given this change and in conjunction with the
range of consultative groups and mechanisms already in place, there is no obvious
role for or requirement to continue with the RPRG.

26.

Private Sector Housing Consultative Committee There is no clear rationale for
the existence of a formal consultative body representing the interests of one group private sector housing - when other groups that would have an equal claim to this
type of representation have no equivalent formal arrangement.

27.

In operational terms, its meeting are infrequent, often poorly attended and because
of the nature of formal council bodies, constrained from providing the practical focus
that the sector wants.

28.

Housing officers have been working on proposals for a forum based on a
partnership approach that can create opportunities for landlords to raise day to day
issues, network and learn from others. The National Landlords Association has
developed this type of model and the council would want to work with the
Association to create much more vibrant, practical ways of engaging with local
landlords.

29.

The terms of reference for the Residents Scrutiny Arbitration Panel give a brief
description of its role, but give no indication of the process following its deliberations
or where it sits within the council's decision making structures. It has in any case
never met, which suggests that the requirement for its existence is more apparent
than real.

30.

There is a requirement to ensure housing scrutiny reviews and recommendations
are given proper consideration by the council. The current arrangements require
scrutiny reports to go through the Residents Participation Review Group before
going on to Housing Consultative Committee, which will in turn refer any
recommendations requiring formal decision to Adults and Children's Committee.

31.

This is a lengthy process and means the valuable work of the residents involved in
the Kingston Residents Scrutiny Panel (KRISP) can get lost. The move to a housing
decision making body offers the opportunity to create a direct link between scrutiny
activities and KRISP, with reports considered by the Committee empowered to take
decisions on their recommendations, as well as monitoring their implementation.

32.

This strengthened relationship between scrutiny and decision making at the same
time provides a replacement mechanism for dealing with any possible disputes
arising from scrutiny recommendations. They will be considered and decided on by
the housing decision making body, which in any case would be the likely end point
even if the arbitration panel is retained.

D6
Proposals
33.

The central proposal is the replacement of the Housing Consultative Committee
with a housing decision making body. A map showing the proposed bodies and
groups, with links is at Annex 4.

34.

In terms of its membership and operation, the following is proposed:
●
●
●
●

that it is a sub-committee of the Adults and Children's Committee. This will
ensure that Member/Committee oversight of the important policy and
service links between health, social care and housing are maintained;
the sub-committee will have delegated powers in relation to the housing
activities set out in Annex 2;
there will be ten places on the committee, five councillor places and five
non-voting advisory member places.
the co-optee places will come from the five main resident and partner
interest groups - sheltered housing, leaseholders, private sector landlords,
residents associations and registered providers.

35.

In terms of the way the Sub-Committee works, it will have to meet all the usual
statutory and best practice transparency requirements relating to Committees and
Sub-Committees of the Council, including opening its meetings to the public and the
normal notice arrangements. It is intended that there will be opportunities at the
beginning of each meeting for questions from the public in the same manner as the
Strategic and Neighbourhood Committees.

36.

It will also aim to offer a range of different, less formal approaches to encourage
resident and partner involvement in the work of the Sub-Committee. For example,
this might include time at meetings for interest groups and partners to present on
issues of concern and discuss these with the committee.

37.

The Sub-Committee’s reporting lines, including references and reports to Treasury
Committee and Council, will be through this Committee. This Committee will retain
the ability to exercise all the functions of the Sub-Committee should it be necessary
to do so and will continue to be ultimately responsible for approval of HRA budgets,
rents and housing related charges, and adjustments to the HRA capital programme
within the resources allocated, as well as those housing matters which relate to the
Council’s wider health and wellbeing policies and programmes. It is proposed that
not less than two voting members of the Sub-Committee shall be able to requisition
any resolution to the parent Committee for consideration.

38.

It shall be necessary to revise the Constitution in order to reflect the revised Terms
of Reference of the Adults and Children's Committee as set out in paragraph 37,
and to clarify that arrangements for consultation with the relevant Chair on urgent
matters under Standing Order 32 also apply to the Sub-Committee.

39.

Unlike the Housing Consultative Committee, as a formally constituted SubCommittee of the Council within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1972,
the Housing Sub-Committee will be formally subject to political balance
requirements. This effectively increases the total number of seats available to be
divided amongst the political groups on the Council.

40.

The appointment of members to serve on the Sub-Committee shall be a matter for
this Committee with the appointments normally to be made at a special meeting to

D7
be held on the rising of Annual Council in order to ensure that the membership is in
place for the first meeting of the new Municipal Year.
41.

One named individual may be appointed to act as a substitute in the case of each of
the advisory members in accordance with Standing Order 30(2) (h) and (i).

42.

While the informal groups and forums are proposed to continue largely unchanged,
there is an additional structure change that relates to the disestablishment of the
Private Sector Housing Consultative Committee and its replacement with a landlord
forum.

43.

All the proposed changes and, where relevant how they relate to each other, are
summarised in the table below.
CURRENT

CHANGE

PROPOSED

Housing Consultative Committee

Deleted

Housing sub-Committee
(replacement)

Private Sector Housing Consultative
Committee

Deleted

Landlord Forum (replacement)

Residents Scrutiny Arbitration Panel

Deleted

Direct link between KRISP and the Housing
sub-Committee

Residents Participation Review Group

Deleted

Direct link between KRISP and the Housing
sub-Committee + continuing network of
interest groups and forums

Consultations
44.

There have been meetings to discuss the issues and possible approaches with
Residents Associations, the Kingston Federation of Residents, The Kingston
Resident Scrutiny Panel, the Sheltered Housing Panel and the Registered Provider
Forum.

45.

There is general support for the creation of a housing decision making body.
Timescale

46.

If agreed at this meeting, the recommendations for constitutional change will be
submitted to the Council meeting on 26 April 2016 for approval. The changes will
come into effect from the beginning of the Council’s new municipal year in May
2016.

47.

If the recommendations are agreed, it is proposed that the dates scheduled in the
municipal calendar for the Housing Consultative Committee would be used for the
Housing Sub-Committee - these being as follows:
●15 June 2016
●13 September 2016
●10 November 2016
●24 January 2017
●8 March 2017.

D8
Resource Implications
48.

It is suggested that the co-opted advisory members be entitled to the same
allowance currently applied to those who sit on this Committee, presently £507.53
pa.
Legal Implications

49.

None arising from the specific recommendations of this report.
Risk Assessment

50.

None arising from the specific recommendations of this report
Equalities Impact Assessment

51.

There are no services or functions directly affected by the recommendations of this
report and the relevance test is not therefore applicable.

52.

In identifying co-optees for the housing sub-committee the aim will be to ensure as
far as possible that places as possible places are filled from the widest possible
choice and aiming to ensure representation across the diversity of Kingston’s
population.
Road Network Implications

53.

None arising from the specific recommendations of this report.
Environmental Implications

54.

None arising from the specific recommendations of this report.

Background papers - held by the author of the report /other
Frank Dick, Interim Programme Manager - Housing Commissioning Programme
tel 0208 547 5439:
●

None other than those referred to in this report

Annexes
Annex 1 - Housing Consultative Committee - current terms of reference
Annex 2 - Housing Sub-Committee - proposed terms of reference
Annex 3 - Map of Current Arrangements
Annex 4 - Map of Proposed Arrangements

D9

Annex 1
HOUSING CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE
MEMBERSHIP
Five Councillors (Lead Member for Better Homes, the Opposition Spokesperson and three other
Councillors), representatives of tenants and leaseholders.
TERMS OF REFERENCE
1. To consider and approve policies in relation to Strategic Housing Management, referring
matters on to the relevant Council Committee, where their formal approval is required. For
example:
a.

Policies and overall arrangements for the management of estates including the conditions
of tenancy and of leases and their enforcement, repairs and
b. maintenance, estate cleaning, caretaking and warden services.
c. The practical arrangements for the delivery of housing services, location of offices,
opening hours, arrangements for payment etc.
d. The setting of rents and service charges and the collection of those charges.
e. The allocation of Council properties and the arrangement of nominations to other
accommodation provided by social housing agencies.
f.
All housing investment decisions which will, or are likely to affect the level of rent
charged to tenants.
2.

To approve the Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

3. To consider and comment upon the Council's Housing Strategy and Investment
Programme proposals.
4. To consider and submit views with regard to the Housing Capital Programme taking into
account, so far as possible, any representations received from the neighbourhood committees,
local management forums and residents' associations.
5. To receive and consider the Housing Management Performance Indicators which are
provided to tenants and lessees in the Annual Report and make recommendations for
changes or improvements
6. To consider and approve scrutiny investigation reports and recommendations from the
Kingston Residents’ Scrutiny Panel, referring on to the Place & Sustainability Committee those
recommendations and improvements that require a change in policy, or have a significant
financial implication, or to the Neighbourhoods Committee where recommendations have
specific local impact.
7.

To monitor the implementation plan arising from each scrutiny investigation.

D10
CONSTITUTION
The Housing Consultative Committee shall comprise the following:
Tenant and Leaseholders’ Representatives
Three representatives from each registered Residents' Association all of whom must be a tenant or
leaseholder of the Council within the area represented.
Council tenants and leaseholders who have joined the Kingston Federation of Residents under its
individual membership category, living in areas not currently represented by an accredited
residents’ association, limited to a maximum of two such tenants or leaseholders from any given
estate or defined area.
Two duly elected officers of the Federation of Residents’ Association, (without voting powers)
Councillor Representatives
Four members appointed by the Council. These members shall be entitled to be represented by
named deputies , who shall also be appointed by the Council.
Chair and Vice Chair
The Chair and Vice-Chair shall be elected by the Housing Consultative Committee from its own
membership. Nominations for these posts may come from either resident representatives or
elected members.
Period of Office
All the above representatives and the Chair and Vice-Chair shall be appointed annually and shall
serve for the period of the Council's municipal year. Each representative may be appointed for
more than one term of office.
Vacancies
Casual vacancies shall be filled at the earliest opportunity, by the Residents’ Associations or by the
Council, whichever is appropriate, for the vacancy that has arisen. If neither the Chair nor ViceChair is present at a meeting, then a Chair shall be appointed for the meeting.
Quorum
A quorum for the meeting shall be not less than ten members of whom at least three shall be
councillors.
Agenda despatch
All agenda, reports etc., will be sent out to all members of the Committee no later than five days
before the meeting.

PROCEDURE
Meetings of the Committee shall be held at least once in each Council cycle, subject to there being
sufficient business for discussion. The meetings shall start at 7.00pm, or at such other time as may
be determined by the Committee. They should finish no later than 8.30pm, unless agreed by the
Chair.
Special, or urgent meetings of the Housing Consultative Committee may be called on a request by
at least four voting members of the Committee, with a minimum of one clear day's notice (i.e.

D11

excluding the date of notification and the date of the meeting), on a date to be determined In
consultation with the Chair. The Chair shall be entitled, in agreement with the Vice-Chair, to call a
special or urgent meeting of the Committee with one clear
day's notice (i.e. excluding the date of notification and the date of the meeting).
The Chair may agree to the consideration of business other than that appearing on the Agenda, if,
in the view of the Chair, it is of an urgent nature.
The Resident Participation Review Group (RPRG) shall be incorporated as part of the Council’s
formal democratic services structure and, under delegated authority from the Chair of HCC, will
initially receive and consider reports and/or recommendations from the Kingston Residents
Scrutiny Panel, before referring on to HCC with its own observations.
Reports of the meetings shall be submitted to the Residents Participation Review Group and shall
contain:
i) Items of information, where no action is proposed, or where action is being
taken by the Director of Place under delegated authority; and
ii) Items that have been referred on to the relevant Committee for decision
RULES OF DEBATE
Each resident association shall have one vote only; and each councillor shall also have one vote.
Voting shall be by a show of hands, and a motion shall be carried by a simple majority of those
voting.
The Chair shall have a second or casting vote which may be exercised in the event of an equality
of votes. If the Chair chooses not to exercise this second or casting vote, then the motion shall fall.
Only one member shall speak at any one time, at the invitation of the Chair.
Only one motion, including any amendment(s) to it, shall be debated and voted upon at a time;
each such motion and/or amendment(s) shall be proposed and seconded before being debated.
There shall be no more than three amendments to each motion.
Motions may only be moved on matters contained within the Agenda or on any matters of
procedure.

1.

D12

Annex 2
Housing Sub-Committee - Proposed Terms of Reference
Subject to final Constitutional amendments
1.

The sub-committee has overall responsibility for the council’s housing functions, including
council housing, homelessness, allocations and standards of housing in the area.
Specific responsibilities include:
(a) The Council’s Housing Strategy;
(b) homelessness and the allocation of housing;
(c) the commissioning or delivery of landlord functions in relation to council owned housing;
(d) all matters related to the regulation of private sector housing;
(e) housing licensing and housing enforcement;
(f)
housing loans and grants
In addition the Sub-Committee :
(g)
oversees the Housing Revenue Account, making recommendations to the Adults and
Children's Committee on its management;
(h)
contributes to the development and delivery of the estate regeneration programme and is
responsible for the policies and processes required to implement the programme, where
they relate to residents and leaseholders;
(i)
considers and makes recommendations to the Adults and Children's Committee on
matters relating to the the council’s wider health and wellbeing policies and programmes

Not less than two voting members of the Sub-Committee present at a meeting may require any
resolution to take action to be reported to the next meeting of the Adults and Children's Committee
and, if they so desire, the matter under consideration shall be the subject of a recommendation to
the Adults and Children’s Committee provided that the matter is not deemed so urgent that it is in
the public interest for this provision not to apply.

D13

Annex 4
Map 2 - Housing Governance – Proposed Adults and Children’s
Committee
Formal Structures
Housing
sub Committee

Partnership/Engagement
Structures (Providers)

Partnership/Engagement
Structures (Residents)

Kingston
Residents’
Scrutiny Panel

Kingston Strategic
Housing Partnership

Better Homes
Delivery Board

Repairs Panel

Housing Needs &
Homelessness Forum
Registered Providers
Forum *

Black & Ethnic
Minority Forum
Kingston Inter Faith
Forum

Sheltered
Housing Panel *

Leaseholder
Forum *

Landlord
Forum *

Housing Management Team
Key
* Nominate to co-optee places on the sub-committee

Kingston
Federation
of Residents

New Body/Group

Residents
Associations*
(currently eight)

Kingston Disabled &
Older People’s
forum

D14

Affordable Housing Forum

Other Groups with
an interest in
Housing

Adults and Children’s Committee

E1

Appendix E

16 March 2016
Parking Enforcement on HRA land
Director of Place
Purpose
To agree a process for implementing appropriate enforcement of parking controls on HRA
land.
Recommendations of the Portfolio Holder for Adults Social Care and Health
To 
Resolve
that 
1.

arrangements are made for parking enforcement to be carried out by the main
highways parking contractor and to be included in the contract which is to be let
during the financial year 2016/2017;

2.

further consultation is carried out with individual estates to determine which estates
are included in the parking enforcement scheme;

3.

the Head of Housing is authorised, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Adults
Social Care and Health and Opposition Spokesperson for Adults Social Care and
Health, to consider the outcome of this consultation and for those estates with a
positive outcome to progress:
(a)
(b)

obtaining Traffic Management Orders for housing land to enable parking
enforcement to be carried out ;
arranging for works to be commenced to ensure the estates have appropriately
marked bays and suitable compliant signage ready for parking enforcement to
go live.

Key Points
A.

There has been no parking enforcement on housing land since the Protection of
Freedoms Act 2012 was enacted. Since this time, there has been significant
resident demand for reinstatement of parking enforcement as there are a number
of parking problems across our housing stock.

B.

Following a review of the options and financial modelling, the recommended
option is to apply for Traffic Management Orders across our housing estates.
This would allow for alignment with the legal requirements of the Borough’s
highways and car parks enforcement. In combination with inclusion in the relet
contract, this option offers a robust level of parking enforcement that should
deter those without the right to park on housing land. We can also set
appropriate terms for the parking scheme that best suits our residents.

C.

Some initial works will be required to ensure compliant signage is installed
across the sites. There will also need to be a planned programme of
reinstatement of lines and bays.

D.

Further consultation is required with residents on individual estates to obtain
agreement to implement a parking enforcement scheme. Further review and
consultation is also required to establish the terms of the parking enforcement
scheme.

E2
Context
1.

Many housing estates are close to popular shopping centres, large places of
work and study or stations. Parking in carparks in these areas tends to be
limited and can be expensive. Drivers therefore seek a cheap alternative by
parking for free on housing estates. This deprives residents of parking by their
homes and can cause problems for carers or family visiting vulnerable
residents.

2.

Parking was previously enforced via a clamping contractor at a cost to the
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) of £4,000 per year. However the
Protections of Freedoms Act 2012 made a number of changes to the law
relating to parking on private land  principally, no longer allowing vehicle
immobilisation (clamping) and / or removal of a vehicle. As a result of this
change in legislation, the Council’s contractor decided not to continue
business and the Council stopped parking enforcement on housing land.

3.

Parking enforcement is a high priority for residents and is regularly the subject
of contact with the housing department. A report was taken to the Residents
Participation Review Group (RPRG) in September 2015 recommending that
parking enforcement was restarted. It was further recommended that any
parking enforcement should be cost neutral to the HRA in light of current
financial pressures. Further recommendations included that individual housing
estates should be consulted to determine the need for parking enforcement
and there was agreement for a pilot on two estates to test out physical
parking control measures.

Proposal and Options
4.

Physical parking control measures have been used previously, including
lockable bollards and locked gates. Two pilots were started in October 2015
to trial these measures on estates which were regularly reporting problems
with parking. Unfortunately these pilots were not successful, there were a
number of problems with vandalism and deliberate poor parking. As a
consequence we are not recommending further roll out of these measures.

5.

There are two options to use permit parking to enforce parking controls:

Option 1 Traffic Management Orders
6.

The first option is to use the Council’s powers to apply for Traffic Management
Orders (TMO) to introduce parking enforcement on housing land. The
legislation for these orders requires formal consultation and if any objections
which cannot be resolved, under the scheme of delegation, they must go to
the relevant committee for discussion and determination.

7.

By using this route, we would be able to use the parking enforcement
contractor commissioned by the Highways Management team. Residents on
housing estates would pay for a permit. which would would enable them to
park anywhere on the relevant estate. (Highways permits are currently
charged at £90 pa and the intention is to align broadly with the same terms
and conditions.)

8.

E3
Parking enforcement officers would visit regularly and issue Penalty Charge
Notices to anyone not in possession of a valid permit or who was parked
incorrectly (e.g. on a double yellow line).

9.

There would be initial resources required to complete the paperwork for the
Traffic Management Orders. Colleagues in Highways Management have
agreed they can assist with some of this, other resources within Housing
Operations would need to be identified.

10.

Some initial financial modelling has been carried out and it would be possible
run the service as cost neutral. We anticipate the cost of running the service
to be in the region of £90,000. This includes the costs of the visits made by
enforcement officers, including travel time as well as the management costs of
supervision. We expect this cost to be covered through the issuing of permits
and collecting fines. This sum is not fixed, there will be the opportunity for
flexibility in the costs of running the service depending on demand and
income. The parking enforcement service will be reviewed annually.

11.

The current parking contract is under review and is going out to tender in the
next financial year. Agreement has been obtained from OK Place and the
Parking Project Board to include parking enforcement on housing land in the
contract. There are a number of innovations proposed within this contract
such as the use of Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) and virtual
permits which will also benefit housing.

Option 2  Commissioning a private parking enforcement contractor
12.

The second option is to directly commission a parking enforcement contractor
without using TMO powers. There is legislation which enables car parking
regulations to be enforced by private contractors and this is used in a number
of locations such as hospital carparks, supermarkets and other business
carparks. This is complex and includes contract law, civil law (the tort of
trespass) and statute (Protection of Freedoms Act 2012). There are a number
of these contractors operating in this area.

13.

These contractors offer a service which is largely costneutral as the service is
funded through the collection of fines. However the process for issuing and
collecting fines is less robust than the TMO option. It relies on complex
legislation and has less standing in the courts. There would also be less
control and input on the level of enforcement and frequency and times of
visits.

14.

For both options there will be a cost for the removal of out of date signs and
the installation at approved locations of accurate signage. There will also be
the need to reinstate lines and other markings where these are no longer
legible. There is some funding already earmarked for resurfacing some of the
worst car parking areas and this will include line markings. There is also the
possibility of Better Homes including line markings if they complete works to
car park areas.

Conclusion
15.

Overall the recommended option is to apply for Traffic Management Orders for
our estates and to be part of the procurement process for a highways parking
enforcement contractor. Although both the options outlined above are largely
cost neutral, it is prudent to use the more robust option that offers greater
control for housing. Residents have clearly indicated that parking is a high
priority for them and would welcome effective parking enforcement.

16.

E4
Further work is required to determine the details of the parking enforcement
scheme, including hours of operation, visitor parking permits and carers
parking. In addition, each estate would need individual consultation to gain
agreement for inclusion in a parking enforcement scheme.

Consultations
17.

Estate parking has been discussed at several meetings of the Resident
Participation Review Group and also at the Sheltered Housing Panel Meeting.
A report on estate parking was presented to RPRG and also to the Housing
Management team in September 2015.

18.

Further consultation is to be carried out with individual estates to determine
demand for parking enforcement. Consultation is also required for the details
of the parking enforcement scheme.

19.

The KRiSP panel has selected estate parking for their current scrutiny review.
This timely look at parking is welcomed and will feed into further consultation
and review work. The KRiSP review has three objectives:
●
●
●

to consider the detail of how parking enforcement will be implemented
to consider the generality of parking in Kingston
to ensure there is a resident voice

Timescale
20.

The report on the letting the new parking enforcement contract is going to the
relevant strategic committee in April 2016. The aim is for the new contract to
go live in April 2017.

21.

This is also the date we are aiming for go live for parking enforcement on
housing estates as this requires a substantial amount of work to prepare for
implementation.

Resource Implications
22.

There are estimated set up costs of £10K for signage and the marking out of
spaces which can be met from within existing HRA budgets. The ongoing
annual costs are estimated to be in the region of £90k which would be
recovered through a combination of issuing permits and collecting fines.

Legal Implications
23.

The housing area will be included in the contract specification as an option
and there is councilwide support for us to work in partnership on this. This
contract will be subject to legal review and consultation and this is monitored
through the appropriate boards and committees.

24.

All Traffic Management Orders need to follow a prescribed process and this is
monitored through the relevant committee with delegated authority.

Risk Assessment
25.

Progress on this project will be dependent upon the parking enforcement
project and the letting of that contract being taken forward by the parking
enforcement team.

E5
Equalities Impact Assessment
26.

There is no impact to the majority of the groups with ‘protected characteristics’
as set out in the Equalities Act.

27.

However, people with a disability may be impacted by this policy. Generally
people with a disability benefit from well enforced parking schemes as it will
ensure disabled parking bays are only used by those entitled to do so. It will
also assist with mobility by freeing dropped kerbs from blockage. The roads
should also be clearer for access for essential passenger vehicles. People
with a disability who have a car receive free parking via the blue badge
scheme so will not be disadvantaged by the introduction of a parking
enforcement scheme.

28.

There are a number of residents who receive regular visits from a carer. This
could be from a recognised agency or it could be less formal arrangements
such as visits from family or friends. Agency carers currently purchase a
borough wide ‘service provider’ permit and this could easily be extended to
include housing estates. All the main care providers are in this scheme.
Further consultation and review is required to establish the best way to offer
facilities to people who receive informal care from friends or family.

Road Network Implications
29.

Prevention of obstructive parking will free up estate roads and allow access to
essential servicing vehicles such as waste collection, deliveries and
emergency vehicles.

Environmental Implications
30.

Car ownership is on the increase in the borough. This policy will enable us to
better manage car parking within our housing estates and may encourage
people to use their car less often. This is particularly the case for
nonresidents who are using our estates as free parking and may now
consider public transport offers better value for money.

Background papers held by the author of the report 
 Iona McConnell Group
Manager Housing Operations 
iona.mcconnell@kingston.gov.uk
020 8547 5664
.

Adults and Children’s Committee

F1

Appendix F

16 March 2016
Revised Air Quality Action Plan
Report by the Director of Place
Purpose
To agree the revised Air Quality Action Plan.
Recommendations of the Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care and Health.
To Resolve 1.

which, if any, of the potential additional actions set out in Annex 1 should be added to
the Air Quality Action Plan

2.

that the Air Quality Action Plan at Annex 3, subject to any amendments made at the
Committee meeting be adopted and implemented with effect from 1 April 2016

3.

that the Council signs up and adopts the Mayor of London Cleaner Air Borough
Criteria set out in Annex 4 of the report.

Key Points
A.

The whole of the Borough was designated an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA)
in 2003, requiring the Council to develop an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) setting
out the measures it intends to put in place in pursuit of National Air Quality Objectives

B.

In September 2015 the Committee resolved to consult on a draft revised Air Quality
Action Plan (AQAP) and this report presents the results of the consultation process
(Annexes 1 and 2).

C.

The AQAP has been revised in light of the consultation responses and a number of
additional actions arising out of analysis of the responses made are being proposed
for inclusion in the Plan.

D.

A draft AQAP for adoption, subject to any amendments agreed at the meeting, is
provided at Annex 3.

E.

The AQAP sets out a range of challenging, but hopefully achievable, actions across
development control, transport planning and public health that will run in parallel with
and support the Borough’s planned growth agenda. These actions aim to mitigate
any possible deterioration of air quality that the growth may generate and, where
possible, use it as an opportunity to secure improvements.

F.

Details of action to attract funding to support Air Quality Initiatives are included within
the report. An opportunity for the Council to sign up to the Mayor of London’s Cleaner
Air Borough Criteria is set out at paragraphs 15-17 and Annex 4. The report seeks
resolution to adopt those criteria.

Context
1.

In September 2015, the Committee resolved to approve a draft Air Quality Action
Plan for a period of consultation.

F2
2.

The draft Air Quality Action Plan was made available for consultation on the
Council's online Community Engagement Portal between 1st October 2015 and 7th
January 2016.

3.

Members resolved that the consultation should specifically include schools, and with
the assistance of colleagues in Achieving for Children, an email was sent to all
headteachers in January seeking their views.

4.

In addition, a number of statutory consultees were also approached including Defra,
the Greater London Authority, the Environment Agency, the Highways Authority and
neighbouring boroughs.

5.

Consultation via the community engagement portal attracted 50 responses, with an
additional 5 responses being submitted separately in writing.

Proposal and Options
6.

The responses made via the consultation portal have been analysed and the key
themes and comments arising have been summarised and are presented at Annex
1. All consultation responses are available as a background document in a report
prepared by the Council’s communications team.

7.

The written responses have also been summarised and included within Annex 1,
however the responses are also presented in full at Annex 2.

8.

Members will be aware that the Environment Shared Service has been
implemented in the period between the last committee and this one. It has not been
possible for the officer working group to meet following the consultation period
mainly due to the timing coinciding with the recruitment process for the shared
service.

9.

The Shared Service has an increased technical resource capacity in Air Quality with
newly appointed officers in the Licensing & Environmental Compliance team and
that expertise has been used to refine the draft Air Quality Action Plan in light of the
consultation responses. Changes to the plan are highlighted for clarity.

10.

A number of potential new actions have been identified that arise out of the
consultation responses and these are detailed in the summary at annex 1. Members
are invited to consider whether these should be included within the approved Action
Plan

11.

The revised draft Air Quality Action Plan is provided at Annex 3, and this report
seeks members approval of the Action Plan for adoption in April 2016.

12.

The purpose of an Action Plan is to set out the measures the Council intends to put
in place to achieve the National Air Quality Objectives, and the actions set out in
this report will be adopted into the Shared Environment Service work plans over the
next five years.

Funding for Air Quality Initiatives
13.

In September 2015, Members were particularly keen that the authority should seek
to attract funding to support air quality initiatives, particularly air quality monitoring
capability.

14.

In October 2015 a bid was submitted to the Defra Air Quality Grant Fund for
£55,000 of funding to support a programme of air quality monitoring in school
playgrounds, with capacity to provide green walls (living walls planted with pollution

F3
absorbing plants) at schools where monitoring identified that national objectives
were being exceeded. Unfortunately this bid was not successful.
15.

A successful bid has been made through the Council’s capital funding programme
which will provide £63,000 for the purchase of two Air Quality Monitoring Stations.
These monitoring stations will be procured over the next few months and will
replace the two monitoring stations currently being hired by the Council until midJune. The new stations will be permanently owned by the Authority and located in
yet to be determined positions within the Borough.

Cleaner Air Borough Criteria
16.

A further source of funding for Air Quality initiatives has been identified in the Mayor
of London’s Air Quality Fund - a £20m fund over ten years.

17.

However the Council has not been able to bid for this funding in the first two rounds.
To be eligible, the Authority must commit to making progress against the Mayor of
London’s Cleaner Air Borough criteria, which are set out in Annex 4. This is a
series of criteria under which the Authority will be able to demonstrate, in addition to
the AQAP, its intention to take steps to improve Air Quality.

18.

Members are invited to resolve that the Borough adopts the Cleaner Air Borough
criteria.

Timescale
19.

The Air Quality Action Plan sets out the measures the Authority will undertake in
pursuit of National Air Quality Objectives over the next five years. The actions
contained within the Plan will be factored into the Enforcement Service work plans
over this period.

20.

Adopting the Cleaner Air Borough Criteria will enable us to bid during the next round
of funding through the Mayor's Air Quality Fund, and will allow us to develop
initiatives that assist our compliance with our Action Plan objectives.

21.

The Authority will be required to report progress against the Action Plan annually to
the Greater London Authority (and via them to Defra) and this ‘Progress Report’ will
be brought to this committee each year.

Resource Implications
22.

The AQAP actions and associated monitoring and review obligations will be
factored into the work plans for the Shared Environment Service.The listed actions
will be funded from existing revenue budgets, sharing of resources or from identified
funding streams in some areas. Some actions are currently not funded and delivery
will depend on availability of resources and successful bidding for additional funding
in the future.

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment
23.

When the Borough was designated an Air Quality Management Area in 2003, under
the Environment Act 1995, it had to prepare a written plan, referred to as an action
plan, in pursuit of the achievement of air quality standards and objectives in the
designated area. Failure to produce an Action Plan not only provides reputational
risks but may also leave the Authority in a weaker position should any infractions
imposed by the European Commission be passed on by DEFRA to local authorities.
The attached draft plan is a revised action plan under S84(4) of the Environment
Act 1995.

F4
24.

Under Section 84(3) of the Environment Act 1995 an action plan shall include a
statement of the time or times by or within which the local authority in question
proposes to implement each of the proposed measures comprised in the plan.

Equalities Impact Assessment
25.

An Equalities Impact Assessment relevance test has been carried out. The
relevance test established that this policy does not present either a medium or high
detrimental impact to any of the protected characteristic groups, and as such a full
EQIA is not required.

Road Network Implications
26.

Some Action Plan measures may have an impact upon the development of the road
and other transport networks, however widespread implications are not anticipated
and many are likely to be complementary to network enhancements (creation of
cycle facilities, pedestrian enhancements etc).

Environmental Implications
27.

The Air Quality Action Plan is intended to prevent a deterioration in the environment
despite the proposed increase in population and its associated implications. Some
measures may, in some areas of the Borough, provide an improvement in the
environment through improved localised air quality.

Background papers - held by author, David Kingstone, Licensing & Environmental
Compliance Team Leader; 020 8547 5537 david.kingstone@kingston.gov.uk
.
●
Consultation responses made through Community Engagement Portal
●

2015 Updating Screening and Assessment (unpublished)

●

2014 Air Quality Progress Report (November 2014)

F5

Annex 1
Summary of Responses to the Consultation
Key Themes and Comments
1. The actions which received the strongest support, as measured by the percentage

of respondents rating them excellent were:
●
●
●

Working with train operators to provide fully secure and sheltered cycle parking at rail
stations (60.42%)
Provision of adequate cycle parking including secure cycle parking in the borough with
priority given to District Centres (58.33%)
Require that all new developments in the borough provide cycle parking in accordance
with minimum standards (57.78%)

2. The actions which received the highest percentage of respondents rating them excellent
OR satisfactory were:
●
Working with train operators to provide fully secure and sheltered cycle parking at rail
stations (95.84%)
●
Encouraging and supporting workplace, residential, leisure, retail and other sites to
provide cycle parking facilities (95.65%)
●
Improve freight access, loading and servicing arrangements at key locations in the
borough with the aim to ensure minimum traffic disturbance (95.65%)
3. The actions which received the lowest degree of support, as measured by the number of
responses rating them ‘non-satisfactory’ are listed below. The comments subsequently
provided in this question show that the non-satisfactory rating was generally as a result of
confusion over how some would be implemented or what the action meant. The common
themes raised in the comments section are therefore included below to demonstrate the
main reasons why these actions were not as well supported as others:
●

Support and encourage cycling (27.66% non-satisfactory rating) – respondents were
generally supportive of promoting cycling but felt that this should only be done
alongside improvements to the cycle network in order to provide a safe environment.
Other respondents expressed doubts that supporting and encouraging cycling would
make a noticeable improvement to air quality but this indicated that they were not
opposed to the measure if delivered in conjunction with other actions.

●

Require businesses that are allocated parking permits to develop Travel Plans
(20.83%) – many respondents felt that the action did not go far enough and felt that the
allocation of permits was a useful tool to require businesses to provide more facilities
for employees who cycled or used public transport. Many respondents also expressed
a feeling that the Travel Plan would just be a document that carried no weight unless
there were penalties for non-compliance with the objectives.

●

Impose conditions on any new residential development within the AQMA [Air Quality
Management Area] to mitigate the impact of poor air quality (18.75%) – similar to the
previous comments, respondents felt that the action should be more demanding.
Respondents were not satisfied that the action stipulated residential development
rather than all development and also that it only required the mitigation of impacts
rather than taking steps to improve air quality.

4. Some of the key issues that were raised and recurred frequently throughout various
responses are outlined below:
●

The allocation of road space should be reviewed to make it easier, safer and quicker
for pedestrians, cyclists and buses while discouraging car use. However, this needs to
be balanced against the risks of increasing congestion on the roads and the negative

F6

impacts that this would have on air quality. Ensuring a smooth traffic flow, particularly
for buses, was a common theme.
●

The one-way system in Kingston town centre was mentioned by several different
respondents with suggestions ranging from introducing a 20mph speed limit,
redesigning the system, rephasing the traffic lights through to scrapping it altogether.
Along with the A3, the one-way system was one of the locations mentioned most as
being a cause of poor air quality.

●

A modal shift away from cars, particularly those with higher emissions, was strongly
supported. However, many respondents felt that actions to improve the infrastructure,
frequency and accessibility of sustainable transport modes will be the best way of
achieving this so that behavioural change could be encouraged. This included lobbying
for better rail connections, express bus routes and a tramlink.

●

However, as well as incentives, enforcement of rules and policies was another
recurring theme. Across a range of different actions, comments were made that
showed a preference for the Council taking a tougher stance against those who failed
to comply with rules or meet the required standards. This included fines for engine
idling, ticketing for drivers who park incorrectly while allowing children to alight for
school, fines for cars in loading bays, penalties for schools / businesses not delivering
the measures in their Travel Plan and penalties for developers not implementing the
required standards.

●

Comments on cycling featured in many responses although this is, at least in part, due
to the number of actions within the Action Plan that seek to improve cycle parking.
However, cycle safety and fears of cycling on the borough roads was a key concern.
This led to a number of respondents seeking a network of joined-up cycle lanes that
are segregated from motor vehicles. In addition, respondents said that additional cycle
parking would be welcomed but must be combined with security through e.g. CCTV
and lighting as well as facilities within the destinations such as lockers and showers.

●

In general, respondents were supportive of the proposed actions. However, many felt
that the actions within the Plan were insufficient to adequately address the problems
caused by air pollution. Therefore, several respondents suggested additional actions
that could be included and were keen for the Council to take the lead and be more
innovative in its proposals.

5. The last section of the consultation asked respondents whether there were any additional
actions that they would like to see included in the Action Plan. Common suggestions that
were put forward either within this section (or in response to an earlier question) are shown
below:
●

work with Transport for London and rail/bus operators to improve connections
particularly more frequent connections to/from Kingston and the introduction of a
tramlink

●

work with Transport for London and other bus operators to ensure that buses were low
emission vehicles such as hybrid buses

●

review parking charges and policies so that they incentivise the uptake of low emission
vehicles while increasing charges for the more polluting vehicles

●

promote Car Clubs by requiring allocation of bays in new developments

●

introduce a car-free day in the town centre on one day every month

●

tackle engine idling by, for example, installing advisory signs at relevant locations

●

ensure that cycle routes are segregated from cars and that they start / terminate at
locations rather than adjacent to a road

F7

●

introduce a cycle hire scheme with cycle docking stations at significant locations

●

work with Highways engineers to review the design of the one-way system and/or
introduce a lower speed limit and rephase the traffic signals

●

plant more trees and plant species that will absorb pollution thus creating ‘green lungs’

●

ensure that utility companies coordinate their roadworks to avoid repeatedly digging up
the same stretch of highway which causes more frequent congestion

●

ensure that Council departments work together on policies to address air quality, for
example, by developing procurement policies that include criteria on emissions

●

work with Public Health on projects that deliver wider health benefits e.g. tackling
obesity through increased exercise

●

work with neighbouring boroughs to bid for funds and deliver coordinated schemes
over a wider area

●

monitor air quality and provide information to residents to raise awareness and alert
them on days when pollution levels are raised

6. These suggestions for additional actions are shown below in the same table format as used
in the draft Air Quality Action Plan so that it can be seen how they could be incorporated
into the Action Plan should members wish to do so:

Action

13

Responsibility

Highway and
Transport

Work with TfL and
other bus operators to
switch to low emission
vehicles including
hybrids

Highway and
Transport

15

Review parking
charges and policies
so as to encourage
the uptake of low
emission vehicles and
increase the charges
for vehicles with
higher emissions.

16

Promote Car Clubs

14

Cost

AQ
Impact

How will action be
measured

Benefits

Attendance at meetings
to continue, delivery of
improvements will
depend on those
identified

LowMedium

Medium

Average bus / rail journey
times on routes where
improvements made;
Satisfaction rates with public
transport;

Shorter journey times,
increased use of sustainable
transport can alleviate
congestion on roads

Attendance at meetings
to continue, changes to
bus fleets will be
incremental

Medium

Medium High

Number of routes within
borough on which low
emission buses operate; % of
fleet operating in borough
that are low emission
vehicles

Reduction in emissions from
bus journeys

Parking Services

A review of charges and
policies will be carried out
within 2 years of the
adoption of the Action
Plan with consultation
proposed changes
subsequently being
carried out

Low

Low

Review of parking charges
and policies completed;
Implementation of changes to
parking charges and policies

Switch to low emission
vehicles will help to reduce
tailpipe emissions in the
borough and fiscal incentives
can help to stimulate their
uptake

Development
Control

Use development control
system to oblige
developers to include
spaces for Car Clubs in
major new developments

Low

Low

Number of developments
where planning condition
attached requiring Car Club
spaces to be provided;
Number of members of Car
Clubs within the borough

Car Clubs can help to reduce
the need for ownership of
motor vehicles thus reducing
the number of unnecessary
journeys

Transport for
London

Transport for
London

Enforcement
Services
(Licensing and
Environmental
Compliance)

F8

Work with TfL and
other bus/rail
operators to identify
opportunities and
secure improvements
to bus/rail services

Timescale

Introduce a monthly
car-free day

Highway and
Transport

Review options for carfree days including
locations and frequency
within 12 months of
adoption of Action Plan

Medium

Low

Number of car-free days held
per year

The car-free day can
potentially have a significant
impact on air quality but only
for a very brief period so is
unlikely to have significant
benefits for public health.
However, it can raise
awareness of the issue

18

Deter engine idling
while waiting

Enforcement
Services
(Licensing and
Environmental
Compliance)

Actions to deter idling to
be determined within 12
months of adoption of
Action Plan but can
include signage,
education and/or
enforcement

Low

Low

Number of no idling signs
erected, number of
campaigns to deter idling
carried out, number of fixed
penalty notices issued for
failing to switch off engine
when instructed

The benefits are likely to be
low and very localised.
However, raising awareness
of the issue can result in
wider behavioural change

19

Review the cycle
network to address
obstacles to continued
cycle movement and
increase the number
of cycle routes that
are segregated from
motor vehicles

Highway and
Transport

Work with and meet local Medium
cycle group
representatives to identify
obstacles to cycle
movement within 12
months of Action Plan
being adopted.
Improvements to be
subsequently
implemented according to
work plans.

Medium

Number of cycle routes
where identified
improvements have been
carried out, number of
segregated cycle lanes
implemented in the borough,
% change in journeys being
made by bicycle along
improved routes

Increases uptake of
sustainable transport options,
improves physical well-being
and helps to reduce
congestion on roads

20

Introduce a cycle-hire
scheme

Highway and
Transport

Initially explore potential
High
for existing cycle-hire
scheme in central London
to be extended to
Kingston. Subject to
outcome of discussions
with GLA, review
potential for replicating

Medium

Introduction of cycle-hire
scheme, number of
registered users, number of
journeys made by hired
cycles

Increases uptake of
sustainable transport options,
improves physical well-being
and helps to reduce
congestion on roads

F9

17

scheme in conjunction
with neighbouring
boroughs
Review the design of
Highway and
the one-way system
Transport
around Kingston Town
Centre and/or
introduce a lower
speed limit and retime
the traffic signals

Review of road system in
Kingston Town Centre to
be carried out within 2
years of Action Plan
being adopted to identify
options for improving
environment for all road
users including
pedestrians

22

Increase planting of
trees and plant
species by roadsides
to create green
barriers

Enforcement
Services
(Licensing and
Environmental
Compliance)
Green Spaces

High

Medium

Journey times through
Kingston Town Centre,
changes in transport modes
used within the Town Centre,

Redesigning the one-way
system may alleviate
congestion which can reduce
emissions from motor
vehicles. However, the
movement of all road users
and pedestrians will need to
be addressed in any redesign
so as to encourage a modal
shift away from motor
vehicles.

A suitable location for a
Medium
trial of a green barrier can
be identified in the shortterm. Its installation will
depend on securing
funds

Low

Number of street trees
planted, number of green
barriers installed, recorded
changes in air quality
concentrations as a result of
barrier

Studies have shown that
trees and green infrastructure
can help to trap air pollution,
especially particulate matter.
However, the benefits are
likely to be fairly localised

Meetings with all utility
companies to be
convened within 12
months of the adoption of
the Action Plan and to be
held quarterly thereafter.
Discuss with
neighbouring boroughs

Low

Meetings set up and
agreement reached with
utility companies, number of
locations where coordinated
works have been carried out

Benefits will be in reducing
the time and disruption
caused from digging up roads
to carry out planned
infrastructure repairs and
upgrades. This can reduce
congestion so reducing
emissions and improving

Highway and
Transport

23

Work with utility
companies to ensure
streetworks are
coordinated

Development
Control

Low

F10

21

on adopting a joint
approach to working with
utility companies
particularly on routes that
cross borough
boundaries
24

Ensure that relevant
Council policies
feature consideration
of air quality and that
appropriate measures
are included

Enforcement
Services
Waste
Management
Highway and
Transport

journey times

Contact with relevant
Low
departments (Waste,
Procurement, Highways,
Parking, etc) will be made
in the short term. Policies
will be reviewed when
they come up for
renewal.

Low

Inclusion of policies that can
benefit air quality in Council
policies

Although the review of
Council policies in itself will
not have a direct benefit on
air quality, the
implementation of the policies
can have a significant impact

Discussions with Public
Health are ongoing.
Suitable campaigns for
joint working will be
identified on ad hoc basis

Low

Low

Number of campaigns on
which Environmental Health
and Public Health have
worked jointly

Encouraging people to make
journeys on foot or by bike
can deliver air quality benefits
and complements Public
Health objectives. The
opportunities also exist to
reach those most at risk from
exposure to air pollution

Active participation in
regional meetings will
continue and funding
opportunities will be
identified as they become

Low

Low

Number of projects delivered
jointly with neighbouring
boroughs

Although the joint working
and bidding for funds in
themselves will not have a
direct benefit on air quality,
the implementation of the

F11

Parking
Commissioning
Development
Control
25

Work jointly with
Public Health on
relevant campaigns

Enforcement
Services
(Licensing and
Environmental
Compliance)
Public Health

26

Work with
neighbouring
boroughs to bid for
funds and deliver
coordinated schemes

Enforcement
Services
(Licensing and
Environmental

27

over a wider area

Compliance)

available

Monitor air quality and
provide information to
residents to raise
awareness and alert
them on days when
air pollution is higher

Enforcement
Services
(Licensing and
Environmental
Compliance)

Air quality monitoring is
being carried out and the
data is being made
publicly available. We will
seek funds to ensure a
continued monitoring
network in the short term.
Ways to communicate
with residents to raise
awareness will be
reviewed within the first
year of the Action Plan
being adopted

projects can have a
significant impact

Low

Low

Number of air quality
monitoring sites, number of
users in the borough who
have registered to receive
alerts via AirText

The monitoring of air quality
in itself does not improve air
quality. However, having
meaningful data helps to
monitor effectiveness of
measures, is used to raise
awareness about air quality
and helps to reduce exposure
by alerting vulnerable
members of the public

F12

F13

F14

F15

F16

F17

F18

F19

F20

F21

F22

F23

F24

F25

F26

F27

F28

F29

F30

Annex 3

DRAFT

Air Quality Action Plan
For the
Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames
In fulfillment of Part IV of the
Environment Act 1995
Local Air Quality Management
APRIL 2016

F31

DRAFT
SUMMARY
This document revises the Council’s current Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) that was
published in 2005 and outlines the actions we will take to prevent deterioration of,
and ultimately improve, air quality in the Borough between January 2016 and
December 2021.
Our medium term plan, ‘Destination Kingston’ sets out our aim of making Kingston fit
for modern living - an attractive place to live and work. This plan supports a number
of the Destination Kingston 2015-2019 themes and objectives, with clean air and a
healthy environment being a fundamental requirement for our communities to live,
work and grow.
The AQAP also supports a key element of the Our Kingston Programme, established
in July 2015 and setting out how the Council will deliver the vision set out in
Destination Kingston. Actions to improve Air Quality sit well within Community
Outcome 7 established within the programme, which seeks a ‘sustainable borough
with a diverse transport network and quality environment for all to enjoy’.
Air quality assessments undertaken by the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames
identified that the Government's air quality objective for annual mean nitrogen
dioxide and daily mean particulates (PM10) were not being met within the Borough
(as with most of London) by the target dates. As a consequence, the Council
designated an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) across the whole of the
Borough and produced an Air Quality Action Plan in recognition of the legal
requirement on the Council to work towards air quality objectives; as required under
Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 and the relevant air quality regulations.
Most of the air pollution in the AQMA is caused by road traffic, although boilers (both
domestic and industrial) and other more minor sources also contribute. The Action
Plan reflects the primary source of pollutants by including measures to reduce the
pollution emitted from vehicles on the roads, promoting alternative more sustainable
sources of transport. As the Borough enters a phase where residential development
is likely to be significant, the Plan ensures developers and employers consider these
aspects.
The AQAP outlines how we plan to effectively use local levers to tackle air quality
issues within our control. However, we recognise that there are a large number of air
quality policy areas that are outside of our influence and so we will continue to work
with and lobby regional and central government on policies and issues beyond our
influence.
Our priorities are to do what we can to reduce emissions from road traffic sources,
but ultimately we aim to prevent, wherever possible, a deterioration in the levels of
pollution experienced in the Borough, and particularly our town centres as we go
through a period of significant development, population expansion and infrastructure
improvements.

Page 2

F32

DRAFT
RESPONSIBILITIES AND COMMITMENT
You will see in this report that we have engaged with stakeholders and communities
that can make a difference to air quality in the borough. We would like to thank all
those who have worked with us in formulating this Plan.
This AQAP was prepared by the Environmental Health Department with support from
the Planning Authority, the Highways Authority, Public Health and our Sustainable
Transport and Climate Control team.
This AQAP has been approved by the Adults and Children’s Committee following a
period of consultation with statutory and non-statutory bodies, agencies and
interested parties.
This AQAP will be subject to regular review and appraisal of progress, reporting to
the Adults and Children’s Committee (or other relevant committee / body).
Progress each year will be reported in Annual Progress Reports produced as part of
our statutory Air Quality Management duties.
If you have any comments on this AQAP please contact:
David Kingstone
Licensing & Environmental Compliance Team Leader at:
david.kingstone@kingston.gov.uk
Licensing & Environmental Compliance,
Kingston & Sutton Shared Environment Service,
Guildhall 2
High Street
Kingston upon Thames
KT11 EU
Tel: 020 8547 5537

Page 3

F33

DRAFT
CONTENTS

Summary

2

1.0

Introduction

5

2.0

Current Air Quality in the Borough

5

3.0

Air Quality Management Area

7

4.0

Air Quality Priorities

8

5.0

Development and Implementation of the Air Quality Action Plan

8

Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement
Steering Group
6.0

8
9

Air Quality Action Plan

9

Appendix - Air quality objectives and health impacts

16

Page 4

F34

DRAFT
1.0 Introduction
1.1 This Air Quality Action Plan outlines the actions that the Royal Borough of
Kingston upon Thames will undertake between April 2016 and December 2021
in order to reduce concentrations of and exposure to pollution; thereby
positively impacting on the health and quality of life of residents and visitors to
the borough.
1.2 The Action Plan has been developed in recognition of the legal requirement on
the local authority to work towards air quality objectives under Part IV of the
Environment Act 1995 and relevant regulations made under that legislation.
1.3 The Council has assessed and screened: benzene, 1,3 butadiene, carbon
monoxide, lead and sulphur dioxide and has found that these pollutants were
not likely to exceed the air quality objectives.
1.4 However, for Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter (PM10) the Council
previously undertook a Detailed Assessment which showed that the annual
mean objective of 40 µg m-3 for NO2 and daily mean objective of 50 µg m-3 (not
to be exceeded more than 35 days in one year) for PM10 were exceeded in
parts of the Borough. Subsequent Updating and Screening Assessments have
highlighted that this designation should be maintained.
2.0 Current air quality in the Borough
2.1 The UK Air Quality Strategy (AQS), released in July 2007, provides the
overarching strategic framework for air quality management in the UK and
contains national air quality standards and objectives established by the
Government to protect human health. The AQS objectives [National Objectives]
take into account EU Directives that set limit values which member states are
legally required to achieve by their target dates.
2.2 The following figures indicate the most recent predictions of the NO2 and PM10
objectives across the Borough based on the LAEI 2010 (produced for the
Greater London Authority).
2.3 Figure 1 shows that concentrations of NO2 in the Borough are predicted to
exceed the air quality standard for this objective in 2015. Those areas with
highest predicted concentrations are towards the north of the Borough in the
Kingston Town neighbourhood and along the A3, which runs south west to
north east through the Borough and crosses the other three neighbourhoods of
Malden’s and Coombe, South of the Borough and Surbiton.
2.4 Not surprisingly, it is mainly those areas closest to busy and congested roads
that are predicted to exceed the objective, as is typical for similar Boroughs
outside of central London. Those roads predicted to exceed the objectives
include main trunk and other main roads across the Borough, including the A3,
the A240 and A2043. Other roads that exceed the objective include the A243
and A308.

Page 5

F35

DRAFT
2.5 Similarly, the prediction of days exceeding the daily mean air quality standard
for PM10 are also related closely to roads across the Borough. Figure X shows
the number of days that are predicted exceed the 50µg m -3 standard. Those
areas coloured yellow exceed the objective of more than 35 days where levels
are above the air quality standard. The area exceeding the objective is closely
located on the A3 and in Kingston Town only.
Figure 1: Predicted 2015 annual mean NO2 concentrations in Royal Borough of
Kingston upon Thames (from the LAEI 2010)

55
53
51
49
47
45
43
41
39
37
35
33
31
29
27
25
23
21
19

Page 6

F36

DRAFT
Figure 2: Predicted 2015 daily mean PM10 concentrations in Royal Borough of
Kingston upon Thames (from the LAEI 2010)

55
50
45
40
35
30
25
20
15
10
5
3
1
0

3.0 Air Quality Management Area
3.1 An Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) has been declared in for the whole of
the borough area for the following pollutant/s:
3.1.1 Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) because we are failing to meet the National
Objective for this pollutant at some of our monitoring stations, and
modelling indicates it is being breached at a number of other locations,
and
3.1.2 Particulate Matter (PM10) because in some areas, close to busy roads,
the daily mean objective limits are predicted to be exceeded.

Page 7

F37

DRAFT

4.0 Air Quality Priorities
4.1 This Action Plan has been drafted at a time of significant population increase
across London as a whole that requires a substantial increase in the provision
of housing and employment opportunities. The growing population means that
by 2021 the Borough will need an additional 4,500 new homes and by 2026
4,000 additional jobs. Growth will not stop there, and linked to future major
infrastructure investments such as Crossrail 2 there will be further need to
identify opportunities to increase housing and employment provision. In
response to this challenge the Council’s Kingston Futures strategy seeks to
harness the new development to deliver improvements in the attractiveness of
the Borough. The focus of the growth agenda will be on the Borough’s town
centres, and on Kingston town centre in particular where monitoring and
modelling shows that pollution levels are highest.
4.2 A key element of Kingston Futures role is to maintain the prosperity of the
borough and the wellbeing of its residents during this time of great expansion. A
vital strand of that work is the ‘quality of place’ and we must use every effort to
maintain and, where possible, improve that.
4.3 However, we recognise that the predominant source of pollutants in the
Borough is road transport and whilst a number of steps and initiatives are being
proposed in this plan that are targeted at reducing dependence on, and the
impact of, road transport there are limitations to the effect these can ultimately
have given the levels of expansion proposed, the nature of our population and
our geographical locations as a thoroughfare into Central London.
4.4 The plan sets out a number of actions and objectives utilising aspects of
development control, transport planning and public health that will ensure not
only promotion and choice of less polluting transport options but also exert
control over the future development.
5.0 Development and Implementation of the Air Quality Action Plan
Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement
5.1 In updating the action plan we have worked with other local authorities,
agencies, businesses and the local community to identify measures that can
prevent deterioration or improve local air quality.
5.2 Following the requirements of Schedule 11 of the Environment Act 1995, we
have consulted with the various local and national statutory bodies required of
us, and have further extended consultation to include residents and local
businesses.
5.3 Responses to the consultation were reported to the Adult and Children’s
Committee in March 2016, where changes to the Plan were agreed.

Page 8

F38

DRAFT
Steering Group
5.4 In developing this Plan, the Council established an Air Quality Working Group
comprising officers from a number of departments with interests in or ability to
influence air quality in the Borough. Membership included:






Environmental Health
Traffic Management & Design
Strategic Policy (Development, Planning and Regeneration)
Assistant Director Public Health
Sustainable Travel & Climate Change

5.5 The working group will continue to meet in order to promote implementation of
the plan and assess progress towards the objectives.
6.0 Air Quality Action Plan
6.1 The table overleaf summarises our Air Quality Action Plan.
6.2 It contains a number of initiatives both new and those that build on past actions,
but does not include details of steps already being taken – as part of business
as usual of the Council – such as:









Integration of Air Quality Action Planning within the local development
framework
Ensure relevant developments undertake air quality impact assessments
Undertake air quality monitoring in order to inform the status of air quality in
the borough
Regulation of industrial emissions through the Environmental Permitting
process
Enforcement of Clean Air Acts and Smoke Control Orders
Provide an extensive low emission vehicle charging infrastructure
throughout the borough
Support basic cycle training in schools
Promote and support the use of car clubs by staff

Page 9

DRAFT
ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAMES AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN
Action
1

3

The Council will review
bus routes for
opportunities to
implement bus priority
measures, with priority
given to those routes
that suffer from
excessive delays.

Highway and
Transport
Service

The Council will work
with partners including
TfL to lobby for the
introduction of low
emission vehicles and
fuel in hot spots of
poorest air quality,
including Cromwell
Road.

Enforcement
Services
(Licensing and
Environmental
Compliance)

Provide adequate cycle
parking, including
secure cycle parking, in

Highway and
Transport
Service

Timescale

Cost

AQ
Impact

How will action be
measured

Benefits

Short to
Long-term

Low

Medium

Average bus journey
times and car journey
times on routes where
changes made

Shorter bus journeys , less
idling leading to reduced
localised pollution

Short to
Mediumterm

Low

High

Number of alternative
fuel points installed in
the borough

Reduction in harmful
emissions from vehicles
performing a high number of
journeys.

Life of the
Plan

Low

Low

Number of additional
parking facilities
installed; percentage of

Helps promote sustainable
development and can help
to reduce congestion.

Transport for
London

Asset
Management
Transport for
London

Page 10

F39

2

Responsibility

DRAFT
the borough, with priority
given to District Centres.

4

Improve cycle parking
provision throughout the
Borough:
(i) By working with train
operators to provide fully
secure and sheltered
cycle parking at rail
stations.

installed cycle parking
that is secure
Highway and
Transport
Service

Ongoing
and
continuing
throughout
the life of
the plan

Low

Low

Number of additional
parking facilities
installed; percentage of
installed cycle parking
that is secure;

Helps promote sustainable
development, increase
uptake of sustainable
transport options and
improve physical wellbeing

(ii) Provide cycle parking
at all Council operated
buildings

F40

(iii) Encourage and
support other public
organisations to provide
cycle parking, including
schools, Kingston
University, Kingston
College and Kingston
Hospital.
(iv) Encourage and
support workplace,
residential, leisure,
retail, and other sites to
provide cycle parking

Page 11

DRAFT
facilities.
(v) Require all new
developments in the
Borough to provide
cycle parking in
accordance with
minimum standards.
(vi) Ensuring that
planning policies are
supportive of proposals
to install cycle parking.
Implement other
measures to support
and encourage cycling;
including led commuter
rides, Dr Bike sessions,
and bicycle
maintenance courses.

Highway and
Transport
Service

Ongoing
and
continuing
throughout
the life of
the plan

Low

Low

Number of led
commuter rides held,
number of Dr Bike
sessions held, number
of bicycle maintenance
courses held, number of
attendees at either
commuter ride, Dr Bike
session or bicycle
maintenance course

increase uptake of
sustainable transport options
and improve physical
wellbeing to reduce
congestion

6

The Council will
prioritise improvements
to the strategic walking
network and will give
high priority to improving
pedestrian connectivity
across barriers such as

Highway and
Transport
Service

Short to
Medium
term

Medium

Low

Number of locations
where pedestrian
improvements delivered

Helps promote sustainable
development, improve
physical wellbeing and can
help to reduce congestion.

Page 12

F41

5

DRAFT
major junctions, busy
roads, rivers, and rail
lines.

7

Highway and
Transport
Service

Promote the benefits of
low emission vehicles to
residents and
businesses; and
increase the awareness
of available
infrastructure, in
particular existing EV
charging infrastructure.

Enforcement
Services
(Licensing and
Environmental
Compliance)

Achieving for
Children

Ongoing
and
continuing
throughout
the life of
the plan

Low

Medium

% of schools in borough
with active Travel Plans
in place; number of
schools attaining Gold,
Silver or Bronze status

Helps promote use of
sustainable transport
options, improve physical
wellbeing, influence
behaviours and can help to
reduce congestion

Short and
Medium –
term

Low

Low

Changes to number of
users of charging
network registered in
the borough

Helps promote use of
sustainable transport options
and reduce emissions from
journeys into district centres.

F42

8

Work with schools to
better implement their
travel plans to promote
road safety and
sustainable travel,
prioritising schools for
support that have the
most significant
transport problems and
the greatest potential for
mode shift.

Communications

Page 13

DRAFT
9

The Council will
investigate options to
further reduce the
impact of road works on
traffic flow, including use
of variable message
signs, advance notice,
CCTV at road works to
monitor the layout of
works, traffic queues
and signal timings.

10 Improve freight access,

11 Require businesses that
are allocated parking
permits to also develop
travel plans to
encourage employees to
use sustainable travel
modes.

Medium

Medium

Development
Control

Short term
and
continuing
throughout
the life of
the plan

Number of sites where
signs, messages and/or
other interventions have
been used to reduce
congestion

Parking
Services

Medium to
Long-term

Medium

High

Number of locations
Congestion reduction and
where changes have
promotion of sustainable
been introduced to time delivery mechanisms.
allocations and/or spaces
for freight deliveries;
Number of Delivery and
Servicing Plans
submitted by commercial
businesses in the
borough

Ongoing
and
continuing
throughout
the life of
the plan

Low

Low

Number of Travel Plans
submitted by
commercial businesses
in the borough; changes
in modal share within
businesses that have
Travel Plans

Highway and
Transport
Service

Parking
Services,
Highway and
Transport
Service

Page 14

Limit short term increases in
emissions from congestion
resulting from road works

Helps promote use of
sustainable transport options
and reduce emissions from
journeys.

F43

loading, and servicing
arrangements at key
locations in the borough,
including development
of freight management
and delivery servicing
plans.

Highway and
Transport
Service

DRAFT
12 Conditions will be
imposed on any major
new development within
the AQMA to mitigate
the impact of poor air
quality.

Enforcement
Services
(Licensing and
Environmental
Compliance)

Ongoing

Low

Development
Control

High

Number of Air Quality
Assessments and/or Air
Quality Neutral
assessments submitted
through the
development control
process

Wide ranging benefits
including reducing emissions
from construction traffic,
promoting low emission heat
and power plant, reducing
congestion, promoting
sustainable transport options
etc

F44

Page 15

F45

DRAFT
APPENDIX A
Air Quality Objectives
Air Quality Management Area pollutants of concern:
Objective
Concentration

Measured as

Date (due) to
have been
achieved by

200 g m-3 not to be
exceeded more than
18 times a year

1 hour mean

31 Dec 2005

40 g m-3

Annual Mean

31 Dec 2005

50 g m-3 not to be
exceeded more than
35 times a year

24 hour mean

31 Dec 2004

40 g m-3

Annual Mean

31 Dec 2004

Pollutant

Nitrogen Dioxide
(NO2)

Particles
(PM10)

(Air Quality Regulations 2000 as amended)

Health impacts
Nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and nitric oxide (NO) are both oxides of nitrogen, and are
collectively referred to as nitrogen oxides (NOx). All combustion processes produce
NOx emissions, largely in the form of nitric oxide, which is then converted to nitrogen
dioxide, mainly as a result of reaction with ozone in the atmosphere. It is nitrogen
dioxide that is associated with adverse effects upon human health. NO2 can irritate
the lungs and lower resistance to respiratory infections such as influenza. Continued
or frequent exposure to concentrations, which are, typically much higher than those
normally found in the ambient air, may cause increased incidence of acute
respiratory illness in children.
Particles / Particulates are measured in a number of size fractions according to
their mean aerodynamic diameter. Most monitoring is currently focused on PM 10, but
the finer fractions such as PM2.5 and PM1 are great importance in terms of health
effects. In view of this importance, PM2.5 is now reported as an indicator for public
health. Fine particles can be carried deep into the lungs where they can cause
inflammation and a worsening of the condition of people with heart and lung
diseases. In addition, they may carry surface-absorbed carcinogenic compounds into
the lungs.

Page 16

F46

Annex 4
Cleaner Air Borough Criteria
Theme

Criteria

1. Political
leadership

1.a

Pledged to become a Cleaner Air for London Borough (at
cabinet level) by taking significant action to improve local air
quality and signing up to specific delivery targets.

1.b

Provided an up-to-date Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP), fully
incorporated into LIP funding and core strategies.

2.a

Taken decisive action to address air pollution, especially
where human exposure and vulnerability (e.g. schools,
older people, hospitals etc) is highest.

2.b

Developed plans for business engagement (including
optimising deliveries and supply chain), retrofitting public
buildings using the RE:FIT framework, integrating no engine
idling awareness raising into the work of civil enforcement
officers, (etc etc)

2.c

Integrated transport and air quality, including by improving
traffic flows on borough roads to reduce stop/start
conditions

2.d

Made additional resources available to improve local air
quality, including by pooling its collective resources (s106
funding, LIPs, parking revenue, etc).

3.a

Invested sufficient resources to complement and drive
action from others

3.b

Maintained an appropriate monitoring network so that air
quality impacts within the borough can be properly
understood

3.c

Reduced emissions from council operations, including from
buildings, vehicles and all activities.

3.d

Adopted a procurement code which reduces emissions from
its own and its suppliers activities, including from buildings
and vehicles operated by and on their behalf (e.g. rubbish
trucks).

4.a

Fully implemented the Mayor's policies relating to air quality
neutral, combined heat and power and biomass.

4.b

Collected s106 from new developments to ensure air quality
neutral development, where possible

4.c

Provided additional enforcement of construction and
demolition guidance, with regular checks on medium and
high risk building sites.

2. Taking
action

3. Leading by
example

4. Using the
planning
system

F47
5. Integrating
air quality
into the
public health
system

5

Included air quality in the borough’s Health and Wellbeing
Strategy and/or the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

6. Informing
the public

6.a

Raised awareness about air quality locally

